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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Youzan Technology Limited (the “Company, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group, “Youzan” or “We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make this report or any statement
herein misleading.

BERAMESRZARAE (B3 GEMBVE &

GEMHE L DA/ NEARRME—ELHHNHS  EEATALEEMERIMAER LTHNABFERER
BRE -AERENALTETERENZSARNNETAR  ERCBFEAFNERRSELRERE

HRGEMLEH AR BHEAFNEAE AGEMEENASF IR TRV EIREEZEFAZRBRANT IR KE A
% AR RERECGEMEENESFEASRBENTIS

BEXGREEBERAGREBHEXGHIIBERAGHEREZABHTEE B AZEE TR I T %
KIE(TEBT - W B R T T SR A IR & £ BB (E 17587 A &5 T EE £ BRI Br B 2% F I &0 51 2 Z AT 1 IR K AR HE
EHEE-

FIRE TS B TGEMEE % L A (T GEM_LTER) MT# > SEieREMBEERKARAE ((XRE)
EERNE L G KERE  TEE 15 Zl) BIER , K AGBIESE ((EF)) Bl LEHIEH LA RAERH
FREZEET BEFAFH S EEHRE ER ARG  FREFEERTEEZ S HTEEET
# o REREFEFR S Al B R EIF R EU LU RS R &8T5 n ELRE -

002 YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEIER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning

Mr. CuiYusong
Mr. Yu Tao

Ms. Ying Hangyan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao
Mr. Li Shaojie

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Xia
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yu Tao
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. Fong Chi Wah (Chairman)
Mr. Deng Tao
Mr. Li Shaojie

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhu Ning
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhu Ning
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Deng Tao (Chairman)

BERRRARAT —TNEFER

HITES
RESEE
BT
A
R+

BIFATES
HEENL
e =

=L

KR RIME
BELT
ERRRITE

REAR
IEESEE
ERRRITE

BEZ%ZEY
SEEL (25)
W E

= DRAE

ol E =
REBIEE
HREEEL
WHLE (R

Re%ET
REIOE
AL
WELE (5

003



CORPORATE INFORMATION
N=II= )

INSIDE INFORMATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Tao (Chairman)
Dr. Fong Chi Wah
Mr. Li Shaojie

RISK COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Tao (Chairman)
Mr. Cui Yusong
Mr. Deng Tao

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton Pembroke HM 11 Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1511, 15/F, Shui On Centre
No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA

Building 6, No. 698 Xixi Road, Xihu District
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, China

STOCK CODE
8083

004

ARHEZET
BIBESCE ()
SEaL N
RS
RRZESE
RIBESE ()
B RICE
e =
% KB
COS i
HE DT

SRR F 75 B REIZ 2R
ERHRBRHEEEI7IE
Knth—EE2718

FEEFRIRT
&8 LS ESRITERAR

RinBEE R
EBTREBEBEZELERAT
EHREEKEH1835E
BFFOT7IE1712-17165E 8

MRS ER

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton Pembroke HM 11 Bermuda

MMEERERBITEES R ME

B8 (7586 658
HZFOBIE1611 =

PEEEEEMR
FRELHL AN
75 41 & 7 R ER 6985618

AR X5

8083

YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RS IEE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

MEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 Changes
ZEINE CTT=F b=l
RMB’'000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARBTT %
Revenue Wi 1,442,291 1,448,376 (0.4)
Gross profit E7 978,205 1,002,145 (2.4)
Gross profit margin (%) FEHNE(%) 67.8 69.2 (1.4)
Loss before tax FRIRRIRS R (155,665) (52,625) 195.8
Loss for the year rEEBE (165,849) (50,475) 228.6
Earnings/(loss) attributable to owners AT HEE AELERA
of the Company (&518) (176,621) 7429 (2,4775)
Adjusted earnings before interest, RBERFE-RETER
tax, depreciation and amortisation iR BRA REE%
(unaudited, re-presented for prior AIHARET)
year) 121,397 31,295* 2879
Adjusted non-HKFRS earnings RABFEIFEBUBRS
for the year (unaudited) ERBRA) REEK) 75,230 42,289 779
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS SR REE
As at 31 December
R+ZB=+—H
2024 2023 Changes
“ECmE T =F =] ]
RMB’'000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARBTT %
Current assets TEHBEE 4,498,721 3,887031 15.7
Non-current assets ERHEBE 1,412,490 1,5607.983 (6.3)
Total assets EEBLE 5,911,211 5,395,014 9.6
Current liabilities REas 4,144,146 3,664,103 13.1
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 691,574 722,021 (4.2)
Total liabilities BEMEEE 4,835,720 4,386,124 10.3
Net current assets RBEFEE 354,575 222,928 59.1
Equity attributable to owners KABER N\EGER
of the Company 1,077,159 1,021,330 5.5
Non-controlling interests JEITEpG R = (1,668) (12,440) (86.6)
Total equity RETRAREE 1,075,491 1,008,890 6.6
* Certain items in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation

and the comparative figure of adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (unaudited) has

been re-presented accordingly.

* PHRRP2ETEHABEMPBUREAFE 22 A KRERFE MIE - TERBHNET REER ZLEBEF
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

Dear Shareholders:

In 2024, Youzan required ourselves to undergo significant
changes from two perspectives: “customer value creation”
and “our own operation and management,” and set two
development goals:

1. To fully embrace Al and develop an “intelligent consumer
operation system” to help merchants increase profit
growth.

2. To achieve sustained and stable profit growth.

Today, we are reporting to you the business results achieved by
Youzan in 2024.

Customer Value Creation:

In 2024, the gross merchandise volume generated by the
merchants through Youzan's solutions reached approximately
RMB102.8 billion. The average sales of a single merchant were
approximately RMB1,840,000 in 2024, representing an increase
of approximately 14% yearon-year.

Last year, Youzan's “Intelligent Consumer Operation System”
helped merchants serving over sixty million members, over
one hundred million enterprise WeChat fans, and helped over
two million salespersons and shopping guides complete online
transactions. The Youzan Intelligent Agents and Intelligent
Assistant, which is based on “Jarvis” (JNFEAE), help
merchants execute one hundred thousand tasks every day.

In this process, we have not only helped merchants increase
their transaction volume but also enabled them to perform
many tasks through intelligence that originally required human
efforts or were difficult for humans to complete well, thereby
saving costs.

Meanwhile, we have also received returns in terms of
continuous merchant renewal. This year, the revenue renewal
rate of our target customer group increased to 68%, among
which the revenue renewal rate of the new retail target
customer group increased to 86%.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERE=

Youzan's operation and management:

In 2024, Youzan achieved approximately RMB1.44 billion in
revenue, with the revenue in the second half of the year
increasing by more than 4% vyear-on-year. Thanks to the
application of intelligent tools and the continuous optimization
of operation processes, the percapita revenue of the whole
company was nearly one million yuan, and the adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) was approximately RMB121 million, representing a
yearon-year increase of approximately 288%.

In 2024, the company officially entered a state of “sustained
and stable profitability’ and will start “active growth"” in 2025.

At present, our services have covered the entire process of
merchants’ operation, from the public domain to the private
domain, and then to the online — offline sales conversion. Youzan
is no longer just a “mini — program mall” service provider.
Nearly 70% of our active merchants are chain store merchants.
We are the most trusted choice for many retailers and service
merchants in the fields of cake baking, cultural tourism retail,
tea and wine, space retail, beauty and body care, medical and
health, tonic and health care, cycling and outdoor activities, mid-
to-high-end catering, shoes and clothing, beauty and makeup,
mother and baby, cross-border e-commerce, etc. in terms of
the digitization and intelligence of “omni-channel sales” and
“customer operation”
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

Digitization:

Currently and in the future, for a chain store merchant to
operate well, in addition to managing offline stores, they also
need to operate multiple online platform stores simultaneously,
such as Meituan Dianping, Xiaohongshu, WeChat private
domain, WeChat Channels, Mini Stores, Douyin, Ele.me, JD
Delivery, etc., and carry out account content marketing. There is
so much to do and so much to learn. Without a sufficiently good
“omni-channel” intelligent system, store merchants cannot get
out of the dilemma of “hard to understand and high costs”
Moreover, this system must be seamlessly integrated with the
basic digital systems within the store, such as cash registers,
inventory management, member stored-value card systems,
etc., otherwise the business cannot operate.

Over the years, we have been continuously iterating our “omni-
channel digitization” solutions, helping merchants to manage
all their stores, all channels, all members, all salespersons, all
marketing activities and content, etc. with just one system.

In the field of merchant services, in addition to developing
good products, there are also offline sales and services. In
addition to having our own direct sales and service team of
hundreds of people, Youzan also has a team of more than 1,000
employees from our agents. More importantly, over the past
few years, we have always adhered to the broadest ecological
cooperation. In 2024, we held nearly 200 offline meetings, with
an average of more than 200 merchants participating in each
meeting. We jointly invited customers, organized activities,
signed contracts, provided services and made money together
with our ecological partners in various vertical industries. These
extensive cooperations are also an important reason why we
have achieved a per capita revenue of one million yuan.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Intelligence:

From the perspective of intelligence, Youzan's positioning is to
make good use of intelligent technologies to help merchants
achieve more transactions, accomplish more tasks, and save
more costs.

We are grateful for the great spirit of open source! Since
December 2024, Youzan has started to integrate DeepSeek and
applied it to businesses such as the multi-channel association
of food delivery products and the generation of merchant
marketing plans. In February this year, we reproduced the local
model training according to the methods in the open source.
Currently, we are training Youzan's proprietary model through
fine-tuning and reinforcement learning. In addition to the basic
generation and reasoning capabilities, our proprietary model
“Jarvis Intelligence” (NNFE SE) will also possess the abilities
of automatic execution and supervision, summarization, etc.,
which can seamlessly match business scenarios. Only with
such a proprietary model foundation that closely fits business
scenarios can we support the creation of a real “intelligent
agent” for merchants.

These intelligent capabilities will be naturally embedded in the
process of merchants using the Youzan system. In addition,
there is an independent “Intelligent Agent Market” The
application scenarios mainly include the generation of marketing
content and platform account hosting, the automated operation
and hosting of omni-channel stores, the automatic operation
of food delivery services across the entire network, intelligent
shopping guidance, intelligent check-in for in-store customers,
comprehensive business operation analysis, marketing
planning and automatic execution, graphic generation, Al sales
and customer service, intelligent off-premise services and
promotions, and so on.

We hope that “Jarvis Intelligence” (JN1FXEHE) can help
merchants accomplish twice as much work as their existing
teams in 2025, and the intelligent tasks completed daily will
exceed one million. While helping merchants save costs, it will
also enable them to achieve more sales growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRMEE

2025 will be the year when intelligent products truly start to
yield results in merchants’ operations, and it is expected to
bring incremental revenue to us as well.

Business Objectives for 2025:

1. Achieve business growth while maintaining a steady
increase in profit margins.

2. Increase the “silicon content” in all business processes
and build an intelligent organization.

Youzan serves as the infrastructure for omni-channel sales in
stores and for customer operation. We are becoming one of the
most important infrastructures in Chinese retail. All we need
to do is to make good use of technological innovation, create
more value for merchants, obtain more value returns, and also
create more value for shareholders. We will continue to return
shareholders.

Heartfelt thanks to all of you!

Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, the PRC, 20 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Youzan provides merchants with powerful social network-based
SaaS systems with multi-channel operations and integrated new
retail solutions, applying PaaS cloud service to create business
customization options, while providing extended services such
as Youzan Worry-free Shopping, Youzan Distribution, Youzan
Promotion and Youzan Logistic Solutions. We help every
merchant who values products and services privatize customer
assets, expand internet customer base, improve business
efficiency, and help their business comprehensively succeed in
all aspects.

We offer a wide variety of cloud-based commerce services to
merchants through our subscription solutions, a suite of SaaS
products such as Youzan WeiMall, Youzan Store, Youzan Chain
and Youzan Beauty. In addition, leveraging our Youzan Cloud
platform and our PaaS capabilities, we also provide customised
services for merchants and offer applications by third-party
developers on our Youzan App Market.

We also provide merchants with merchant solutions, a series of
value-added services to address merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including payment services, merchandise
sourcing and distribution, consumer protection and online traffic
monetisation. Merchant solutions mainly include Youzan Worry-
free Shopping, Youzan Distribution, Youzan Promotion, and
Youzan Logistic Solutions.

Core business brands of Youzan include Youzan WeiMall and
Quntuantuan (¥ &), serving private domain and community
e-commerce. Youzan New Retail, Youzan Store and Youzan
Beauty serve merchants’ multi-channel digital operations. We
have Jarvis, our intelligent business brand and also AllValue
which is our international business brand.

Youzan WeiMall mainly serves start-ups, and emerging and
retail brand enterprises, centering on consumer experience,
helping them to develop social e-commerce, content
e-commerce, private domain e-commerce, cross-border
e-commerce and distribution businesses on social media
and content platforms. It also serves branded flagship mall
operations and customer management through multi-channels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RM

Quntuantuan (B¥E &) mainly serves group leaders and
influencers, providing them with integrated community
operation solutions in the development of private domain
e-commerce and distribution business in the community.

Youzan New Retail mainly serves retail and chain brand
enterprises by establishing a new retail consumer operation
regime based on the “consumercentered” customer operation
model, performing well in customer operation, empowering
shopping guide to improve marketing and sales, and integrating
the private domain retention of stores and automated marketing
to improve the overall performance both online and offline. In
2024, Youzan New Retail completed more than 700 updates
to its product features and iterated a number of core functions
focusing on “a better consumer experience, more efficient
connection with consumers across all channels, a deeper
understanding of consumers, more precise marketing for
existing customers, more repeat purchases from existing
customers, more business opportunities for sales guides, and
higher performance of sales guides’ helping merchants achieve
growth through customer operation.

Youzan Store focuses on processed retail and mid-frequency
retail with a special emphasis on chain merchants, providing
store operation tools and services for the in-store and in-home
scenarios required for store operations, social and content
platform marketing, group purchase, take-out, ordering, and
membership operations, as well as providing chain headquarters
with a unified management tool for these businesses. We have
developed and continued to iterate our solutions around key
customer bases, developing a clear market-leading position
and industry influence in certain vertical sectors such as cake
baking.

Taking lifestyle beauty, derma management, manicure and
eyelash art, health care, hair care and other chain beauty brands
and stores as the key customer base, Youzan Beauty provides
the needed solutions for digital store management, customer
in-store retention, refining membership operation, and customer
public-to-private domain for chain brand management, store
operation management, customer operations, and marketing
activities helping them to standardise the model of chain brand
stores, improve business control and enhance management
efficiency.
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Taking overseas Chinese merchants of pet supplies, flowers
and gifts, mothers and infants, cakes and bakery, daily- use
groceries, clothing and footwear, and fresh fruits and vegetables
as the key customer base, AllValue helps them to provide
online stores for Chinese consumers that are more in line
with their aesthetics and habits. It provides overseas WeChat
mini programs, Xiaohongshu (/N4 ) overseas stores and
e-commerce website construction, and supports global multi-
lingual and multi-currency as well as overseas local store
delivery in the same city.

In 2024, we fully embraced Al and developed an “intelligent
consumer operation system” to help merchants achieve
growth.

Youzan's intelligent consumer operation system starts by
helping merchants carry out effective public domain content
marketing to acquire new customers. Then, it provides private
domain operation and distribution group purchase systems
to enhance merchants’ customer repurchase rate and profit
margin. At the same time, it also offers smarter solutions for
final sales conversion, such as independent e-commerce malls,
store digitization, chain management, and multi-channel data.
Taking “connection — touchdown — conversion — loyalty” as
the methodology for the consumer journey, Youzan's intelligent
consumer operation system constructs an operation closed loop
covering the entire customer lifecycle by integrating modules
such as Youzan CRM, Youzan Official WeChat Assistant, and
Youzan Intelligent Shopping Guide. Regardless of whether
consumers come from e-commerce platforms, content
communities, social media, or retail stores, merchants can
establish sustainable connections with consumers through
Youzan's intelligent shopping guide, gain real-time insights into
customer behaviors and needs, automatically execute and
continuously optimize marketing tasks, and maintain continuous
interaction with consumers throughout their lifecycle, thus
achieving success in performance from a single channel to
the entire domain. In 2024, the average sales volume of each
merchant on Youzan increased by approximately 14% vyear
on-year. Youzan's intelligent consumer operation system has
created value for merchants and helped them achieve growth.
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Youzan applies artificial intelligence (Al) technology to our
products and solutions. Our Al product, “Jarvis' successively
integrated large language models including Tongyi by Alibaba,
Tencent Hunyuan, Huawei Pangu and DeepSeek in 2024. It
provides intelligent services to merchants in aspects such as
business analysis, marketing planning, intelligent assistance,
and automated execution. In December 2024, we launched the
intelligent agent marketplace and introduced intelligent agents
such as the WeChat Mini Store Custodian Agent, Commodity
Inventory Management Agent, Order Status Monitoring Agent,
Order Aftersales Handling Agent, Marketing Activity Monitoring
Agent, Business Report Push Agent, Content Creation Agent,
Image Generation Agent, and Xiaohongshu Content Assistant
Agent. The application of Al technology in Youzan offers
intelligent assistance throughout the entire business operation
chain of merchants.

In 2024, we achieved sustained and stable profit growth.
The adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA) was approximately RMB121
million, representing a yearon-year increase of approximately
288%. In 2024, the company's net operating cash inflow was
approximately RMB68 million. The cash balance at the end of
2024 was approximately RMB889 million. We continued to
enhance internal efficiency. The selling expenses decreased
by 15% yearon-year, and the selling expense ratio decreased
to 39%. The administrative expenses decreased by 11% year
on-year, and the administrative expense ratio decreased to
10%. The research and development costs decreased by 6%
yearon-year, and the research and development costs ratio
decreased to 12%. In the second half of 2024, our revenue
was approximately RMB756 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 4%, among them, the revenue from
merchant solution services increased by approximately 15%
yearon-year.

We adhered to the vision of “customercentric’ continuing to
deepen our understanding of core customer base's business,
and taking “creating value for customers” as the direction to
improve our solution capabilities and helping merchants to
increase their sales.
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In the year of 2024, the gross merchandise volume generated
by the merchants through Youzan's solutions reached
approximately RMB102.8 billion, increased approximately
RMB300 million compared to 2023. The gross merchandise
volume of store SaaS business was approximately RMB51.9
billion, accounting for 50% of the gross merchandise volume.
The average sales of a single merchant were approximately
RMB1,840,000 in the year of 2024, representing an increase of
approximately 14% year-on-year.

As of 31 December 2024, we had 55,833 paying merchants,
of which approximately 65% were those subscribing for
e-commerce SaaS; approximately 35% were those subscribing
for store Saa$S, including Youzan Store, Youzan Chain, Youzan
Beauty, Youzan Education and WowShop etc.

The number of new paying merchants in the year of 2024 was
18,389, of which the new paying merchants of e-commerce
SaaS accounted for 60% of the total new paying merchants and
the new paying merchants of store SaaS accounted for 40% of
the total new paying merchants.

As of 31 December 2024, Youzan had a total of 1,489
employees.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

1. Achieve business growth while maintaining a steady
increase in profit margins.

2. Increase the “silicon content” in all business processes
and build an intelligent organization.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2024, the Group's revenue was approximately
RMB1,442,291,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,448,376,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.4% as compared to
2023, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
from subscription solutions which was partially offset by the
increase in revenue from merchant solutions.

The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown by major
products and services for the years indicated.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+_"_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 Changes

—EME —EF=HF =] )

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

AREFT AREFIT %
Subscription Solutions SRR S % 780,638 838,725 (6.9)
Merchant Solutions R R T 658,215 605,929 8.6
Others Hih 3,438 3,722 (7.6)
Total 85t 1,442,291 1,448,376 (0.4)
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Subscription Solutions

Revenue from subscription solutions primarily include
subscription fees for SaaS products and a per-transaction
cloud service fee for each extra order beyond a pre-specified
order number threshold that consumers made to such
merchants through SaaS products. Revenue generated from
subscription solutions was approximately RMB780,638,000
(2023: approximately RMB838,725,000), representing a year
on-year decrease of 6.9%, which was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the number of paying merchants.

Merchant Solutions

The Group offers merchant solutions which comprise
comprehensive value-added services addressing merchant
needs that arise in daily operations. Revenue from merchant
solutions mainly include transaction service fee charged for
transaction service, service fees charged for Youzan Logistic
Solutions, Youzan Distribution, as well as Youzan Worry-free
Shopping. Transaction service fee and service fees for Youzan
Distribution and Youzan Worry-free Shopping are determined
with reference to the GMV generated by merchants through
solutions.

In 2024, revenue from merchant solutions was approximately
RMB658,215,000 (2023: approximately RMB605,929,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 8.6% which was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue from logistic solutions.

Others

In 2024, revenue from other businesses was approximately
RMB3,438,000 (2023: approximately RMB3,722,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 7.6%.
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Cost of Sales
The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs by nature
for the years indicated.

SHE A
TREHNFAIRFERIEES BB
Ao

For the year ended 31 December

BHET-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 Changes
“EomE TETCZE -]

Percentage Percentage
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) %
ARETR 1&itE% ARETTT 1tE% %
Staff costs AIF% 100,291 216 119,312 267 (15.9)
Server and SMS costs AR5 23 R SMSH A 43,582 9.4 40,040 9.0 838
Transaction costs RBHAE 162,161 34.9 167388 375 (3.1)
Technology services expenses BiTR%MAS 26,649 5.7 23,122 5.2 15.3
Contracted operation service costs & FJ& & fRF M4 23,936 5.2 27127 6.1 (11.8)
Taxes and surcharges IR M 7429 16 7271 16 2.2
Insurance premium costs REERA 22,721 4.9 17907 4.0 26.9
Logistic costs IR 56,067 12.1 25,104 5.6 1233
Others Hitn 21,250 4.6 18,960 43 121
Total B 464,086 100 446,231 100.0 4.0

In 2024, the Group's cost of sales was approximately
RMB464,086,000 (2023: approximately RMB446,231,000),
representing a yearon-year increase of 4.0%, which was
mainly because (i) logistic costs increased by 123.3% from
approximately RMB25,104,000 in 2023 to approximately
RMB56,067,000 in 2024 and insurance premium costs
increased by 26.9% from approximately RMB17907000 in 2023
to approximately RMB22,721,000 in 2024, mainly due to the
rapid development of Youzan Logistic Solutions. Meanwhile, the
increase in cost of sales was mainly offset by (i) a decrease
of 156.9% in staff costs from approximately RMB119,312,000
in 2023 to approximately RMB100,291,000 in 2024, mainly
due to the decrease in headcount, (iii) a decrease of 3.1% in
transaction costs from approximately RMB167388,000 in 2023
to approximately RMB162,161,000 in 2024, due to the Group's
continuing optimization on cost structure of transaction service.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

In 2024, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB978,205,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,002,145,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 2.4%, due to the
decrease of gross profit from subscription solutions, partially
offset by increase of gross profit from merchant solutions.

In 2024, the Group's gross profit margin decreased from 69.2%
in 2023 to 67.8% in current year, primarily due to the decrease
of gross profit margin of subscription solutions, partially offset
by increase of gross profit margin of merchant solutions.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-B=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-mE “ET=F
Gross profit Gross profit
RMB’000 margin (%) RMB'000 margin (%)
AREF EMEY AREFTT ETIESD
Subscription Solutions HIE S 620,798 79.5 675,081 80.5
Merchant Solutions EER:SPAVaES 354,726 53.9 325,869 53.8
Others Hith 2,681 78.0 1,195 32.1
Total #ast 978,205 67.8 1,002,145 69.2
Subscription Solutions FIBIRRIRA &

In 2024, the gross profit of subscription solutions was RIZZTH4F> JF’%%@%HW%%UZ’J%A
approximately RMB620,798,000 (2023: approximately R#620,798F 7w (ZE2=F 1 HARE

RMB675,081,000), representing a yearon-year decrease of
8.0%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in the revenue of subscription solutions.

In 2024, the gross profit margin of subscription solutions
decreased from 80.5% in 2023 to 79.5% in current year,
primarily due to the decrease in the revenue of subscription
solutions.
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Merchant Solutions

In 2024, the gross profit of merchant solutions was
approximately RMB354,726,000 (2023: approximately
RMB325,869,000), representing a yearon-year increase of
8.9%, which was mainly due to the revenue growth in merchant
solutions.

In 2024, the gross profit margin of merchant solutions increased
from 53.8% in 2023 to 53.9% in current year, which is relatively
steady.

Others

In 2024, other gross profit was approximately RMB2,681,000
(2023: approximately RMB1,195,000), and the gross profit
margin increased from 32.1% in 2023 to 78.0% in 2024.

Expenses and others

In 2024, the Group recorded a 15.3% vyearon-year decrease
in selling expenses to approximately RMB556,423,000
(2023: approximately RMB657038,000). It was mainly due
to the improvement in sales efficiency and reduction in sales
personnel which led to the decrease in sales staff costs and the
decrease in channel commission expenses.

In 2024, the Group recorded a 11.0% yearon-year decrease
in administrative expenses to approximately RMB137864,000
(2023: approximately RMB154,949,000). It was mainly due to
the significant decrease in legal and professional fees related
to the acquisition of approximately 48.10% equity in Youzan
Technology in 2023.
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In 2024, the Group recorded a 5.6% vyearon-year decrease
in research and development costs to approximately
RMB179,201,000 (2023: approximately RMB189,754,000). It
was mainly due to the rational arrangement of research and
development investment and the decrease in research and
development staff costs due to the reduction in the number of
personnel.

In 2024, the Group recorded a 1,534.7% yearon-year increase
in equity-settled share-based payments to approximately
RMB173,590,000 (2023: approximately RMB10,619,000), due
to the two new grants of 272,771,297 Awarded Shares and
1,575,598,705 Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme
in 2024.

In 2024, the Group recorded a 19.7% yearon-year decrease in
investment and other income to approximately RMB42,190,000
(2023: approximately RMB52,546,000). It was mainly due to the
decrease in bank interest income and the expiration of the VAT
super-credit refund policy.

In 2024, the Group recorded other net losses of approximately
RMB32,092,000 (2023: other net gains of approximately
RMB21,694,000).

In 2024, the Group recorded reversal of impairment losses
on financial assets of approximately RMB5,843,000 (2023:
provision for impairment losses on financial assets of
approximately RMB4,222,000), which is mainly due to improved
recoverability of financial assets.

In 2024, the Group recorded a 15.0% vyearon-year decrease
in finance costs to approximately RMB23,472,000 (2023:
approximately RMB27612,000). It was mainly due to the
decrease in bank and other borrowings.
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Non-HKFRS measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented
in accordance with HKFRS, we also use non-HKFRS measures,
namely adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortization (unaudited) and adjusted non-HKFRS earnings for
the year (unaudited) as additional financial measures, which are
not required by or presented in accordance with HKFRS.

We believe that such non-HKFRS measures facilitate
comparisons of operating performance from time to time by
eliminating potential impacts of items such as certain non-
cash items, non-operating items and non-recurring items.
Additionally, we believe that these measures provide useful
information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as it helps our management. However, our presentation
of adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortization (unaudited) and adjusted non-HKFRS earnings for
the year (unaudited) may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies. The use of such
non-HKFRS measures have limitations as an analytical tool,
and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for analysis of our results of operations or financial conditions
reported under HKFRS.

We define adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortization (unaudited) as loss from operations adjusted
by adding back equity-settled share-based payments,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of
right-of-use assets, amortization of intangible assets and one-
off severance packages, and subtracted by other (gains)/ losses,
net, investment and other income.

We define adjusted non-HKFRS earnings for the year
(unaudited) as loss for the year adjusted by adding back equity-
settled share-based payments, amortization of intangible assets
and one-off severance packages, and adjusted for tax on non-
HKFRS adjustments (unaudited).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B STam M

The following table reconciles our adjusted earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (unaudited)
and adjusted non-HKFRS earnings for the year (unaudited)
presented to the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS:

TRABE2VIEREFRFE -RETER
BIHATEY) REER RFREHEFE
BMBREEREN CRESER) BREE
AUMBREENFERZINNEEREALL
B IERBVEER ¢

For the year ended
31 December

8=+-H=+—H
IEEFE
2024 2023
“gEmE ===
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Loss from operations K& E1E (132,681) (21,323)
— Equity-settled share-based payments —REEERAD ZIRIE 173,590 10,619
— Depreciation of property, plant and —ME- -BERZEITE
equipment 5,050 9,848
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —EREEERE 5,787 12,077
— Amortization of intangible assets — B EEH 79,749 81,126
— One-off severance packages —— R EE - 13,188
— Other (gains)/losses, net —Hfh (Ww) B8 FEB 32,092 (21,694)
— Investment and other income — KRB REMEA (42,190) (52,546)
Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, KAARRNENTRIENITE
depreciation and amortization REBEI B R EZ
(unaudited, re-presented for prior year) AIERAARE 7)) 121,397 31,295%
2024 2023
g =TT =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Loss for the year KFERE (165,849) (50,475)
- Equity-settled share-based payments —REEBRNDZIRIE 173,590 10,619
— Amortization of intangible assets — B EEH 79,749 81,126
— One-off severance packages —— R EE - 13,188
- Adjusted for tax on non-HKFRS —EEBUBREEL
adjustments (unaudited) BETHRFEHEE
CREEER) (12,260) (12,169)
Adjusted non-HKFRS earnings KARFEIFEBMBRE
for the year (unaudited) AR CREER) 75,230 42,289
* Certain items in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation

and the comparative figure of adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (unaudited) has

been re-presented accordingly.

* PHRRP2ETEHABEMPBUREAFE 22 A KRERFE MIE - TERBHNET REER ZLEBEF

BAAEES -

BERRRARAT —TNEFER
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning, aged 42, joined the Company in April 2018.
He was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company in May 2018 and was further
appointed as the chairman of the Board in February 2021. Mr,
Zhu is the founder and the chief executive officer of Youzan
Group (comprising Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries) and is responsible for
formulation of the overall development planning and business
strategies as well as the daily management of Youzan Group. He
is one of the pioneer user experience designers in China. Before
establishing Youzan Group, Mr. Zhu was a product experience
planner of Alipay and an interaction designer of Baidu and has
profound experience in the realm of internet, including but not
limited to online payment, e-business, internet communities
and online search services. He graduated from Henan Radio &
Television University with a diploma.

Mr. Cui Yusong, aged 38, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
in May 2018. Mr. Cui is the co-founder of Youzan Group. Mr.
Cui is responsible for technology reserve, artificial intelligence
and product strategic planning as well as management of the
research and development (“R&D") team of Youzan Group. Prior
to joining Youzan Group, Mr. Cui served in a number of R&D or
R&D management positions in Alipay, Alibaba Cloud and Taobao.
Mr. Cui graduated from Shaoxing University with a bachelor
degree in management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Yu Tao, aged 37 joined the Company in April 2018. He
was appointed as an executive Director and the chief financial
officer of the Company in May 2018. Mr. Yu graduated from
Nankai University with a bachelor degree in accounting and
is a member of each of Chartered Professional Accountants
of Canada and Certified General Accountants Association
of Canada. Mr. Yu joined Youzan Group in 2014 as the chief
financial officer and is responsible for financial planning and
management, investment and investor’s relations of Youzan
Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he worked in Ernst &
Young, Shantui Equipment Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd. and Alipay.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, aged 43, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
service officer of the Company in May 2018. She is responsible
for management of the help center, talent development
and organisation operation. Ms. Ying graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University with a bachelor degree in
economics and a master degree in engineering, majoring in
science management and engineering. Ms. Ying joined Youzan
Group in 2014 as chief service officer and is responsible for
the management of client services and contract compliance of
Youzan Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, Ms. Ying worked
in Lexmark Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FIE33TEN# CRYI) B
FR/A&]), Huarun Sun Hung Kei Real Estate (Hangzhou) Co. Ltd.
EBIEEEME ) BREAE) and Tang Shuo Education
(EEHA).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 62, has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2003.

Dr. Fong has over 28 years of extensive experience in various
sectors of the financial industry including direct investment,
project and structured finance and capital markets, having
worked for KPMG, the American International Group in Asia,
and the ING Group in Beijing and Hong Kong. In his last position
within the ING Group, he served as a director of the Baring
Capital (China) Management Limited that managed ING Beijing
Investment Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Fong joined Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited, a
company listed on the HKSE as the chief financial officer from
September 2004 and company secretary from February 2007
He resigned both positions on 11 November 2024. Dr. Fong has
acted as member of the board of director of Bendura Bank AG
in Liechtenstein, since September 2016. Besides, he served
as a non-independent non-executive director of Cordlife Group
Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange from
January 2019 to November 2021.

Dr. Fong holds a Bachelor's degree, majoring in Management
Sciences (Economics) from the Lancaster University, United
Kingdom. He also holds three Master's degrees including a
Master of Business Administration from the Warwick University,
United Kingdom, a Master’s degree in Investment Management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
and a Master's degree in practicing accounting from the
Monash University, Australia. He has a Doctorate in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a Juris Doctor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a CFA charter holder, a member of the Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts, a fellow of the CPA (Australia), a fellow of the
HKICPA, a member of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants, Australia, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors.

Dr. Fong attended executive courses in Harvard Business
School, Said Business School of Oxford University, and Lee
Kuan Yew School of Public Policy of National University of
Singapore.
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Mr. Deng Tao, aged 69, has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since May 2018. He obtained
his bachelor degree at the Beijing Foreign Studies University
and his executive master of business degree at the China
Europe International Business School. Mr. Deng has more
than 28 years of working experience in human resources
management. He commenced his career of human resources
by working in a Chinese joint venture company established by
Hewlett-Packard Company in 1984 and served in that company
for around 11 years. He then successively served in a number of
human resources managerial positions in different multinational
companies including but not limited to Maersk Line Limited,
Allied Signal Inc., AstraZeneca Plc, Whirlpool Corporation and
Google. Mr. Deng joined the Company on 8 May 2018.

Mr. Li Shaojie, aged 47 has served as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since March 2022. He
obtained his bachelor’'s degree at Henan University. Mr. Li
founded and managed Henan Rich Flag Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* (AR ZEGEERMARAE)In 2007 and is
currently the chairman of Rich Flag Sci & Tech Group Co., Ltd.*
ERIEFRIREBABRAET). Mr. Li has over 20 years of ample

experience in internet brand marketing.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Xia, is currently the director of securities affairs of
the Company. She served as the investment director of Beijing
Shangyin Investment Consultancy Co., Limited (FFERRZE (16
R) L EFEHE R AT) from March 2010 to June 2018. Ms. Han
graduated from Renmin University of China in June 2020 with a
master of business administration degree. Ms. Han possesses
experience in financial and operational management and is
familiar with the daily operations, internal management and
financial management of the Group. Ms. Han was appointed as
a company secretary of the Company on 18 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional
services provider specialising in corporate services. He has over
12 years of experience in corporate secretarial field. Mr. Cheng
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in finance from the University of Queensland,
Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law from
the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheng was appointed as a
company secretary of the Company on 24 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

The Directors present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 17 August
1999 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). Its shares have
been listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 April 2000.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The Group is an investment holding company. The Group is
committed to providing online and offline e-commerce solutions
which also known as SaaS (Software as a Service) and various
payment services for merchants.

An analysis of our Group’s revenue, segment result and assets
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 5
and 4 respectively to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

CUSTOMERS & SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 5% (2023: less than 5%), while the five largest
suppliers of our Group accounted for approximately 56.7%
(2023: 49.2%) of our Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier of our Group accounted for approximately 22.8%
(2023: 26.4%) of our Group's total purchases. As far as the
Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their associates, or
any shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’'s share capital) had a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers and suppliers of
our Group.
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RESULTS

Details of our Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out on pages 138 to 139 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
(2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB888,821,000 (2023:
approximately RMB926,265,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had borrowings of
approximately RMB338,725,000 (2023: RMB470,444,000).
Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 31 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 37 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group,
which is calculated by dividing total debt (all bank and other
borrowings) by total assets as of the end of the period, was
5.7%, as compared with 8.7% as of 31 December 2023. The
decrease was primarily due to the increase of balances with
central bank and decrease of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no pledge of assets
(2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC,
its transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in Renminbi. The Group monitors its foreign
currency risks and will consider hedging significant currency
exposures should the need arises.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no specific plans for
any material investments or capital assets.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 940 (2023: 914)
trademarks registered, of which all trademarks have been
approved. At the same time, the Group had 73 software
copyrights (2023: 65) and 27 patents (2023: 20) in the PRC.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has 1,489 employees
(2023: 1,750). The decrease in employees was mainly
attributable to the Group's rational arrangement of R&D
investment and optimization of its organizational structure.
The Group’s employees are remunerated according to their
performance and work experience. In addition to basic salaries
and retirement scheme, staff benefits include performance
bonus, share options and share awards etc. The Directors
believe that good quality of its employees is a company asset
which affects growth and improves profitability. The Group
recognizes the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance
their skills and knowledge.
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LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no material
outstanding litigation.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 33 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the directors confirm that the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2024, there were no outstanding
convertible bonds.

WARRANTS

As at 31 December 2024, there were no outstanding warrants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 12 June
2019 and terminated the scheme on 29 June 2023 (the “Share
Option Scheme 2019"). The termination of the Share Option
Scheme 2019 will not affect the validity of the outstanding share
options, which may continue to be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme 2019 and the GEM
Listing Rules.

For details of the Share Option Scheme 2019, please refer to
note 34 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” of
this annual report.

Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2019 during
the year ended 31 December 2024

Share Option Scheme 2019
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Grant Lapsed Cancelled Exercise
Position held Asat during during  during  during Asat Exercise
within the Company  Date of grant 11. 2024 theyear  theyear theyear the year 31.12.2024 price  Exercisable from Exercisable until
i
Ifi Z3ImE
REAFREZRE REAS -A-B  EMEM  ERXR EREE ERGE +ZRZT-B e Airke ATz
(HK)
(&)
Name of selected
Directors
ez
Mr. Zhu Ling Executive Director and 9 September 2019 100,000,000 - {100,000,000) - - - HK$100E7 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
FERE chief executive officer ~E-AEABNA ZZCSECA-A () “ZCMERAZTH
HAEEFERIAE 20 Janvary 2023 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  HKS0.385%7 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-AHH ZTIRE-AZHAMEY)  ZEINE-FAHAR
Mr. Cui Yusong Executive Director 9 September 2019 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - - - HKS0.90ETT 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
EXARE s “Z-hERANA Z2IEREA-H () “Z_MERA=TH
20 January 2023 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  HKS0.385H7 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-A1H ZBomE-AZ+HMMEY)  CECN\E-AThA
Mr. YuTao Executive Director 9 September 2019 15,000,000 - (15,000,000) - - - HK$0.90ETT 1 .July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
(e Qe ZB-NENANE TECRFtA-B(ME)  CE-MEAA=TA
20 January 2023 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  HKS0.385%7T 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
“E=%-AC+H ZEIME-ACR(H) ZECN\E-AthR
Ms. Ying Hangyan Executive Director 9 September 2019 15,000,000 - (15,000,000) - - - HK$0Q0ET 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
- HGEE “E-hERANA ZE2RECA-H () “E_MERA=TH
20 January 2023 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  HKS0.385%7 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-AHH ZTIRE-AZHAMEY)  ZEINE-FAHAR
QOther employees 9 September 2019 91,252,000 - {91,252,000) - - - HKS0.75E7 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
EtiE8 “Z-hERANA Z2IEREA-H () “Z_MERA=TH
20 January 2023 9,800,000 - {200,000) - - 9,600,000 HKS0.385H7 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
“BCZF-ACHH TRCmE-BIHHGER)  ZZZNE-BTAR
Total
EE 255,062,000 - (241,452,000) - - 13,600,000
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Notes:

1.

BERKARAR

Vesting schedule

1 July 2020 25%
1 July 2021 25%
1 July 2022 25%
1 July 2023 25%

The share options has been lapsed on 9 September 2024.

100% of the options (the “Options”) became vested on 20
January 2024.

There is no performance target attached to the Options.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number
of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme 2019 was nil.

The weighted average closing price of Shares immediately
before the vesting date of the Options vested during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was HK$0.082 per Share.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total numbers of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
2019 was 13,600,000 Shares, representing 0.04% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

No service provider sublimit was set under the Share Option
Scheme 2019.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2019 is to motivate
and retain the grantees by allowing them to enjoy the results
of the Group attained through their efforts and contributions
to the Group. Having considered that (i) the Grantees are
either Directors or employees of the Group who will contribute
directly to the overall business performance, sustainable
development and/or good corporate governance of the Group;
and (i) the Options are subject to certain vesting conditions
and terms of the Share Option Scheme 2019, which already
covers situations where the Options will lapse in the event
that the Grantees cease to be Directors or employees of the
Group, the remuneration committee of the Company and the
Board believe that without additional performance target and
clawback mechanism, the grant of the Options could align the
interests of the Grantees with that of the Company and the
Shareholders, provide incentive to the Grantees to devote to
the future continuous competitiveness, results of operation and
growth of the Company, and reinforce their commitment to long
term services of the Company, which is in line with the purpose
of the Share Option Scheme 2019.

"B NEFR

M5E:

7 BB Iy T 3%

ZZETZEFELHA—H 25%

2 —%tH—H 25%
“E__FtB—H 25%
“Z2T=FtA—H 25%
BREENR _T_HEAANBRY-

100%8R 1 (TEERRE) BN — 2 - MF—
AZt+HAREB-

BRETHWEEEER

RIZE-ME-A—HAR-_ZF_WF+_
B=+—B REBE_Z-—HAEBERETE
AIHREZBREHE RS

HE_Z_NE+_RB=+—HLEEEF
EBKREERBEHARDNNETYS
W BAER0.08278 7T

BENARESHR RE-T-NEBR
TEETEI A 31T Z R A8 #17513,600,000
R METRMBE (FRIEEFRH)
20.04% ©

“E-NFEREAIETIEER RS
HERE DR

“E-NFERES S S R KRR E K
BN EREZELAEERIBIRES S
RHAEEAREMMEEHNRR KE
BOERFEASTERESNREE > MKFH
HEEHAEEEREBRF IFEBELERE
R/ SR EEEAFHER ; Ri)iERE
RRR-_Z-NEERESBZETRE
B RAGET BPREMEEATBERE
EHEFNES IBERBRAMNEBER
B ARBHNEEGREFEI R T
RENEBEERKLOIBEEBONERLT &
LR RARANE R AT RRENF]
R B MBI ARABNAREATR
REFERF N KEXRRERFEER
WMBRERAABDRARBOESE T5
TE-NEBERESENRE
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9. An offer of grant of an Options shall remain open for acceptance

for a period of twenty-eight (28) days from the date upon
which the offer is made, at a consideration of HK$1, payable
by the grantee upon the acceptance of the offer. The Board
has resolved to waive the requirement for selected grantees to
make a payment of HK$1 to accept the Options.

On 29 June 2023, the Company have approved at the 2023
annual general meeting a new share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme 2023") and its scheme mandate limit (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) and its service provider sublimit (the
"“Service Provider Sublimit”), which are the maximum number
of Shares that may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
all share options, together with any share awards to be granted
to eligible person(s) or service providers under the Share
Option Scheme 2023 or any other share incentive scheme
(including the Share Award Scheme (as defined below)) of the
Company. No share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the Share Option Scheme 2023 since the date
of adoption and during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of options available for
grant or share available for issue under the Scheme Mandate
Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit were 57960,377 and
184,216,420, respectively (as at 1 January 2024: 1,842,164,209
and 184,216,420, respectively).

For details of the Share Option Scheme 2023, please refer to
note 34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual
report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the "Adoption Date") aimed
to recognise the contributions by eligible persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Adoption Date unless early terminated by the
Board.
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For details of these share awards, please refer to Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statement. The table below sets
out details of share awards granted to various participants/
categories of participants (the “"Awarded Shares”) under the
Share Award Scheme:

Share awards

RiFEE

Grantee/Category

AR/ 83

Date of
grant

RHAH

Vesting period

BES

Purchase
price

HEE

Unvested
Awards
asat Granted
1 January during
2024 the year

KIBImE
-A-H2
FEERE FAELH

(Note 1&2)

(W 1R2)

Vested
during
the year

FAER
(Note 3)
(H3t3)

Forfeited/
Lapsed
during

the year

FRRK
/58

Unvested

Awards

Cancelled asat
during 31 December
the year 2024
kSl :

+28

=+-82

Fhil  RBEER

Other employee
participants in
aggregate

EftfERSEEA%H

BERKRARARE

Fourth Awards:

FERER:

Seventh Awards

FEREE:

Eighth Awards

FNREE:

Ninth Awards

Tenth Awards

FTREE:

— = —

—=__

1July 2020

“3°FEtR-H

15 January 2023

Z¥_=k-B+EA

1 April 2023

ZE_ZERmBE-A

1.y 203

“R2ZEtR-H

23 December 2024

Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants are divided into 4 tranches. The first
tranche representing 25% of the awards would be vested when the Selected Participant
completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second,
third and fourth tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and would be vested in the
second, third and fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respectively.

RYER2RE ENREBN A S 1iERE220% BN EE2RE BRUAME
HREERAAE-FZEARBRER 5 F-RECHEERR225% #15)
ERHRSEES o RENEREARE

Seventh Awards granted to employees are divided into 2 lots: 2,195,488 Awarded Shares
willully vest on 14 January 2024. Another 3,132,000 Awarded Shares are divided into 3
tranches. The first tranche representing 50% of the awards shall vest when the employees
completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second
and third tranches each represent 25% of the awards and shall vest in the second and third
anniversary from the date of grant, respectively

HPEEZELRRENANS 2195 00RRBRHRN _S_NE-FTRAREE
T B903, 130, 000REBR A D A3M - E—-HRBZ50%  #IEE R L BHEAE
EERAAS-FZERRBRER B REZHEERDZB% #ARERLAS
EE_RE=MBERRRE-

Eighth Awards granted to Selected Participants are divided into 3 lots: (1) 2,747800 Awarded
Shares wilfully vest on 31 March 2024; (2) Another 12,131,000 Awarded Shares are divided
into 4 tranches. The first and second tranche each represent 20% of the awards shall vest
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group from
the date of grant. The third and fourth tranches each represent 30% of the awards shall vest
in the third and fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respectively; (3) The remaining
18,899,000 Awarded Shares are divided into 4 tranches, The first tranche representing 25%
of the awards shall vest when the Selected Participant completing 1 year of continuous
service to the Group from the date of grant. The second, third and fourth tranches each
represent 25% of the awards shall vest in the second, third and fourth anniversary from the
date of grant, respectively.

RPERSEAZE\REBAAINS (1) 2, M780REDRARN _F_ME=A
Z+-BR25E ;05542131 000 EBRA D Akt - E-RE_HEEREZ
0% BNEELE\BREABENAEERAAE-FL RARBRAR E2RE
T &R 230% BRI ER L AREE = REDBBEDEE (3185 718,899,000
REBRHAAM - E-HERH20% B ERS MR O BENEEERN
AE-EZERBHEER 2 BREMLERRD 2% BANERLEHE
FF-RENEEFASE.

Ninth Awards granted to employees are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche representing
25% of the awards would be vested when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second, third and fourth
tranches each represent 25% of the awards,and would be vested in the second, third and
fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respectively.

RYEEZENATEMNAM - F-HIRH20% BN ERS ABRHATENAE
Bxihl-F2ERREERE 3 F-RAMHRERE 2% #HRERY
REEE- $-RECERFORE.

Tenth Awards granted to employees are divided into 2 lots: (1) 1,321,441,003 Awarded Shares
will be vested in 1 year from the Grant Date; and (2) 254,157702 Awarded Shares will be
vested over 1 to 5 years from the Grant Date.

ZECMETZACTEH  RPESZETREBAAMA ()13 41 0REBRARRELAHEEE; kD)

usEeses 4

254,157 102RRBRABREL HHEIZENRR

=

A

TER

=

A

=

A

=

A

TER

6,055,000 -

5126272 -

29,298,800 -

3,071,000 -

- 1,575,598,705

5,805,000

3,501,496

8,702,000

767750

250,000

400,000

2,908,000

- 1223776

- 17688800

- 2303250

- 1575598705

43,550,072 1,575,598,705

18,776,246

3,668,000

- 1596814531
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Notes:

1. The Awarded Shares were granted at nil consideration. The fair
value of the Awarded Shares granted on 23 December 2024
was HK$0.125 per Awarded Share, which was determined
based on the market price of the Shares as at the date of grant.

2. The closing price of Shares immediately before the date of
grant of the Awarded Shares was HK$0.138 per Share.

3. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the Awarded Shares were vested
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$0.08.

4. The numbers of share awards available for grant under the
Scheme Mandate Limit as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024 were 104,558,071 Shares and 57,960,377 Shares,
respectively.

5. The number of share awards available for grant under the
Services Provider Sublimit as at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024 were both 184,216,420.

6. There is performance target attached to the partial Awarded
Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee has made recommendation to the Board in relation
to the grant of award shares to the grantees who were the
employees of the Company (the “Grantees”).

Grant of award Shares under the Share Award Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total of
1,5675,598,705 Awarded Shares were granted to the Grantees
(non of whom is a Director or five highest paid individual) under
the Share Award Scheme. As at the date of this report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
Mandate Limit was 57960,377 Shares, representing 0.18% of
the total number of issued Shares. The total number of Shares
that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted
under all schemes of the Company during the year divided by
the weighted average number of the Shares in issue during the
year is 5.65%.
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Major Terms of the Share Award Scheme
The major terms of the Share Award Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(1)

2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Eligible participants
Eligible participants include employee participants of
any member of the Group, service providers and related
entity participants.

Vesting Period

The rules of the Share Award Scheme do not prescribe
any uniform or specific vesting period for share awards
granted thereunder. Subject to the terms and conditions
of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfillment of all
relevant vesting conditions (if any), the awarded shares
shall vest in the selected grantee in accordance with
a vesting schedule determined at the discretion of the
Board.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
award and the period within which payment or calls must
or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

None. Selected grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept award shares.

The basis of determining the purchase price of Shares
awarded

Not applicable as there is no purchase price under the
Share Award Scheme.

The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme

Subject to any early termination determined by the Board
in accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme,
the Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on its adoption date (i.e. from
31 May 2018 to 30 May 2028). The remaining life of the
Share Award Scheme shall be approximately 3 years and
2 months, as at the date of this report.
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Youzan Technology Share Award Plan A

The Company adopted a share award plan A (the “PLAN A")
of its subsidiary Youzan Technology Inc. (“Youzan Technology
Group”) on 6 May 2021 aimed to recognise the contributions
by eligible persons and provide them with incentives in order to
develop of the Youzan Technology Group.

The table below sets out details of share awards granted to
various participants/categories of participants under the PLAN A
Awarded Shares:

BERE RN EERNETEIA
RRBRZEBZ—F 0 B/NHRMHE
REEERMERARAE ((FERKE
H)) —ERp Bt EA (5H8IA)) B
B OBERATZERIL AR FIRMHE
B LURERBNRERZERE-

TREFFBABETETESHE 2
EHER Z STEIAR B IR D515 ¢

Share awards

HipiEE
Unvested Unvested
Awards Forfeited/ Awards
asat Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled asat
Date of Purchase 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantee/Category grant Vesting period price 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024
St g1
RIB-ME +2R
-A-82 FREK =+-A2
RN/ B RHiBH BES BEE ABERD  FARE  FAEE /RN EREE AREER
(Note 1&2) (Note 3)
(&1 R2) (H33)
Other employee
participants in
aggregate
EftfERSEEAH
First Awards: 30 June 2024 Vested on the date of grant N/A - 02129 22,1297 - - -
EREE: ZECMERA=TA RELAHEE TER
- WN91 20210,297 - - -
Notes: FgEE -
1. The PLAN A Awarded Shares were granted at nil consideration. 1. STEIASBI D EERE R =T U4F

The fair value of the PLAN A Awarded Shares granted on 30
June 2024 were HK$0.077 per PLAN A Awarded Share which
was determined based on the market price of the Shares as at
the date of grant.

2. The closing price of shares immediately before the date of grant
of the PLAN A Awarded Shares were HK$0.077 per Share.

3. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the PLAN A Awarded Shares were
vested during the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$0.08.

4. The numbers of share awards available for grant under the

PLAN A as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 were
1,906,330,379 Shares and 57,960,377 Shares,respectively.
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Major Terms of the Youzan Technology Share

Award Plan A

(1)

2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Purpose of the Plan A

To recognize the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to give incentives thereto in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries
("Youzan Technology Group ).

Eligible participants

Eligible participants include any employee (including
directors and members of senior management) of any
member of Youzan Technology Group.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under
the Plan A

No maximum entitlement of each eligible participant was
set.

Exercisable period under the Plan A
No exercise period for the awarded shares under the Plan
A was set.

Vesting Period under the Plan A

The rules of the Plan A do not prescribe any uniform
or specific vesting period for share awards granted
thereunder.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
award under the Plan A and the period within which
payment or calls must or maybe made or loans for such
purposes must be repaid

None. Selected grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept award shares.

The basis of determining the purchase price of shares
awarded

Not applicable as there is no purchase price under the
Plan A.

Remaining life of the Plan A
No expiration date for the awarded shares under the Plan
A was set.

For further details of the Plan A, please refer to note 34 to the
Consolidated Financial Statement of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 44 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 35 on pages 143 and 295 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders. However,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately RMB8,291,894,000 (2023: approximately
RMB8,195,234,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4
September 2024, the Shareholders has approved at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 27 December 2023 in
respect of the proposed grants under the Share Award Plan A
involving a total of 1,906,330,379 Shares (the “Proposed Grant
Shares”). The Proposed Grant Shares were subsequently issued
to Qima Teamwork Inc., a special purpose vehicle established as
an equity-holding platform for the purpose of the Share Award
Plan A.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 11
November 2024, following a reassessment of its existing
renumeration and share incentive policy, as well as its talent
retention plan against its corporate development strategy,
the Company has determined not to implement the grants
of the remaining 1,633,559,082 Shares of the Proposed
Grant Shares held by Qima Teamwork Inc. which have not
been awarded to any relevant individuals under the Share
Award Plan A. Therefore, the Company, through a private
arrangement, repurchased a total of 1,633,559,082 Shares from
Qima Teamwork Inc. at the total consideration of US$1 on 14
November 2024.
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Additionally, during the year, the Company repurchased a
total of 114,436,000 Shares at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$10.19 million on the Stock Exchange. The
details of the repurchase of such Shares are set out as follows:

tESh FR - KRB EBH AT UAEREBL
10.198 &8 ciEm & 1£114,436,0008% i%

P BIBEZFRMBIFHEIZAMT

Number
of Shares
repurchased
and held
as treasury
Number Shares Highest Lowest
of Shares BiEE k& price paid price paid
repurchased FEERE per Share per Share Total
Month of repurchase =315 v =Y Eab FR=T  consideration
BERAMR R EE RHEE NREE NRIEE BAE
(HKS) (HK$) (HK$'000)
(F7t) (A7T) (F#7T)
August 2024 12,860,000 12,860,000 0.064 0.062 808
“ZTMENA
September 2024 48,000,000 48,000,000 0.071 0.065 3,318
—TWFEAA
October 2024 21,000,000 21,000,000 0.17 0.10 2,384
“ZTME+A
November 2024 24,744,000 24,744,000 0.115 0.095 2,666
“EWFE+—A
December 2024 7832,000 7832,000 0.133 0.113 1,018
“TWFE+ZA
Total 114,436,000 114,436,000 10,194
wast

The Board considers that the share repurchase will demonstrate
the Company's confidence in its own business outlook and
prospects and would, ultimately, benefit the Company and
create value to its Shareholders. The Board believes that the
current financial resources of the Company would enable it
to implement the share repurchase while maintaining a solid
financial position.
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The Company held 1,747995,082 treasury Shares as at 31
December 2024. During the year, no treasury Shares were
sold or transferred. The Company intends to resell the treasury
Shares or use treasury Shares for other purposes in compliance
with the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s
listed securities (including sale or transfer of treasury shares, if
any) during the year.

CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING THREE
YEARS

RSM Hong Kong was the auditor of the Company since 2010.
At the 2023 annual general meeting held on 28 June 2024,
RSM Hong Kong retired as the auditor of the Company and had
not been re-appointed, and the Shareholders had approved the
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 30 May 2024 and 28 June 2024. Save as the above, there
has been no other change in auditors in the preceding three
years. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who
are proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Bye-Laws and the laws in Bermuda in relation to the
issue of new shares by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates are
set out in notes 1 and 17 respectively to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Details of the Group's Share Option Schemes and Share
Award Scheme are set out in note 34 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 38 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, other than the
continuing connected transactions of the Group set out below
which should be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules,
no related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The 2023 Services Framework Agreement

On 30 December 2022, Hangzhou Youzan Technology Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Youzan”) (an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) entered into the 2023 Services Framework
Agreement with Hangzhou Aiguang Network Information
Service Co., Ltd. ("Hangzhou Aiguang Network”), pursuant
to which Hangzhou Youzan shall provide various services
to Hangzhou Aiguang Network, including but not limited to
workplace leasing, computer and server leasing, customer
service advisory, administrative management consulting
and other services. The major terms of the 2023 Services
Framework Agreement are as follows:

Date: 30 December 2022
Parties: (i) Hangzhou Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network
Terms: The 2023 Services Framework Agreement

is of a term commencing from 1 January
2023 and ending on 31 December 2025
(both days inclusive).

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide the
following types of services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network subject to the terms
and conditions of the 2023 Services
Framework Agreement:

Scope of services:

1. Workplace leasing services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
office space and equipment for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network's staff
to carry out its day-to-day business
activities;
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Pricing policy and

payment terms:

BERFERAT —T_NEFER

2. Computer and server leasing
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
computer and server facilities for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network to
carry out its day-to-day business
activities;

3. Customer service advisory
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall assist
Hangzhou Aiguang Network in
resolving customer enquiries;

4. Administrative management
consulting services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
consultation services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network concerning
administrative management issues;

5. Other services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
other miscellaneous services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network pert
aining to its day-to-day operations.

Workplace leasing services

The service fee was determined principally
by arm’'s length commercial negotiations
between the parties with reference to
and shall not be lower than the quotations
obtained (from time to time) from
Independent Third Parties in relation to
similar services provided by them.

Computer and server leasing services,
customer service advisory services,
administrative management consulting
services and other service.
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The service fees was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the operating costs
incurred in relation to the provision of the
services by Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network and (ii) the service
fees of similar services provided by the
Group (including Hangzhou Youzan) to
Independent Third Parties (if any).

The service fees shall not be lower than (i)
the service fees charged to Independent
Third Parties for similar services provided
by the Group (including Hangzhou Youzan)
and (i) the operating costs incurred in
relation to the provision of the services by
Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network plus a markup of 5%.

Proposed annual caps: The proposed annual caps in respect of
the transactions contemplated under the
2023 Services Framework Agreement
for each of the three years ending 31
December 2025 is RMB2,500,000,
RMB2,500,000 and RMB2,500,000

respectively.

Confirmation from Auditor of the Company and the Independent
Non-executive Directors in relation to the Continuing Connected
Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
its unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
as mentioned above in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions for the year ended
31 December 2024 and have confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined in the

Listing Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;
2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Group if the transactions involve
the provision of goods or services by the Group;

3. were entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions;
and

4. have not exceeded the cap.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to bye-law 178 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
the directors, managing directors, alternate director, auditors,
secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own willful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty
respectively, and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or
for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any
bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or
for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which
any moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or
for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation
thereto, except as the same shall happen by or through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

Such provision was in force during the year. In addition, the
Company has also maintained directors and officers liability
insurance during the year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 13 February 2025, the Board passed a resolution to change
the vesting period of 1,287637303 Awarded Shares of Tenth
Awards to 12 months in accordance with the terms of the
Share Award Scheme effective from the date of grant. If any of
the grantees of Tenth Awards cease to be an employee of the
Group before the relevant vesting date, regardless of whether
they have achieved the performance targets as set out in their
respective awards letters, the corresponding Awarded Shares
granted to such Grantee shall lapseor be forfeited. The event
is not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Ning

Mr. Cui Yusong

Mr. Yu Tao

Ms. Ying Hangyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Deng Tao

Mr. Li Shaojie

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Ning, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2024.

Mr. Cui Yusong, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2024.

Mr. Yu Tao, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2024.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, an executive director, has renewed a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 May 2024.

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 19 December 2024. Dr. Fong has
served on the Board for more than 10 years but he has never
held any executive or management position in our Group nor
has he throughout such period been under the employment of
any member of our Group. Dr. Fong has demonstrated his ability
to provide an independent view to the Company’s matters. The
Directors noted the positive contributions Dr. Fong made to the
development of the Company. Dr. Fong Chi Wah has given the
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules to the Company.
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The nomination committee of the Company has assessed and is
satisfied of the independence of Dr. Fong. The Board considers
that the long services of Dr. Fong would not affect his exercises
of independent judgments, notwithstanding his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the
Board is of the view that Dr. Fong is able to continue to fulfill his
roles as required.

Mr. Deng Tao, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 8 May 2024.

Mr. Li Shaojie, an independent non-executive director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with Company for a term of
three years commencing from 18 March 2025.

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Zhu Ning,
Mr. Cui Yusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
"AGM") and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company which is not determinable by
our Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (“Code”)
in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established the Remuneration Committee to formulate
remuneration policies. Directors’ remuneration is subject to
Shareholders’ approval at general meetings or shall be fixed
by the Board with the authorization. Other emoluments are
determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities, the recommendations of the Remuneration
Committee and the performance and results of the Group. No
Directors, or any of their respective associates, was involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year, none of the Directors had waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by
the Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")) which (i) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein
or (iii) were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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Long Position in Shares

NGBz EE
Interest in Interest in Total interest %
Directors Capacity shares underlying shares in shares Shareholding
EF g% RRMzERD | RERKRMZER R 2 B = RET DL
Mr. Zhu Ning Beneficial 28,000,000 1,000,000 7333,532,082 22.24
KELYE owner (Note 4)
BEEEBA (Fiz%4)
Interest of 5,744,205,768
controlled (Note 1)
corporation (FF5E1)
TG AEE R
Founder of a 1,560,326,314
discretionary (Note 2)
trust (B35E2)
BIBETEMIIA
Mr. Cui Yusong Beneficial 8,900,000 1,000,000 720,453,962 2.18
EERMGE owner (Note 4)
EmEEBA )
Interest of 710,553,962
controlled (Note 3)
corporation (HF5¥3)
SEHEE R
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Long Position in Shares
RiHZEE

Interest in Interest in Total interest %
Directors Capacity shares underlying shares in shares Shareholding
5= 513 RighzisE | RERRM Z#EE i ah ALY 5 RETSL
Mr. Yu Tao Beneficial 13,848,000 1,000,000 14,848,000 0.05
AR E owner (Note 4)
EmEAA (P=E4)
Ms. Ying Hangyan Beneficial 862,000 1,000,000 1,852,000 0.006
FEmEtZ+ owner (Note 4)
BHEBA (P5E4)
Dr. Fong Chi Wah Beneficial 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.003
FEEELT owner
BR#EBA
Mr. Li Shaojie Beneficial 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.003
e owner
BaEBA
Note 1: The shares are held by Whitecrow Investment Ltd. st i ZZERH HWhitecrow Investment Ltd.
(“Whitecrow"). Whitecrow is a company incorporated in (M'Whitecrow J) #5758 ° Whitecrow 2 i 22 /@
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is 100% BZBEBAMMIIZBRAB THKSE
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Ning. HE100%ERES ©
Note 2: The shares are held by Youzan Teamwork Inc. (“Youzan  Fizt2 : ZZE 8% BYouzan Teamwork Inc. (T Youzan

Note 3:

Note 4:

BERKARAR

Teamwork”). Youzan Teamwork is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. As at 31
December 2024, Youzan Teamwork was owned as to 8% by
Mr. Zhu Ning, and 18% by Whitecrow.

The shares are held by V5.Cui Investment Ltd. (“V5.Cui”).
V5.Cui is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by Mr.
CuiYusong.

The Company granted the share options under Share Option

Scheme on 20 January 2023. The share options are valid until
19 January 2028 and have an exercise price of HK$0.385.

"B NEFR

MiEE3
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Teamwork J) ¥ 75 ° Youzan Teamwork % i3 5%
BRZEEFIMAILZERAT -RN_IE
“WWE+=HB=+—H"Youzan Teamwork
HAELEFEHS Y 2 RMERZ X
Whitecrow#F 8 E18% 2 iR {5 # & o

D ERRMHBVSE.Cui Investment Ltd. (MV5.

Cuil) F58 oV5.CuiZ il 5588 iR 4 ¥ S 5L i
BRI ZARAR WHEXMRTEI00%E
mER e

ARARIEIZF-AZTHREER

STERHBERE ZSEREFNEE
—ENF—B+AhB{7EA0.385%

JTo
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered into the register referred to therein; or (iii) were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2024, there was
no other person (other than a director or chief executive of the
Company) who had any interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Long Position in Shares

BRrEXFIREEN RS _WNE+_A1
—t+—H AXRBEFAERSTHASRH
BRARBFHEEAEREE (TERES
KRS R BIEXVED) Z AR M%  HERAR D
REHET EE(VRBEE S RAGRGE
XVER BT R8N BN G AR AB MR
BRI KE (BIEREE S RPEREERR
BXWINERARABIFEZ R ERA) ;
(iR 1558 5 R B B & B 5530216 S E B A
ZARFTI B SR 2 R IR A 5 iR
GEM LM #RBIE5. 4656718 BRIESE
TRARBZHAEANERN N RPN
2RI KE o

FERRNBRE R BRI
SRR R

PRI XFriRBEEN R _ME+ZAH
=+—8BEAREREEFT KA EFRH
B3I AHFHIE S MATECER » S H A
AL (ERBAEFHERSITHASRIMN X
AT BB A AT

Fska e

RiZzHEE
Number of interest

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity in shares % Shareholding
IERRLIE 1p Rz B %R EE 2t
Whitecrow (Note 1) (Fiiz¥1) Beneficial owner BB A 5,744,205,768 1742
Double Peace Limited Interests of controlled corporation 5,744,205,768 1742

(Note 1) (PifzE1) SRR
Tricor Equity Trustee Limited Trustee 5,744,205,768 1742

(Note 1) (Pif&E1) ZEEA
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Note 1: Whitecrow is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Double
Peace Limited. Mr. Zhu Ning is the settlor of a discretionary
trust which holds the entire issued share capital of Double
Peace Limited. Tricor Equity Trustee Limited holds the entire
issued share capital of Double Peace Limited as trustee of the
discretionary trust.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.

FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of financial position of our
Group is set out on pages 331 and 332 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor during the reporting
period. The accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs have been audited by Ernst & Young.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the
auditor of the Company for the 2025 financial statements will
be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025

BERFERAT —T_NEFER

MIEE1 - Whitecrow AR BB LB BEMMIIZ A
F[RAE) I HDouble Peace LimitedZ®&#E
B o kBEEAFFEDouble Peace Limited
PEHBEBITRANHBEIENEZTAC
Tricor Equity Trustee Limited/E&f5155
B2 5EAfFADouble Peace LimiteddZ =B
BT A

BESHK
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2024. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company's
corporate governance and makes necessary changes at an
appropriate time.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Youzan is a proud career, in this journey, work and life affect
each other, and we have invested our energy and time.
Everyone here is smart enough, resilient and aggressive. Let us
know each other, understand each other, and achieve mutually.
We are partners, friends, and family. They both pursue their
goals and appreciate the scenery along the way. Enjoy together!

Our mission is:

To help every merchant who values products and services
succeed.

In order to achieve this goal, we will always pay more attention
to “creating long-term value and pursuing sustained growth”;
such a group of people with common temperament will enjoy it,
grow together and enjoy it, Enjoy!

The realization of “long-term value”
“creation and acquisition of value”.

requires continuous
On business: Leading more customers to success and gaining
their trust; meanwhile, we also get business returns ourselves.
On Career: Create value for customers, contribute value to
the organization, and enjoy it; at the same time gain personal
growth and generous rewards.

Our vision:

Our vision is to become the most trusted leader in

commerce services and a flourishing organization for
outstanding talents.
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This also requires us to do:
Professional

Be skilled, understand business, be good at innovation, and
constantly ask yourself to be more professional

Ownership

Think of everything as your own, full of commitment, courage to
take responsibility, and timely replenishment

Service

Think from the customer’s point of view, win word of mouth
with service, and win trust with service

Execution

Direct communication in case of problems, conclusions are
implemented efficiently, and the process is fully synchronized
and coordinated

Result

Continue to create and capture value and pay for results

We believe that human nature is good, respect everyone and
strive to help them to maximize their energy, to use the most

energy and resources to give more incentives to people with
positive energy, and to be true in every principled little matter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The Company’'s corporate
governance practices are based on principles and code
provisions as set out in the Code. The Company has complied
with the provisions of the Code during the year ended 31
December 2024, except for the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the Code, details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the standard of dealings set out in rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions in securities of the
Company. Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each director
has confirmed that during the year ended 31 December 2024,
he/she had complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board's fundamental responsibility is to exercise its best
judgment and to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board is responsible for overseeing the
management's efforts to promote the Company’s success while
operating in an effective and responsible manner. The Board is
able to delegate and confer on any executive director any of its
powers, authorities and discretions for such time and on such
terms as it thinks fit.

The Board may at any time appoint any person who is willing to
act as a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board. The total number of directors shall not be less
than two nor should it exceed fifteen. Newly-appointed directors
shall retire at the general meeting following the appointment
and shall be eligible for election. The Board may appoint any
director to hold any employment or executive office and may
revoke or terminate any such appointment. Shareholders may,
by ordinary resolution, appoint a person as a director or remove
any director before the expiration of his or her period of office.
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The Board regularly formulates our Group's overall business
strategies and monitors management’'s execution of such
strategies.

By discharging its responsibilities, the Board has defined the
business and governance issues for which it needs to be
responsible, and these matters reserved for the Board have
been separately defined, and are reviewed periodically, to
ensure that our Group maintains the proper level of corporate
governance and to ensure they are up to date. In this regard,
the Board:

determines our Group’s mission, provides its strategic
direction and is responsible for the approval of strategic

plans;

approves the annual business plan and budget proposed
by management;

retains full and effective control over our Group and
monitors management with regard to the implementation

of the approved annual budget and business plan;

appoints the Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the
Board, and ensures that succession is planned;

approves our Group's consolidated financial statements,
interim and annual reports;

determines our Group’s communication policy;

determines director selection, orientation and evaluation;
ensures that our Group has appropriate risk
management, internal control, internal audit and

regulatory compliance procedures;

procedures in place and that it communicates adequately
with shareholders and stakeholders;
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establishes Board sub-committees with clear terms of
reference and responsibilities as appropriate;

defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters,
with required authority to Board sub-committees and
management;

monitors non-financial aspects pertaining to the business
of our Group;

considers and, if appropriate, declares the payment of
dividends to shareholders; and

regularly evaluates our Group's performance and
effectiveness.

To better serve the long-term interests of our stakeholders,
the Board dedicates certain matters which require particular
time, attention and expertise to be devoted to its committee.
The Board has determined that these matters are better dealt
with by the committees as they require independent oversight
and specialist input. As such, the Board has established
five committees to assist the Board: Audit Committee, Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Inside Information Committee. Each of the committees
has a terms of reference which clearly specifies its powers and
authorities. All committees report back to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board should the need arise.

060

. EBEEBRTREFEE TR
ARREERBENEEE ;

. RERRFEARERE TR TE

FERETLETREERBANRE
RS

. EERAEREBARNIEMBES

=

. ZREKkWBER) ARREIRRE ; &

. TEHET IR A BRI RIF RN BE

REMANFHEBEERNRANN @ &
SERETERARERB EENORE

FNHANEERKCEZETRE-EF
ERNREFEEREBUEERERX
B hEZEeREEASBE -HIL - EF
CERUILBZEEWMHESRTT  ELE
B EARELZET - RHLEZEG -FHEE
ERABHEZEE -REEE:]ARRE
HLE REREEENRBE -PIEZE

EREAUNESEERRAESTGRM
HEERZ-

YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited
to entitling the Directors and Committee members to seek
independent professional advice on matters relating to the
Company where appropriate at the Company’s expense, to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
These mechanisms in place are subject to annual review by the
Board that underpins a strong independent Board.

Biographical Details of Directors

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, consisting of four executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhu Ning, Mr. CuiYusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi
Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and Mr. Li Shaojie. Biographical details of
the directors are set out on pages 24 to 27 of this annual report.
The Board complies with the minimum requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has the
appropriate professional qualifications required under Rule 5.05
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Meetings

The Board has adopted good corporate governance practices
and procedures, formal notice of at least 14 days will be given
in respect of a regular meeting. For special board meeting,
reasonable notice will be given. Directors participated, either
in person or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board meets regularly at least
four times every year. The directors participated in person or
through electronic means of communication. All notices of
board meetings were given to all directors, who were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
finalized agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to
all directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting.
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All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group's businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company's expense, if necessary. The Company Secretary
records the proceedings of each board meeting in detail by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed
(if any). All minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on request by any director.

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance of each director at Board, committee meetings,
annual general meeting and special general meeting, whether in
person or by means of electronic communication, is detailed in
the table below:

FIBESEN S BRNENTERERERE
BHEAXES > S1EH AR EREE
S BEENAREERSREIEXRR
METHEERE EFRBEAABKIE-
REIMENEBRESTEZNERIFHEF
MM EELR BEMBESIARAETKRE
FREMEEIRENEZ WA) - FM
EFENERMEENREERMA Y ST
480

EEHECE

REFHFEEFE ZETT2 RREBEF
RERRRRFHIARE (MRS UE TR
MBI NIBEREFEHN TR

Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk General
Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BRZEE RLZEE HMZEg ERZEE RREFAE
Mr. Zhu Ning 22 N/A " 2/2 N/A "
KERE TEMA TEA
Mr. CuiYusong 22 N/A N/A N/A il i
EENEE TEH TEHR TEH
Mr. Yu Tao 2/2 N/A N/A N/A il i
AERE A EA AEA T EH
Ms. Ying Hangyan 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A "
fEnst i+ RER FEA B AER
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 22 2/2 il 2/2 N/A i
FEERL TER
Mr. Deng Tao 22 2/2 1" 2/2 il 17
BERE
Mr. Li Shaojie 22 2/2 N/A N/A N/A "
e AEA TEA TEA
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An annual general meeting was held on 28 June 2024, the
Company did not hold any other general meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

At the Board meetings, the Board discussed on a wide range
of matters, including the Group’s overall strategies, financial
and operational performances, approved the annual, interim and
quarterly results of the Group, the appointment of directors,
business prospects, regulatory compliance and corporate
governance, and other significant matters. The company
secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and the senior
management team, prepares the agendas for each meeting
and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary also
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in relation to
the Board meetings are followed. The company secretary sends
notice of the Board meeting to each of the directors at least 14
days in advance of each regular Board meeting. The company
secretary also sends the agendas, board papers and relevant
information relating to the Group to each of the directors at
least three days in advance of each regular Board meeting
and committee meeting, and keeps the directors updated on
the Group’s financial performance and latest developments. If
any director raises any queries, steps will be taken to respond
to such queries as promptly and fully as possible. If there is
potential or actual conflict of interests involving a substantial
shareholder or a director, such director would declare his
interest and will abstain from voting on such matters. The
directors may approach the Company's senior management
team when necessary. The directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company's expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since 19 February 2024, Mr. Zhu Ning, who has been an
executive director and the chief executive officer of the
Company since May 2018, has also been appointed as the
chairman of the Board. Such practice deviates from the code
provision C.2.1 of the Code.

Mr. Zhu Ning has been the key leadership figure since joining
the Group who has primarily participated in formulation of
business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group,
and has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the
implementation of our business plans, the Directors consider
Mr. Zhu is the best candidate for both positions and this
arrangement is beneficial and in the interests of our Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board
considers the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the
Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of the
Company are entered into a service contract and letter of
appointment with the Company for a term as stated in pages
49 to 50 of this report. Besides, the procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company's Bye-Laws. According to the Bye-Laws, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election
at annual general meetings of the Company. Any new director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall be eligible
for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting and
any new director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
Board shall be eligible for re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to the factors set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.

Directors’ Training

All directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as
a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place training and development programmes for
the directors including: an on-going training and professional
development programmes for directors. The Company regularly
organizes seminars for the directors. In addition, individual
Directors also participated in other courses relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director or further
enhancement of their professional development by way of
online aids or reading relevant materials.
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The following table set out the training records for each director
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

TREJSESRBE_ZT_NE+_A
=+—BHiI-FEREIEE

Reading

training

materials

relating

to the Company'’s

business,

duties and

responsibilities

of being

a Director and

Attendance of regulatory

training sessions requirements

EEARATER

EAEENBEN

BEEUKRBEEERX

Name of Directors EEN4Y IR ARV AN

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Zhu Ning KEERE v v

Mr. Cui Yusong RN YN e v v/

Mr. Yu Tao IR A 4 4

Ms. Ying Hangyan FEtSE L+ v v
Independent Non-executive Directors  JEIIJEHMITEE

Dr. Fong Chi Wah EEEL v v

Mr. Deng Tao BELE v 4

Mr. Li Shaojie =RS e v 4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company's policy and structure of remuneration of
Directors and the senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (b) to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, provident/retirement benefits and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors; (c) to review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time; (d) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors, senior management in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company; (e) to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual terms and
that any compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and (f) to review and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive
director, namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-
executive directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao.
Mr. Deng Tao is the chairman of the committee. Details of
the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings, to determine the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the Group;
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
amendments to the share option scheme and the share award
scheme of the Company; to review and make recommendations
on grants of Youzan Technology Share Award Plan A to
employees of Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries; and to
review and make recommendation on grants of share award to
employees.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the
remuneration of the members of the Board and the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out below:

BE_Z_ME+_A=+—HLEE"
FNEZEERITMARR BEEAERE
EREHREEBABNFMNEE BREAR
B A0 B8 IS R 5T B R B 1 IR B 5T BME ST L Tk
IEREERREESZ ERAMEEER
FERABDRENBATNEEREEE
B RMIREISTRIAR M IRBIR &% ; &
BRMEEERHKRMDEEIRHEZR

BIETANTRMEEE 1R BEZE
TE+ZRB=+—HLFE REBESD
PHEFEHERSREEANSRNHFMU
T

Number of

Individuals
Remuneration Band FENEE AE
Nil to RMB2,000,000 FFE AE12,000,00070 -
RMB2,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AE#2,000,0017c 2 A E 4,000,000 4
Over RMB4,000,001 iB8iE A\ EE#4,000,0017c -
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEER

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.3.1 of
the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
mainly include, (a) reviewing and monitoring the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board in light of the Group’s
strategy; (b) identifying qualified individuals to be new Board
members; (c) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors; (d) reviewing and monitoring the
implementation of the board diversity policies of the Group; and
(e) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of Directors and the senior management personnel with
reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the Nomination
Committee members.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive director,
namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-executive
directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Deng Tao is
the chairman of the committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; and to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspective of the board is maintained.

NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to nomination policy, when considering the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors, the Nomination
Committee will consider various factors including the
background, experience and qualification of the proposed
candidate to ensure that he/she possesses the requisite
experience, characters and integrity to act as a Director, and
other criteria with regard to the benefits of diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, skill, knowledge, or professional/business
experience and taking into account the Group's business model
and specific needs.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
supervising annually the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the board of directors according to the Group
strategy, identifying qualified individuals to become new board
members, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors, reviewing and supervising the diversity
policy of the board of directors of the Group implementation.
The Board currently comprises of seven Directors, one of which
is female. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender
Board.

The Nomination Committee considered that the Group achieved
the objectives of its board diversity policy and shall review the
policy and measurable objective at least annually to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.
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Workforce Diversity

The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced, at 45.33%,
representing 675 females out of 1,489 employees (including
senior management), with a slightly higher female employee
base driven by the Organisational Growth division. To support
diversity across all facets, the Group is enhancing diversity
and inclusion efforts through employee networks, mentoring
programmes, equitable hiring practices, policies and awareness
raising events and training for all employees to support inclusive
behaviours.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 30 June 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
mainly include, (a) overseeing the relationship with the external
auditors (b) meeting with the external auditor regularly to
discuss any area of concern during the audit; (c) reviewing
the Group's financial data and information, quarterly results,
interim results and annual consolidated financial statements; (d)
monitoring compliance with statutory and listing requirements;
(e) engaging independent legal or other advisers as it
determines is necessary and to perform any investigations; (f)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures; and (g) reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and
Mr. Li Shaojie. Dr. Fong Chi Wah, who possess the appropriate
processional qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2)
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules, is the chairman of the
committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held two meetings to discuss the Group's
announcements and reports for interim results and annual
results. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses the
management’s reports and representations with a view to
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
has provided advice and comments thereon.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the external
auditors.

External Auditor

The Company engaged Ernst & Young to provide services
in connection with the audit of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and other professional services since
2024.

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, is set out as follows:
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DIRECTOR’S AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
in accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
in this annual report.

RISK COMMITTEE

The Risk Committee was established on 30 May 2016. The
primary duties of the Risk Committee are to review the
responsibilities of risk management and internal control
system and internal audit function, and effectively fulfills other
responsibilities set out in the Code.

The Risk Committee consist of two executive directors, namely
Mr. Cui Yusong and Mr. Yu Tao, and one independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Yu Tao is the chairman of
the committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Risk Committee
held one meeting to review and make recommendation to the
Board on the current risk exposures and future risk strategy of
the Company, and the effectiveness of the risk management
system and internal control system of the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company's internal audit department reviews the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group's internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate. And then provides
independent opinion to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management concerning the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. To further strengthening the
supervision of related work, the internal audit department
conducted special internal audits on the security of anti-
money laundering, payment sensitive information, and personal
financial information in 2024.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of
meetings with management of business groups, internal control
department, legal, and the external auditor, reviewing the
relevant work reports, information of key performance indicators
and the management self-assessment on internal control and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company.

Risk Management Report

Risk management is an integral part of the Group's business
planning, implementation and review process. Apart from
traditional management of operational risks such as safety
and plant integrity, the Group’s risk management universe
encompasses a broader scope of risks that include risks
associated with strategies, policies, financial, human resources,
intellectual properties, techniques and network management.

Principal Risks

The Group’s business operations and financial conditions may
be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to the Group's
businesses, which mainly include the operational risks, financial
risks, market risks and regulatory risks.

BERFERAT —T_NEFER

Py ERES 2
[\ B R R P BB BEAE A RY

EREEERNREFTTRER
A EBEEERMR

R B R e

WETRE R BHE (BARRR) BREHERE
BB~ BB BEIEERPT ~ A TS AR INEB AL BB
EFNHRE BRBSEIERS BRERE
AKREEBANREEEHFLER UK
HEREEERmEARER-

V=g g

EREERE  IT IR J%?“ETJLEEP’
EREERRAIHBRN—IR R TZE2 R
BRETSERNEERRIN ZIKEIE’J
EREEHEEEEEEZ IR BR
MBS AT HBERE KM REEEER
B o

Zz bz
REBZEREERVER R AIEZT AR
EEEBERzRARATITREREZTE
FTEQREERR MERRE - TI5RMR K
EEE R

073



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERRS

Operational risks are those relating to the Group's internal
processes, including but not limited to potential misconduct
of employees and fraud, which may bring significant adverse
impact on the Group's business operations and reputation.
Failures of information technology systems will result in
interruption of the operation of the Group and potential leakage
of confidential information. Operational risks may also result
from emergencies and unexpected events such as natural
hazards. In view of such risks, relevant operation policies and
procedures have been adopted and are in place to ensure
that the daily operation of the Group is in compliance with the
relevant requirements of laws and regulations. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected
case of employee misconduct and/or fraud arises, any staff can
report directly to the management. The staff handbook has also
stipulated that employee misconduct and fraud are prohibited.
The Group places considerable value on data security and
data privacy. The computer systems are secured with access
controls, while maintenance and update are conducted regularly
by the information technology services providers.

Financial risks include liquidity risk in the Group’s normal
course of business. Liquidity risk refers to the Group's ability in
maintaining sufficient fund to meet the liquidity requirements.
To ensure the Group maintains sufficient capital and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements, the cash flows projection
of the Group is reviewed on a regular basis. For the business
of the Group, the financial resources are regularly reviewed
to ensure that the financial reserve of the Group can meet
the liquid capital requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations.

Market risks relate to the change in macroeconomic conditions
and fluctuation of market variables such as gross domestic
product, exchange rates, equity prices and property prices in
China. These risks may generally affect market and merchants’
demands which may lead to adverse impact on the Group’s
revenue. The Group would from time to time fine-tune the
Group’s business strategies, policies and procedures according
to the market situation.
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Regulatory risks may arise from potential default of the Group in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group's business and any future
changes in the relevant laws and regulations. Non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations may bring various
consequences to the Group.

The Board is of the view that for the year ended 31 December
2024, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by
staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and
that such staff receives appropriate and sufficient training
and development. Based on the result of work of the Risk
Committee, the Board also believes that sufficient resources
have been obtained for the Company’s internal audit function
and that its staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budgets are sufficient.

Inside Information Disclosure

The Company has established an inside information policy,
and actively reminded the Directors and employees of due
compliance with all policies regarding inside information. To
ensure adequate attention to whistleblowing, the Company
has established a reporting mechanism to handle and discuss
internal whistleblowing of financial, operational, internal control
and fraud issues. Major internal control deficiencies or whistle-
blowing issues will be submitted to the Inside Information
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of
the Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had
reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of GEM Listing Rules on
Securities Transaction, Code of Conduct, and the Company’s
compliance with the Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
The joint company secretaries of the Company are Ms. Han Xia
and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit is an assistant
vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
corporate services. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit's primary corporate
contact person at the Company is Ms. Han Xia.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Han Xia and
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting and putting
forward proposals

Pursuant section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
shareholders shall have a right to request the Board to
convene a special general meeting of the Company (“SGM").
Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth
(10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company may send a written
requisition to the Board to request for convening a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the SGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and must be deposited at the
Company'’s principal place of business at Unit 1511, 15/F, Shui
On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three (3) months from the said date.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATIONS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Company’s performance to shareholders through
the publication of quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
report. In addition to publishing circulars, notices and financial
reports to shareholders, additional information is also available
to shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.
hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.youzan.com), which is
updated regularly. The annual general meeting provides a useful
forum for shareholders to raise comments and exchange views
with the Board. Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual
general meetings for which the Company gives at least 21
days’ notice. The Chairman, Directors and external auditors are
available to answer questions on the Company’s businesses at
the meeting. The Company values feedback from shareholders
on its effort to promote transparencies and foster investor
relationships.

The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Company and believes that it was effective during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or
requisitions to bring to the attention of the Board through the
following methods:

Address: Unit 1511, 15/F

Shui On Centre

No. 6-8 Harbour Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Email: investor@youzan.com
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Shareholders, investors and members of the public should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's Hong Kong Share Registrar. The contact details for
the Hong Kong Share Registrar are as follows:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers cash or other methods deemed
appropriate by the Board to declare and pay dividends
to shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). In
recommending dividends to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits, the Board would also
ensure the Company has adequate reserves for future growth.
The Board's decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of Shareholders. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to
any applicable restrictions under the laws of the Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye Laws and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Bye-laws of the Company have been amended and restated
on 16 August 2024, and the updated versions are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Save for
the aforesaid, there had been no change in the Bye-laws of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Youzan Technology Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company” or “Youzan") and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
referred to as the “Group” or "we”) are pleased to
publish our 2024 environmental, social and governance
report (hereinafter referred to as "ESG Report” or this
“Report”) to disclose the environmental, social and
governance (hereinafter referred to as "ESG") endeavour
of the Group as well as its efforts in practising sustainable
development.

Reporting Standard

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(hereinafter referred to as the “Guide”) as contained
in Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
It aims to disclose material ESG issues. This Report
is in strict compliance with the mandatory disclosure
requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guide,
the “Comply or Explain” provisions and four reporting
principles, including:

Materiality: We have identified and disclosed the process
and criteria for material ESG issues in the Report. We
have also identified and disclosed key stakeholders, the
process and results of stakeholder engagement in the
ESG Report.

Quantitative: The statistical criteria, methods,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used in the ESG
Report for reporting emissions, and the sources of
conversion factors are defined in the Report.
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Balance: The ESG Report presents the Group's
performance during the reporting period in an impartial
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation
formats that may unduly influence the decisions or
judgments of readers.

Consistency: The statistical methods used to disclose
data in the ESG Report are consistent with those of last
year. If there is any change, it will be clearly stated in the
Report for stakeholders’ reference.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, this Report focuses on the
performance of the core business of the Group from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (this “Year”). The
environmental key performance indicators during this
Year cover Hangzhou, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu and Hong Kong.

Reporting Language

This Report is published in traditional Chinese and English
versions. In case of discrepancies, the traditional Chinese
version shall prevail.

Approval and Confirmation

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Group is
fully responsible for what is reported in this Report.
The internal control and formal review procedures of
the Group have been established to ensure that all data
presented in this Report are as accurate and reliable
as possible, and the identified ESG material issues are
covered. This Report has already been reviewed and
approved by the Board on 20 March 2025.

Feedback Mechanism

We attach great importance to your views and
suggestions on this Report, and you are welcome to
contact us via email (investor@youzan.com).
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2.

ESG GOVERNANCE SYSTEM

2.1

2.2

Board Statement

Integrating ESG governance concepts into the
Group's decision-making and operational processes
can facilitate the Company to achieve long-
term and stable profitability and development.
Therefore, we have established an ESG
management framework centered around the
Board, which oversees the Group's ESG-related
matters, including setting the overall ESG strategy,
management policies, priorities, and goals, as well
as identifying related risks. The Board annually
supervises the implementation progress of ESG
issues and evaluates outcomes in accordance with
the Company's policies, and approves the content
of the ESG report.

This Year, the Board has reviewed the priorities of
key ESG issues and environmental goals, oversaw
and evaluated their implementation progress, and
implemented targeted management plans.

Build ESG Governance Structure

To further promote the effective application of
ESG concepts across the Group’s various business
processes, we have established a top-down,
clearly accountable three-tier ESG management
structure. The Board, as the highest decision-
making body, is responsible for overseeing
the implementation of ESG throughout the
entire Group. The ESG Task Force, composed
of representatives from the Group’s various
departments, including the Administration
Department, Organisational Growth Department,
Supervision Department, Product Centre,
Marketing Department (Public Welfare Line) and
Legal Department, identifies, assesses, and
reviews the management of key ESG issues and
related risks. The ESG responsible persons from
regional functional departments form the execution
layer, cooperating with the ESG Task Force to
complete various tasks assigned by the Group,
such as information collection and implementation
of measures.
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The ESG Task Force, as the middle layer of the
three-tier management structure, bears the
important mission of bridging the upper and
lower levels. In addition to the aforementioned
responsibilities, the ESG Task Force is also
required to formulate ESG management policies
in accordance with relevant laws and regulatory
requirements, maintain communication with
various stakeholders of the Group, promptly
understand their demands and expectations for the
Group's development, comprehensively review the
actual situation and performance of the Group's
ESG issues, propose recommendations for areas
in need of improvement, and report to the Board.
Furthermore, the ESG Task Force is responsible for
liaising with the ESG advisory team, coordinating
the preparation of the Company's annual ESG
report, and promoting the steady progress of the
Group's ESG-related work.

ESGTask Force
ESGEH/E
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Person in charge of ESG of each
functional department in every region

BEHESMAEEFINESGREA

2.3 Stakeholder Engagement 23 FpESHE

The Group places great emphasis on the
suggestions of key stakeholders for the Group's
development. We communicate and discuss with
stakeholders through various means to understand
their opinions and respond to their demands,
constantly improving our ESG performance
based on their feedback. The following is a
list of the stakeholders and the corresponding
communication methods:
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AEBEARAH

Customers 5

!

Customer advisory group/customer

service center

B RsEHNAE B RRFER O

. Customer satisfaction survey and
comment form
ERAMREABTNRRR

o Daily operations/communication

BHEESE "

Online service platform

BRSBTS

° Telephone

e
==

Mailbox
BFE

Employees § T

o Staff opinion survey (forms, suggestion
boxes, etc.)
ETRRAET &K BRHED

° Work performance evaluation and

interview

TERRBTIZ 3

Group discussion

ANERE:

Conference meeting

R

o Volunteering activities
ETEE

° Special advisory committee/thematic
discussion group

BN EE Sl

° Staff communication meeting
BT EBAE
o Staff intranet
BT 4
Shareholders/Investors &5
° Annual general meeting and other general

meetings of shareholders

RERBEAGRAMBRRAS

o Interim report and annual report
FRHAR S PR

o Corporate communications, such as
shareholder letters/circulars and meeting
notices
B MBRREH BRI EHEBH

o Results announcement
E 3= YNGi

° Investor meeting
KEEEE

ZENEER
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° Press release
ER

o Results announcement
ES YN

Community/Non-governmental org

HE FFHFTEER

Volunteering activities
E£TEH
. Donation

E=] N

==

Peers [F]3%

Group announcement
E@EBS

Business partners ¥ 75l {4

Meeting
e
Visit
Report
RS

Suppliers &R

Supplier/contractor evaluation system
HAER A T HIE
Meeting

o

Regulatory authority 25 Ei%is

Meeting

=3
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2.4 Materiality Assessment

We have conducted materiality identification and
assessment by referencing the Guide of the Stock
Exchange and the materiality map issued by the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
and integrating the concerns of industry peers
and the expectations of both internal and externa
stakeholders. As there have been no significant
changes in the Group's business and stakeholders
this Year, the Board, management, and the ESG
Task Force have confirmed that the results of the
2023 materiality assessment remain applicable
to this Year's situation. Therefore, They decided
to continue using last year's materiality issues in
this Report, including 13 high materiality issues,
4 moderate materiality issues, and 6 general
materiality issues.

Materiality Matrix
BEEMER

HEMENERNY

Materiality to Stakeholders

General materiality issues

—RREZHE

24

Materiality to the Group
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T UEER

e Anti-corruption
R&ES

e Supply chain management
HEEEIE

e |ntellectual property protection
I E R IRE

e Customer satisfaction
ERREE

e Product responsibility
EmEE

e User privacy
BRREM

e Data security
HEzz

e Employee training and
development
BT HEIINER

e Employee safety and health
BT B

e Diversity and equal
opportunities
ZrlthrEHRE

e Attracting and retaining talents
K51 K fREE A

e Rights and interests of
employees
BI#a

e Energy management
AEREE

e \Waste management
EEEY)EIE
e Greenhouse gas (GHG)

management
BEREEE

e Employment management
EFEEE

e Compensation and benefits
e 2=yl

b B
General materiality issues

—REERE

e \Water resources management
KEREE

e Climate change
RIEEE

e Community investment
HERS

* Responsible marketing
BEEEHE

e Product health and safety
EmEREZE

e Compliance operation
BREE
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DEVELOPMENT OF TALENT TEAMS

Exceptional talent is a crucial core competitiveness
for enterprise development. We adhere to the
talent philosophy of “Horses for Courses, Achieving
Meritocracy” In addition to offering competitive
compensation, benefits, and treatment, we provide
extensive occupational development training tailored
to the characteristics of different positions. We are
committed to creating a healthy, safe, equal, and inclusive
work environment to attract and retain outstanding talent
to achieve mutual progress. We strictly abide by laws and
regulations such as Labour Law of the People's Republic
of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, Regulation on the Implementation of the Labour
Contract Law of the People’'s Republic of China, Law
of the People’'s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors, and Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labour to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of
our employees.

3.
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3.1

Employment and Attendance

Our Human Resources Department formulates
quarterly recruitment plan based on the staffing
needs of various departments and the current
state of business development, attracting diverse
types of talents through multiple channels. During
the recruitment process, we uphold a fair and
impartial attitude, comprehensively considering
educational background, working experience,
professional qualifications, and other factors for
screening, rather than age, gender, race, religion,
nationality, etc. as a factor of consideration. We
prohibit any form of employment discrimination
to enhance the diversity of our team. The Human
Resources Department stringently verifies the
identity information of candidates to ensure the
authenticity of their basic information, hence
preventing the employment of child labour.
After passing the screening, we will sign labour
contracts with new employees in accordance
with laws and regulations, specifying basic
contents such as job position, working hours,
and compensation, establishing an employment
relationship on a voluntary and equitable basis, and
safeguarding the rights of both parties to terminate
the employment relationship.
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Both the Group and the employees retain the
right to terminate the employment relationship.
When an employee submits a resignation
request, the responsible person from the Human
Resources Department will conduct an interview
to understand the reasons for resignation, thereby
identifying issues related to employee turnover.
In terms of daily work management, we strictly
prohibit forced labour and have established and
implemented an Attendance Management system.
Depending on the characteristics of the position
and business needs, we apply standard working
hours and flexible working hours to different
positions. We established a flexible work system,
providing compensatory time off for overtime
work, fully coordinating work progress with
employees’ resting habits to help them balance
work and life, hence achieving a harmonious blend
of work and rest.

This Year, the Group did not have any case of
non-compliance concerning the employment of
child labour or forced labour.
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Social Unit 2024
HEHIS B 20244 E
Number of employees'

BT AR

Total number of employees Number of people 1,489
BT N

Number of employees by gender

BRENBSHNET A

Female Number of people 675
2z A

Male Number of people 814
B4 N

Number of employees by employee type

RESERAITNETAH

Full-time junior employees Number of people 1,369
SHABRET A

Full-time middle management Number of people 97
SHPRERRE N

Full-time senior management Number of people 23
PHEREIERE AN

Number of employees by age group

BERANBTHNE T AR

Aged under 30 Number of people 642
30 IA T AN#

Aged 30-50 Number of people 844
30-50%% Nt

Aged over 50 Number of people 3
505 A ANE

Number of employees by geographical region

eI SHNETAR

Hangzhou Number of people 975
AN A

Beijing Number of people 151
b= N

Shenzhen Number of people 108
23] N

Shanghai Number of people 94
! A

Guangzhou Number of people 110
JE I A

Chengdu Number of people 50
PR B N

Hong Kong Number of people 1
BE A

Number of employees as of 31 December 2024.
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3.2 Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards employees as the Company's
valuable assets and is committed to creating an
equal, healthy, safe, and harmonious working
environment for them. We strictly comply with
the requirements of laws and regulations such
as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, Production Safety Law of the People's
Republic of China, Provisions on the Supervision
and Administration of Occupational Health at
Work Sites and Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances, and employ various measures to
maintain the health and safety of public spaces.
In terms of facilities, we conduct regular fire
safety inspections of workplaces and organise
emergency drills such as rescue operations and
fire evacuation exercises to enhance employees’
safety awareness and promptly eliminate potential
fire hazards. We install access control systems
in key safety areas to restrict entry and prevent
unauthorized individuals bringing safety risks.
In terms of daily care, we provide fitness and
leisure facilities within the Company and regularly
organise team-building or club activities to help
employees relax and alleviate work stress. We
have established the “Youzan Doctor” online
healthcare platform to offer remote medical service
guidance to employees, enabling them to receive
professional medical advice promptly when they
or their family members experience health issues.
We also provide employees and their families with
an annual free health check-up opportunity to help
employees resolve their concerns.
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3.3

In the past three years including this Year, the
Group had no work-related fatalities. This Year, the
lost days due to work injury of the Group was 174
days.

Development and Training

The Group constantly improves and establishes a
talent development mechanism, adhering to the
philosophy of mutual progress between the Group
and its employees. Based on the development
needs of different positions and functions, we
provide diversified training programs and platforms
for employees to enhance personal qualities
and team competitiveness. We categorize job
positions into professional and managerial types,
thus setting up two promotion and development
paths. The professional path primarily focuses on
cultivating employees’ professional skills, requiring
them to enhance their ability to solve complex
problems and increase their influence in their
respective fields, while the managerial path places
more emphasis on employees’ team management
and coordination abilities, enabling them to
lead members in tackling various challenging
situations. We encourage employees to choose the
development path that suits them based on their
strengths and aspirations, and we are pleased to
provide them with development platforms.
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We firmly believe that the growth and development
of employees will ultimately contribute to the
Company’'s development, hence we constantly
explore and innovate diversified training programs
to unlock employees’ potential. We have created
the “talented management growth camp” for
newly promoted managers, and offer a specialized
“talented mini training” for experienced managers
newly joining the Company to help them fully
understand the Company's background and their
role responsibilities, enhance management skills,
and optimize methods to quickly adapt to the
requirements of their new positions. Additionally,
to further popularize the impact of our training and
expand its effectiveness, we also engage external
expert organisations to provide convenient,
diversified, and customised training services for
a wide range of employees through methods
such as problem diagnosis, telephone interviews,
centralized teaching, case coaching, learning
application, achievement reporting, and effect
evaluation.

This Year, the percentage of male employees of
the Group received training was 45.33%, and
the average training hour was 8.55 hours. The
percentage of female employees received training
was 54.67% and the average training hour was
14.31 hours.
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Remuneration and Benefits

To continuously attract outstanding talents and
retain them for long-term development within the
Company, we have established group regulations
such as the Performance Evaluation Score rules
and Salary Concept based on strict adherence to
the Labour Law of the People's Republic of China
and Labour Contract Law of the People's Republic
of China. We regularly review and adjust our
compensation structure to provide employees with
competitive salaries for similar positions within
the same industry. Additionally, employees can
enjoy benefits such as sales bonuses, performance
bonuses, year-end bonuses, transportation
allowances, and extra shopping subsidies based on
the nature of their positions and daily performance.
For employees with exceptional performance, we
also offer long-term incentives such as additional
options and equity. Furthermore, in terms of
holidays, we provide employees with paid holidays,
sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, and
other welfare holidays on top of statutory holidays.
We set every Wednesday as “Family Day’ allowing
employees to spend more time with their families
and helping them balance work and life. We
also provide congratulatory gifts to employees
on their birthdays, traditional holidays, company
anniversaries, and the birthdays of their newborn
children.
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UPHOLDING COMPLIANCE BASELINES

4.1

Anti-Corruption

The Group takes a firm stance against corruption
and graft, strictly prohibiting any form of
irregularities such as bribery, embezzlement,
extortion and fraud. We strictly comply with
relevant laws and regulations, including the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People's
Republic of China, Supervision Law of the People's
Republic of China and Criminal Law of the People's
Republic of China. We have formulated and
implemented a series of rules and regulations such
as Anti-Corruption Regulations, Youzan Code of
Work Conduct, Youzan Code of Business Conduct
and Youzan Reimbursement Manual, which clearly
delineate the boundaries between bribery and
infringement of company property, including
private gifts, kickbacks and using public resources
for personal gain, thereby setting red lines for all
employees. This Year, we conducted anti-corruption
training for Directors and employees.

o Supervision on anti-corruption

We adopt a “zero-tolerance” attitude
towards any form of corruption behaviour.
We have delineated hidden corrupt practices
such as private benefit exchanges, improper
acceptance of gifts and unauthorized
business entertainment into the scope of
governance. Employees are required to
submit any commercial gifts or commissions
obtained due to their position at Youzan
to the Administrative Department of
the Company for proper handling. All
business activities must be conducted
within the constraints of budget, approval,
documentation and record-keeping. Anyone
who violates this clause will be dealt with in
accordance with the regulations depending
on the severity of the incident, and in
serious cases, the labor contract will be
terminated.
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To further enhance employees’ awareness
of anti-corruption, we have established a
Disciplinary Committee, directly led by the
chief executive officer, chief technology
officer and chief financial officer. Upon
receiving reports on corruption and bribery,
extortion and fraud, or money laundering
involving employees of the Group, we will
treat such matters with utmost seriousness.
The Disciplinary Committee will take the
lead in investigating and verifying the
incidents. Cases and clues that may result
in significant losses to the Group's interests
will be promptly documented and reported
to the general manager. Once the cases are
verified, the relevant responsible persons
will be dealt with strictly in accordance
with regulations, and measures will be
implemented to continuously prevent
potential corruption risks in the future.
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Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing

The Board leads and assumes overall
responsibility for the Group's anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorist financing
efforts. An Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group led by senior management
has been established to independently
and confidentially carry out anti-money
laundering work, and is subject to the
Board review and reports directly to the
Board. The Anti-money Laundering Leading
Group is primarily responsible for the
strategic planning of the Group's anti-money
laundering and counterterrorist financing,
reviewing and promulgating the internal
systems and implementation guidelines of
anti-money laundering and counterterrorist
financing, clarifying the responsibilities
of various functional departments and
business personnel, and establishing the
organizational structure and system for anti-
money laundering. At the same time, due to
the independence and confidentiality of the
relevant work, the Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group granted certain personnel
authority, enabling it to hire or dismiss
anti-money laundering staff, investigate
individuals suspected of money laundering
or terrorist financing violations, and impose
penalties. Under the Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group, a Compliance Management
Department, comprising department
heads and anti-money laundering
specialists, is responsible for promoting the
implementation of the Company’s relevant
policies.
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4.2

The Group’'s Disciplinary Committee
receives reports on money laundering and
terrorist financing, providing secure and
confidential channels for whistleblowing.
It encourages individuals with relevant
information to report suspected violations
of business ethics to the Company and to
cooperate with the relevant departments
of the Company in their investigations,
so as to avoid or minimize losses as far
as possible. The Disciplinary Committee
takes legal action against those found
responsible for violations in confirmed cases
and implements preventive and corrective
measures.

This Year, the Group did not have any lawsuits
related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud,
money laundering and terrorist financing against
the Group or its employees.

Respect for Intellectual Property Rights
As a leading digital commerce service provider
in China, Youzan fully recognizes the significance
and value of intellectual property rights for the
development of enterprises. We strictly comply
with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Advertising Law of the People's Republic of China,
Patent Law of the People's Republic of China,
Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Patent Law of the People's Republic of China,
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
and Copyright Law of the People’'s Republic of
China. While safeguarding our own intellectual
property rights, we also respect the intellectual
property rights of others from infringement and
refrain from any form of behavior that infringe upon
or jeopardize intellectual property rights. This Year,
the Group had a total of 27 registered patents and
7 new patents.
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Intellectual Property Management %133 2= 1 & 18

\

We have formulated and implemented internal policies such as the Use of Intellectual Property Rights for
Youzan Employees, which detail the principles of intellectual property rights, legal liabilities and the use
of the company logos, and the contradictions in legal liabilities that may arise are explained, with the aim
of constructing a business environment that respects originality, adheres to the law and upholds brand
integrity.

BMBIE L ER(EEE TAMAERBRIES) ERNHEER FMARTE THHER EREENQFIEH
FRRA AIEEENEZREEFEET IR EERE—ESERABFEE HERBREENE
HEIRIR

We firmly oppose any form of piracy or infringement, comprehensively safeguarding software copyrights,
trademarks and patents, including the operation of WeChat official account, development of mini apps
and the design of product details pages. We strictly ensure that all content originates from originality or is
legally authorized, and that it is used within the prescribed scope.
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Brand Image Management @& R EIE
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Youzan attaches great importance to the effective reach of its brand image to customers. We have
formulated and implemented the Youzan Brand Use Specification, which regulate the conduct of all the
Group's agents in the form of supplementary agreements, including setting standard specifications for the
visual effects and usage conditions of trademarks, logos and other marks, and prohibit unauthorized sub-
licensing to third parties.
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We require agents to obtain approval from Youzan's Marketing Department for all materials involving
the Youzan brand image, including event posters, event flyers, display boards, employee uniforms and
customized gifts. Unauthorized use, incorrect usage or failure to follow the application and review process
will result in legal action by our legal department against the violators.
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Intellectual Property Complaints %135 &= #4155
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We have established a stringent review and procurement process for resource procurement, such as
fonts, images, background music and software tools, ensuring that all resources are procured from
legitimate channels according to established procedures. \WWe have set up the Youzan Intellectual Property
Protection Center, which is specifically responsible for intellectual property rights related matters,
including receiving and addressing complaints regarding trademarks, copyrights and patent infringements.
BMEERREBEL T ERNBSNRERE  AUNFE -BR SRS RNRGITAEER HERRE

BEEMBN ERRERE ML BEENHERRER L BEPIEEMHERERIIE SIERKE
B HER ZFE ENRE SRR

Youzan will verify the identity information, links, and proof of rights provided by registered rights holders
to mitigate legal risks while respecting the intellectual property rights of others.
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4.3 Protection of Information Security

As a digital service provider, the Group needs
to collect and use a large amount of customer
information in its daily business. Therefore, we
place a high priority on the protection of the
Group's information and customer privacy to
eliminate the risk of information leakage. We
strictly comply with the related laws such as
Regulations of the People’s Republic of China
for Safety Protection of Computer Information
Systems, Cybersecurity Law of the People's
Republic of China, Provisions on the Technical
Measures for the Protection of the Security of
the Internet and Administrative Measures on
Internet Information Services. Also, we formulated
internal systems such as the Youzan Business
Code of Conduct, Youzan Information Security
and Privacy Protection Management Manual,
Youzan Information Security and Privacy Protection
Strategy, Youzan Product Privacy Protection
Design Guidelines, Youzan Information Security
Risk Assessment Management Regulations,
Youzan Data Security Specification and Youzan
Cryptography Use Security Management
Regulations. These policies built up a system for
information security management collectively.
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The Group strictly controls the right of use
of information assets and clearly defines the
responsibilities through the implementation of
Youzan Information Asset Security Management
Regulations, which covers computer hardware
and software resources, communication facilities,
application systems, databases and documents,
etc., employing various measures to safeguard our
information security. Firstly, we adopt measures
to classify and manage the storage and usage
of different types of confidential information
and classify them into four security levels based
on the three core elements of confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information, with higher
levels implying higher importance and requiring
stricter security measures. Secondly, through our
comprehensive information asset management
framework, we implement all-around management
across multiple dimensions, including documents
and data, software and systems, hardware and
facilities, human resources and professional
services. Employees are required to understand
the company's confidentiality policies and assist in
related efforts. Finally, to ensure the high efficient
operation of the information asset management
system, we distribute responsibilities for
information assets among various roles involved in
the processes. The IT Department takes the lead
in the day-to-day work of determining the level
of information assets, maintenance operations,
management checklists and security controls.
Each department fulfills its responsibilities within
the relevant processes to ensure the protection of
information assets from harm.
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To enhance employees’ awareness of information
security, the Group strictly controls the access
permissions for critical equipment and the scope
of access to confidential information. To this end,
we require employees using specific equipment
to sign confidentiality agreements and strictly
limit access to electronic information, ensuring
that sensitive data can only be accessed in a
specific secure and controlled environment.
We have formulated a set of comprehensive
guidelines for technical confidentiality protection
and document management, mandating that all
output documents and results must be submitted
to a unified management platform for centralized
management. Unauthorized sharing of such
materials in any form is strictly prohibited. For
merchants and users on our platform, we enter
into agreements with them such as the Personal
Information User Authorization, User Authorization
Agreement, Information User Authorization Form
and Youzan Authorization Service Agreement.
These agreements clarify our methods and scope
of information collection and usage, define the
responsibilities and obligations of both parties and
uphold the principle of transparency to safeguard
the other party’s right to know. At the same
time, we have also strengthened information
confidentiality management at the technical
level, and obtained authoritative information
management certifications such as CSA Cloud
Computing Security Assessment, 1SO27001
Information Security Management System and
1SO27701.
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4.4

We have established a personal information
protection department. If customers have any
doubts, suggestions or complaints about the
privacy policy or the use of personal data, they can
contact us by email (privacy@youzan.com), and we
will investigate as soon as possible and reply to
customers.

Improvement of Service Quality

Youzan fully understands the significance of
customer service quality for a digital service
company. We consistently prioritize customer
needs in the direction of corporate development,
striving to uphold the golden reputation of “For
business, turn to Youzan.” We are committed to
earning customer trust through more efficient
and higherquality products and services, thereby
establishing long-term partnerships. Guided by this
objective, we constantly improve the professional
capabilities of our SaaS platform services, making
ongoing improvements and upgrades in system
services, traffic orders, collaborative execution and
system stability. We are dedicated to improving
service quality, creating long-term value for our
customers and fulfilling our Group mission of
“helping every merchant who values products
and services success in commerce’ This Year, the
Company received a total of 25 complaints, with a
conclusion rate of 100%.
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Agent Management

REHEE

Agents serve as an important link between
the Group and our customers, not only
representing Youzan in delivering products and
services to end consumers but also playing an
indispensable role in the internal operations
of our system. Therefore, to maintain long-
term and healthy relationships with our
agents, we have established and implemented
the Regulations on the Supervision and
Management of Youzan Agents, which govern
and regulate their business conduct.
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We select merchants who comply with local
regulations, demonstrate excellent service
capabilities, and exhibit high levels of integrity
and customer satisfaction. All existing agents
of the Group are required to comply with
national laws and Youzan's internal policies, and
to conduct compliant and high-quality business
activities. Agents found violating regulations or
failing to fulfil their contractual responsibilities
and obligations are subject to penalties
based on the severity of the breach, such as
commission deductions or disqualification of
superior assessment qualifications. In severe
cases, cooperation may be terminated outright.
RPEELT S EMER  RFENES A=
BEnRERNEREF ERXRERREE2HA
HEEETRZERNEEANRER HESH
BERENEELZE HEEERTRIESH
EREEEEBNAIERRBEHEEETES
MINFRAE  BUHTEERS  REERFERE
BERIESE.
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Customer Complaint

Mechanism

£ 42 4 1

We are committed to maintaining open
communication channels with our customers
and actively listening to their feedback for
improving our products and services. Multiple
complaint channels are available, including
email, complaint hotlines, and an official online
complaint platform.

BB BGEEERNERRE BERR
HEMERMRFZOERZ - RARET S
BRFEBREE WETFHE - RFEE-BEL
TR FTEE-

Upon receiving a complaint, we will record the
complaint in detail and promptly forward them
to the relevant department for investigation
and resolution. If the issue is confirmed to be
the Group's responsibility, we will immediately
communicate a resolution plan with the
complainant. After resolving the matter, we
conduct a root cause analysis and implement
effective preventive measures to avoid
recurrence.

TEREERERE B S MR FAS » RE
REERFFEFIETZBRE  EREERR
EHRARNERSE HMREE —KBEEKRS
EBBRRERRZ UHREEHBATERDINER
[ » $REXA R0 &6 45 hif 6% 0 2R 2R 3 IR 2% AL A 10
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4.5
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Supply Chain Management

The Group deeply understands the significance
of the supply chain in delivering high-quality
products and services. To consistently provide
customers with superior and safe products,
we have established a stringent supplier
management system covering the entire process,
including screening and admission, information
management, performance evaluation, and exit
mechanisms. Our Youzan Procurement Process
provides clear guidelines and regulations for
procurement process, requiring the procurement
department to conduct comprehensive reviews
across various aspects such as market research,
approval process, supplier selection, contract
signing and approval. We implement a tiered
management system for procurement decision-
making authority, with approval procedures
categorised based on purchase amounts. Bidding
suppliers shall follow stipulated procedures
including pre-qualification, tender opening and
evaluation, and detailed negotiation, after our
announcement, ensuring transparency and
compliance in our bidding process. The Youzan
Supplier Safety Management Regulation explicitly
outlines supplier screening and admission criteria,
covering dimensions such as environmental
impact, employee health and safety, compliance,
and business ethics. We prioritise suppliers
excelling in these areas to join our supply chain,
leveraging our influence to encourage sustainable
practices among merchants across the supply
chain. Our Supplier Management Department
has established a supplier information database,
requiring all suppliers to input their details in
a timely and factual manner for centralised
management. Additionally, we conduct annua
assessment of major suppliers, assessing factors
such as service and product quality, pricing,
and delivery status. The assessment results will
influence their admission status for the following
year, and suppliers failing to meet our standards
may be replaced.
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This Year, we had approximately 257 suppliers,
the service categories provided by them were
convention and exhibition and cultural media,
technical services, financial services, consultancy
services, administrative properties and others, all
of which were located in China, including Zhejiang,
Beijing, Shanghai, Guangdong, Jiangxi, Fujian,
Sichuan, Hunan, Tianjin, Anhui, Jiangsu, Hebei and
Liaoning.

GREEN OPERATIONS

We actively respond to the national “Dual Carbon”
strategic goals, strictly comply with the laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People's Republic of China, Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Pollution from Noise and Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, and strive to implement the
concept of green and low-carbon development, minimise
greenhouse gas emissions from our operations to the
extent possible and reduce the negative environmental
impact. The Group has continuously strengthened
its environmental impact governance by requiring
the ESG Task Force to be responsible for driving the
implementation of policy initiatives on environmental
protection, and integrating environmental management
performance into our daily operational processes
for longerterm success. This Year, the Group did not
violate any environmental protection laws or cause
major accidents affecting the environment and natural
resources and did not receive any notice of penalties or
litigation in the area of environmental protection.
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5.1

Reduction of Resource Consumption
The Group deeply awares of the precious value of
resources such as power and water, and we have
proactively taken the responsibility to minimise the
consumption and waste of resources by taking a
series of actions to minimise resource depletion in
our daily operations in line with our environmental
philosophy of “reduce emissions at source”.

o Power consumption management
As a provider of digital business services,
power consumption in the Group's offices
is mainly generated from office electronics
and electrical facilities. We have put in
place a number of management measures,
including:

51 PEEIRHEE
REBFRFAEUWE LR
FERNESEE BME
B RER R BB RHFEIR
BHEE R URERE
NIRRIES  HE—&51T
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Employees are required to switch off indoor
lighting when daylight is sufficient.
EREHNATERESRAAENRAERSE

Regular cleaning and maintenance of

lighting fixtures are conducted, and higher

energy-efficient lamps are used to improve

power usage efficiency.

B ZMAEERBES  BRAERERY
mHER IREE IR

Electronic devices such as printers are set
to automatic standby/sleep mode, keeping
them switched off during idle periods to
minimise unnecessary power loss.
ITEHBEBTRERBELEHTH ER
B @E?F‘aﬂﬁﬁk EREFRALE > BE R
T EREEIBFE

Ga

Air conditioners are installed away from
direct sunlight, filters are washed regulary
and gaps in doors and windows are sealed
to maintain a cool and comfortable indoor
temperature.

R ERZETG R EESNEINUE T
BRI PIE AR AT ERNER
FERE -

”u”

Monthly power consumption statistics are
compiled, and immediate improvement
measures are implemented.
SAHEERBEETR MRETHRS
1 0
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This Year, the total power consumption
of the Group during operation was
2,881,434.90 kWh. We have reviewed the
power consumption target that was set
last year and reduced power consumption,
and will continue to review and optimize
powersaving measures based on the 2021
target to achieve the target of maintaining
or reducing power consumption. We will
continue to monitor the power consumption
of the Group's business operations and
continue to innovate energy saving methods
to effectively reduce power consumption
and the carbon emissions generated.

Water management

The Group has reduced water pressure
in office water facilities to the minimum
practical level and placed water conservation
posters in prominent locations near water
facilities such as restrooms and pantries to
remind employees to turn off taps tightly
after use and cherish water resources in
their daily living. Under same conditions,
we prioritise the use of products with
water efficiency labels and conduct regular
inspections to monitor the implementation
of various water conservation measures. As
our water consumption data is managed by
an independent property company, thus we
are unable to disclose the relevant data and
water consumption targets. The water used
by the Group comes from the municipal
water supply, and there is no problem in
sourcing water.
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5.2 Reduction of GHG Emissions

The Group adopts the Greenhouse Gas Protocol
developed by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable

52 RARERBEHIK
AEE KA B TR E R
PRt ReSEER I HE
FEHENCEERERSE

Development and the 1SO14064-1 standard EES)MBERZRELCAR

issued by the International Organization for
Standardization to conduct investigations on gas,
which ensures the transparency and traceability
of our data. Our investigation covers seven offices
in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Chengdu, Hangzhou, and Hong Kong, and the data
obtained will provide us a scientific basis for daily
monitoring and future carbon reduction efforts.

By (1S014064-1) 122
REEREEET T IE BF
BB ENEBEEMTER
W BRMEENHEESIE
BT~ BB~ BN R -
WM BFHECERAE
ERNEIEENEBRME
B % 85 R S48 Ak B Rk T

IREB AR

GHG Emissions Unit 2024
= R AR HE B 20245 FE
Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions Tonnes of COz2-equivalent 0
#EN BERAERBEEK NEZFEREE
Scope 2 Energy indirect GHG Tonnes of COz-equivalent 1,546.95

emissions
#[F2 A RERZ I NE—FEREE

aE RARPER
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of CO2-equivalent 1,546.95
BEREIRALE EE1F2) NE—FEREE
GHG Emissions Intensity
AERBHREE
GHG emissions per employee Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.72

employee

AT REREHHE B EEREEZ BT
GHG emissions per square metre Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.05

BYRARKRERBEHFNE
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In response to China’'s “30 ¢ 60" strategic
deployment, the Group has taken proactive
actions to constantly promote the research and
innovation of low-carbon technologies, and apply
environmentally friendly products and technologies
across our operations. We also manage GHG
emissions in Scope 3 by encouraging employees
to replace non-essential business travel with
video conferences. When flight travellings are
unavoidable, direct routes are preferred. This
Year, we reviewed the target of reducing GHG
emissions, achieved a decrease in emissions, and
we will continue to maintain and reduce GHG
emissions level based on the 2021 target.

Waste Management

The Group actively encourages employees to
minimise waste generation in their daily work,
promoting the recycling and reuse of office
supplies and raising awareness of waste sorting
to reduce the workload of subsequent waste
treatment. In terms of paper consumption,
we strive to promote paperless operations by
encouraging employees to use electronic means
for information transmission and reception,
thereby avoiding to the extent possible the
generation of waste paper from faxing, printing
and photocopying, etc. When paper is necessary,
we recommend to use recycled paper and double-
sided printing to improve paper usage efficiency. In
terms of the treatment of non-recyclable products,
employees are encouraged to adopt a “reuse and
reduce disposal” mindset when deciding whether
to discard disposable stationery or office supplies
such as envelopes, binders, file cards, and pen
refills, thereby minimising environmental impact.
As the non-hazardous waste of the Group is
recycled collectively by the property management
company, it is difficult to record and monitor
waste generation data, and therefore the waste
generation data and waste reduction targets are
not publicly disclosed.

BERRRARAT —TNEFER
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5.5 Tackling Climate Risks

Climate change has become one of the enormous
challenges requiring global collaboration.
Numerous studies indicate that the risks posed
by climate change will severely impact business
operations and economic performance. Therefore,
the Group places great emphasis on the potential
impacts of climate change on its operations,
proactively identifying risks and opportunities
therein and taking early action and mitigation
measures to minimise the negative impacts
brought about by climate change. In particular,
given the Group's advantageous geographical
location, we believe it is less exposed to extreme
weather such as hurricanes, heavy rainfall,
flooding, and chronic risks like rising sea levels.
Nevertheless, the Group will continue to monitor
local laws and regulations and weather conditions,
dynamically managing identified physical risks in
accordance with relevant guidelines.

Based on our engagements with the Group's
stakeholders, we have observed that their
expectations on tackling climate change
strategies are rising, which may expose us to
reputational damage, loss of market share and
even legal proceedings if we fail to meet their
demands. Therefore, to tackle climate risk, we
have developed a routine dynamic monitoring
mechanism to continuously track policy, legal and
market developments globally, including those
in the regions where we operate, to ensure
that our business activities are in line with the
requirements of tackling climate change.

6. CHARITY AND PUBLIC WELFARE

We actively fulfil our social responsibilities as a
“corporate citizen’, leveraging the strengths of the
Group's platform to build close and friendly relationships
with communities and create greater value for them.
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Charitable school uniforms, turning plastic bottles
into treasures by the “Spring Rain Program (HFFR#i4%
sHED”

Since June 2022, Youzan Technology has been collecting
plastic bottles across its office areas. As of December
2024, a total of 30,901 plastic bottles had been collected,
equivalent to the raw materials for 1,103 sets of
charitable school uniforms. We also regularly display and
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BORAR IERMESEISER

BEERER2022F6 B FABESE
maEUWEE R 8 E20245F12
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BEEMABHBEBRFMNERIEZD

promote the “charitable school uniforms” public welfare RN AT EE R TELTR
initiative in our offices, attracting participation from FERINNAEEMNREEKRS
branded merchants such as Doctorglasses ({f#1BE#E) BEP HEFMAZIBERR &

?EB?F]‘EEEJ’@*E/DWHEE’\JEE@J%?EP °

and Shenzhen Aixun CEHIIZEN) to join us in donating
plastic bottles to provide charitable school uniforms for
children in rural areas.
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Supporting education, empowering art education in
rural primary schools

In September 2024, Youzan Technology launched the
“Youzan Wonderful School e Music Quality Education
Programme/Art Quality Education Programme” We
have partnered with 15 primary schools in Luoyang and
Hebi, Henan Province, using the music and art classes
in the mountains programme as a service model and
foundation, constructing music and art classrooms in rural
primary schools and continuing to empower teachers
to carry out art education activities by inviting them to
participate in training and practice. The programme has
been well received by teachers and students, directly
benefiting more than 20,000 people.
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APPENDIX 1: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the environmental sustainability
information for this Year:

itk — : A RBLERBBERE

UTREFENRIGEBEAIFEERSE
FHEE -

Environmental Unit 2024
IRIGEIE B i 2024 E
GHG emissions?
nE RSP E?
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) Tonnes of CO2- 1,546.95
equivalent
B AERBHINR (EHE2) RE_FEREE
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz- 1,546.95
equivalent
mERBYIREE (FHENR2) NE—FEHREE
GHG emissions per employee (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of CO2- 0.72
equivalent/employee
ATRERBBHINE (EHE1K2) rBE—H LR ES
=N
GHG emissions per square metre (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz- 0.05
equivalent/square
metre
ST KRERBHKE (#E1K2) AR EHREE S
FhK
Waste
EEEY)
Hazardous waste
BEEEEY
Computer waste Quantity 448
BEE E A %
Battery waste Quantity 447
RS e
Ink and toner cartridges waste Quantity 55
BRI BRma %

2 The GHG emissions are calculated with reference to the 2 BREREBHNEBEEE2ZHAERM
Greenhouse Gas Protocol published by World Resources KRR FEEETIHIEE SR
Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable BENCRERBETETE) MERE
Development, and the 1SO14064-1 standard by International IR ET ERIISO14064- 112 &S+ E o

Organization for Standardization.
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Environmental Unit 2024
RIREE Efu 20245 E
Paper consumption

MRAE

Paper consumption Kilogram 9,90794
MRAE T

Paper consumption per employee Kilogram/employee 4.63
ANBHRRAE Fx/8T

Energy consumption

AETRIHFE

Total power consumption kWh 2,881,434.90
KFEES TR

Total power consumption intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 1,345.84
MEBRE (BRED FERE/BT

Total power consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/square metre 91.56
MEBERE (BTAHK FEE 5K
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The following is a summary of the Group’s social sustainability

information for this Year:

UTRAFEFAERNTEHBAFE
LEREMNPEE

Social Unit 2024
IS B 20245 /E
Number of employees?®
BT A
Total number of employees Number of people 1,489
BT A
Number of employees by gender
IR & 7898 T A
Female Number of people 675
ek Nt
Male Number of people 814
sM A#
Number of employees by employee type
RIESEDE IS TN
Full-time junior employees Number of people 1,369
EBBRET A#
Full-time middle management Number of people 97
ERPREER A#
Full-time senior management Number of people 23
EHSREERE N
Number of employees by age group
FREH AR E 77895 T N2
Aged under 30 Number of people 642
30BE U T Nt
Aged 30-50 Number of people 844
30-507% ANEL
Aged over 50 Number of people 3
B0 A £ N ¢

8 Number of employees as of 31 December 2024. € IEAREEFHIE12B31THNE T A#e
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Social Unit 2024
HEHE B 20245 E
Number of employees by geographical region

& 7898 T A2

Hangzhou Number of people 975
LN AN

Beijing Number of people 151
pirk N

Shenzhen Number of people 108
w3 N

Shanghai Number of people 94
finic A#

Guangzhou Number of people 110
=0 A#

Chengdu Number of people 50
RRER A#

Hong Kong Number of people 1
BB N
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Social
HEHE
Employee turnover rate*

BT MKt

Unit
==L i

2024
20245 E

Employee turnover rate by gender

BIERE 78I E T A HEE

Female

g3

%

16.8

Male
Bt

%

18.6

Employee turnover rate by age group
B AR & 77 89S Tk

Aged under 30
305 AT

%

251

Aged 30-50
30-505%

%

10.3

Aged over 50
505 M £

%

4 Employee turnover rate (the number of turnover employees
does not include those who have not passed the internship
period) = number of turnover employees —+ (number of turnover
employees + number of employees at the end of the year) X
100%

BERRRARAT —TNEFER

BTRAX GERAMBTRESRER
BB = REEEAH - (RKESR
AH + FERESAB) X100%
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Social

HEHE

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

R

BB 7 BIE LK LEE

Unit
B

2024
20245 E

Northern China
#FEJLE i

%

4.4

North-eastern China

RitE s

%

Eastern China
EREI

%

213

Central China
FEhE

%

2.7

North-western China
AL &g,

%

Southern China
[EZpalsE

%

71

Other regions
Hfth& 5

%
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Social Unit 2024
HEHE Efu 20245 E
Occupational health and safety
WERRERS
Number of work-related fatalities (2022, 2023 and 2024) Number of people 0
ETIET A (20226 F ~ 20235F £ K2024F F) ANE
Lost days due to work injury Number of days 174
AITEBERITIFEH B#
Development and Training
ZEREEEI
Percentage of employees trained by gender®
I FIZ) 7 B2 FES B 2 HE°
Female % 54.7
pegis
Male % 45.3
S5
Percentage of employees trained by employee type
RIESHFIZ| 7 BIZHES B 7
Full-time junior employees % 91.9
2BARET
Full-time middle management % 6.5
EHPREERE
Full-time senior management % 1.5
EHSREERE

5 The percentage of employees trained for this Year is calculated  © AEENEBTIXRIIETEHDLAERS

as the number of employees trained by each category — the

total number of employees trained x 100%.

BERRRARAT —TNEFER

EmEENEERIAB-EERI
48N BX100% o
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Social 2024

e R 20245 E

Average training hours of employees trained by gender

RILRE| 7 B Z A 18 S -F 11565 2L

Male Hour 8.6
S5 INEF
Female Hour 14.3
pegis NS

Average training hours of employees trained by employment type®

RAIEIBLEFE) 77 89 = 5|/ 1E S F 171555 20

Average training hours per full-time junior employee Hour 6.3
FE2BAARE T FI9EIINE INBF
Average training hours per full-time middle employee Hour 2.4
FE2BPARE T TFI9EIINH INEF
Average training hours per full-time senior employee Hour 0.6
SE2BSHRE T FHEIIRE NS
6 The average training hours of employees for this Year is ¢ REENE T FHENFHGTER E
calculated as the total number of training hours of employees AEBEHEENBZIIHE 2585
by each category = the number of employees by each HEE AE -
category.
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APPENDIX II: INDEXTO THE ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING

wEESI)V RS

GUIDE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental
RIREE
A1: Emissions

A1 HEE)

Ptex—  BEFR (IR ERER

Related chapters

MR &
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 5. Green Operations
Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | 5.4% 2B
—RRE relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and nonhazardous
waste.
BRBRMRERBHR MRS BEERESE
BYNELEEDN (@QBE ; RbEBTHETABEAXENE
REERRBINER o
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix 1: Summary
PR BB AR B - of sustainability
information
figx— : PIFEERE
KHEE
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | 5.2 Reduction of GHG
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | Emissions
unit of production volume, per facility). Appendix 1: Summary
B @BEN) RiRERE @E2) RERBINE QU E) & | of sustainability
@R ZE WUSESE( 8BRS information
5.2F/BEREHN
figr— : IFEERE
KB E
A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Appendix 1: Summary

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FELASEEMEE QUEE) k WER) B8 MUSE

= oo

B BERNHE) °

of sustainability
information

figx— : PIFEERE
rHEE

BERRRARAT —TNEFER
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGHE HmREL
A4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where The non-hazardous
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per waste is recycled
facility). collectively by the
FELEZEZEYEE QIS &k WER) 2E MLUEE | property management
EBQ BEREHE) o company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEBEYHAYEERE
RElg—E £EE
EAEBER R E
&
A15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | 5.2 Reduction of GHG
them. Emissions
WP L VHI B B R R AERELEERMREN S o 5.28/BEREHN
A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are The waste is managed
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps collectively by the
taken to achieve them. property management
W EEEERBEEEMNG L REHPTETIIAEEER | company. The Group
RAEREEEEP R TR has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEYHRYEEENT
R—E1E REEREM
MEE FIL AR E
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 5.1 Reduction of
Resources Disclosure water and other raw materials. Resource Consumption
A2 BRER | —REE BUERER (BEER  KREMEMR) BB 5.AREERERE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 5.1 Reduction of
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g. Resource Consumption
per unit of production volume, per facility). Appendix 1: Summary
RENRDNERR/ FEEER MNE- R30h @2 T | of sustainability
BFEFEE KBE WUSESE( - §ERAE) information
5.1 EEREFE
figx— : PIFEERE
KHEE
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Environmental

HE

Related chapters

RIGHE HmREL
A2.2 Wiater consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of The water consumption
production volume, per facility). is managed collectively
BREKEREE MUEBEEE( BERMHE) ° by the property
management company.
The Group has no
relevant data and
therefore does not
disclose it
FEKERMEERLE
g—E1E KERREME
MEE FIE AR E
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 5.1 Reduction of
taken to achieve them. Resource Consumption
BT IR REAN S E R RAEINEEERMEENS | b 1REEREE
o
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | The water consumption
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken | is managed collectively
to achieve them. by the property
K EUE B OR R A A URFETIAKMEE | management
BRAEDELBEMEMNS - company. The Group
has no relevant data,
and therefore it is
impossible to set a
target
FEKERMEERRE
R—B1E AEEREM
BEE FtEERTE
B
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) The Group's business
and, where appropriate, per unit produced. does not involve
SR mATAEEMRNEE CUEE) k WER) 84 EB | packaging material
g FEBEBAIRELK
e
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGHE MR &
A3: Environment | General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 5. Green Operations
and Natural Disclosure environment and natural resources. bArfiEE
Resources — i & HEBTAHRRERRAERENEATENER
63\: RIERAA A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 5. Green Operations
=R environment and natural resources and the actions taken to hArEEE
manage them.
W EBEHHRERXAERNEATERCHENEEEHA
FENTHo
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- 5.5 Tackling Climate
Change Disclosure related issues which have impacted, and those which may Risks
A4 IEEE — iR impact, the issuer. 5.5fE S R iR E
HH KR EEKRAIEEHETAELXENEARBEERS
EENEE T
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have | 5.5 Tackling Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Risks
actions taken to manage them. 5.5 ¥ % B
HMEA R EEHETAELRENEARBEEBEE &
FEH{TE -
B. Social
BiE
B1: General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 3. Development of
Employment Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Talent Teams
B1: {&1& —RIRE issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment AT BRER
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRHNREE BREREA TR BE TR %
7o~ RIBA MR BAN B R ABFIRY  (a)BUR ;5 K(b)E T H #1T
ANBERZENERLERRANER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Appendix 1: Summary
or part-time), age group and geographical region. of sustainability
B RESE W2BIEE)  FRAENKMEESHE | information
SHRE - fitr— . AIFHERRE
KB E
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Appendix 1: Summary
region. of sustainability
BR S FRER R BB DNEERALR information
figr— . AIFFEEEER
rHEZ
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGHE HmREL
B2: Health and General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 3.2 Occupational Health
Safety Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | and Safety
B2 EEEZ2 | —RIFE relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting | 3.2B¥RBELZE
employees from occupational hazards.
BERRUZE2THRERREESBEBELLEN (@BR;
ROBETHETABEAZENERAZRRANER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 3.2 Occupational Health
the past three years including the reporting year. and Safety
BE=F (OEERRFE) SFRTUHRHASKILE- Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
SWERRZE
figr— : IFBERE
rHEZ
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 3.2 Occupational Health
ATHEBERTIERZC and Safety
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
JWERREZE
figx— : PIREERE
KHEE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 3.2 Occupational Health
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. and Safety
WA R RREL 2R U EBENTRERR JMWERRZE
5o
B3: Development | General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 3.3 Development and
and Training Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
B3: EERIEI | —MHKE BRRAEERTIERENMHE LR ENER HHEINE | 33%EES
S
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Appendix 1: Summary
category (e.g. senior management and middle management). of sustainability
BRUARETER MERERRE PRERES) 22H0Z | information
BTIFNthe figr— : IREERE
rHEZ
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Appendix 1: Summary

and employee category.

MR RETERE D SREIRMZIIN TR

of sustainability
information
figx— : PIFEERE
KHEE

BERFERAT —T_NEFER
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGHE HmREL
B4: Labour General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 3.1 Employment and
Standards Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | Attendance
B4 HTEE | —RIFE relating to preventing child and forced labour. SIEEREY
BRAIEETSREIE T (@8R ; RbBETHETAES
T ENERAERRANER

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 3.1 Employment and
avoid child and forced labour. Attendance
BT RRRIE A NI LB R E T Rkl o SIEREEZE

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 3.1 Employment and
discovered. Attendance
W ERERBERFEERERERNMEIA Lo SEEEZE

B5: Supply General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 4.5 Supply Chain
Chain Disclosure supply chain. Management
Management — iR BEHRENIRE R ERREGR 4 b{tERETE
. JJi N /'3*_‘?
B5 - SR EIE B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 4.5 Supply Chain
BB D HREmEE o Management
4 5HAEREIE

Bb.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | 4.5 Supply Chain
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and Management
how they are implemented and monitored. 4 HEEE
AR HRERNEL mERTERIEMN MR
B URERHEANRITRERAZE-

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 4.5 Supply Chain
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored. 4 5iEMEEEIE
B RHp RS ERENRE R ERRNER MUKk
HERTRERR A

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 4.5 Supply Chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored. 4 hftfEEEIE

B EREMEBRIEESBRFERKRBHES > UKRIE
B TRERA %
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Environmental
RIGHE

B6: Product
Responsibility
B6: ERE

Related chapters
M=

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 4.2 Respect for
Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | Intellectual Property
— i & relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy Rights
matters relating to products and services provided and methods | 4.2& B E &
of redress. 4.3 Protection of
BRMERELNRENEELESZ2 BE EEAFMEEE | Information Security
LUIRERAEN (aBCR ; RbBETHETABEATZENE | 4AREEEZ2
AR RRAIBER 4.4 Improvement of
Service Quality
LARARBES
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls The Group's business
for safety and health reasons. does not involve selling
PENEEXERBETAZ 2 EEEEHMANKNE D or shipping products
tto FEREB I RER
HEHEX
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 4.4 Improvement of
and how they are dealt with. Service Quality
BEANERRBRBNEFBEUREHE G- LARFARBES
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 4.2 Respect for
intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property
Tt A B R RN B EERRNIER o Rights
LIGEHERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | The Group's business
BB EMTEBEREREIKER - does not involve selling
or shipping products
AEBEBASREM
HEFEX
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 4.3 Protection of

and how they are implemented and monitored.

HICHEEURRERDRER URBERTRER %o

Information Security
4IRBERLE

BERFERAT —T_NEFER
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGHE HmREL
B7: Anti- General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 4.1 Anti-Corruption
Corruption Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | 4.1 /&8
B7: k&S —RIRE relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
B AR 813 IR RO B EERY [Q)BUR 5 K(b)ETH
TABERZENERLERRANER
B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 4.1 Anti-Corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | 4.1 &8
period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHETASHESRE L BEENESHRAZHN
YERFDER
B72 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 4.1 Anti-Corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. 4R BH
SRR RER URERNTRER G £
B73 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and | 4.1 Anti-Corruption
staff. AR BH
HtmEERETRENRESHEl
B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of | 6. Charity and Public
Investment Disclosure the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its Welfare
BS . ftE&IE —MIRE activities take into consideration the communities' interests. BEE AT
BRUHE2ERTREEMTHERENRGEEER IS
ZRHEMENHE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 6. Charity and Public
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Welfare
EIEREE WS BEEE SIS BE -G B 6ES AT
B e
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6. Charity and Public

ERIEEMDRER MEHAKR) o

Welfare
=N
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HENERE S

Ernst & Young ZkGHEERER
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

e
EY:x

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ath—REE271E

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Youzan Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 138 to 330, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

BHBRISUREEEITIN

Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
Fax {8 H: +852 2868 4432
ey.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key audit matter
FREBIZFIE

Impairment assessment of cash generating units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of

goodwill, amounting to approximately RMB341,326,000,

was allocated to the third party payment services CGU

("CGU A").

S _E_MNME+_RBR=+—HB REEBEHARE

341 326,000t BEE N EF=AZNRBREES
B (MREEEBMAY o

In addition, the Group had material balances of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB622,931,000, including trademarks with indefinite
useful lives and representing 10.5% of the Group's total
assets, which were related to the merchant services CGU
("CGU B") which recorded operating losses for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

5y BEEZYE -BEARE -ERARBEEREL
BEERAEARE REMARELNAAR622,931,0007T
BEEARBE T _NFE+_A=1+—HLFEREL
EEErERRBReELSMA (REELEMUBN A
R AEELEEI0L% 2 A REReERFIAZ EFR

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

FIREZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EEZ B MAEEMREEZEE

ReEEEl (ReEE8 L) (BERA
FRTERENZBERRIER ZHME
A

Our audit procedures included the following:

BEEZEHEFEE

° We discussed with management
to obtain an understanding of
management’s process and controls
for identifying impairment indicators,
and considered management'’s
assessment of impairment;

. ELHEEENR UTHREEREH
il /)52{5?54‘% i /)|L$£EZPE%J & IE%FE
HEHRE 2 51

° We assessed the identification and
allocation of the CGUs and evaluated
the outcome of prior period's
impairment assessments of the

CGUs;

s ESHEHSELBEMZHIRSH
e WsthiREELBUBTHEZ
/m{aﬂq:'f&nﬂ J
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Key audit matter
RS EIZEIR

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life

CGU A and CGU B are tested for impairment at least
annually or whenever there is an impairment indicator.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group performed
impairment assessments for CGU A and CGU B.
The management engaged an external specialist to
determine the recoverable amounts of CGU A and CGU
B and considered that their respective recoverable
amounts exceeded their carrying amounts. Therefore, no
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024. The recoverable amount of the
underlying CGUs is supported by value-in-use calculations
which are based on future discounted cash flows.
Significant judgement was involved in the assessment of
assumptions used in the calculation of the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs, including an estimate of budgeted
revenue, the budgeted gross margin, the future cash
flows, expectations about possible variations in the
amount or timing of those future cash flows, the time
value of money and terminal growth rate.
REELBENARBREELEUBE/ PSERTEHIRR
ENRFETREAIR R ENE+_-_A=+—
H> EEEHRESELBEUARREELEEMBETH
Bt - BEEEZRE—RINIERECREEL ENAK
HREeEEFBEMUBZ I WEIERATIAKEES B A IKE
THRBEERAE -E 2" "NF+"A=+—
BIEFETEREDRESE EHEREELEM 2T
ClEBEUERRKUERREREZEHABEFES R
FEREELEBMA I KBS EFEMANBR IR
BRAE BEGHEERE BEENR RKRBER
E-HZERRREREZEENFHFE O ERICZTER
BisEEE AR RRX

The accounting policies and disclosures for impairment
assessments of CGUs are included in notes 2.4, 3,15 and
16 to the consolidated financial statements.
REeEEEBUABETENEtBRREEE N GRS
]EMIFE2.4-3 155%16°
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EEZ B MAEEMRBEZSEE

ReEEEl (REEEEN) (BSAS
AR EAENZBERALAL ZHE
BFf

° We evaluated the objectivity,
competence and capabilities of
the external specialist engaged by
management and reviewed the
valuation reports, including the
valuation methodology used and
underlying assumptions applied;

. EETTHEEEEFZINER K
BM -BEKREN IERGERS
BIEPRIR B 2 (B 5 £ & & A 2 18R

R 5

° We reviewed and evaluated
management's cash flow forecasts
and key assumptions by comparing
to the Group's development plan and
external forecasts and analysis on the
industry;

. EERALERAER 2 ERESE RS
EATETBA RO BRIRFHEIE
EBzReEREBARFEERE

° We involved our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating
the methodology and certain key
assumptions used in the calculation of
the recoverable amounts; and

. E%; B EEXR BB EE TG
TH&Z@@%EJ%%%E’JE&&%?E%
BRH ; &

° We also reviewed the related
disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

. BEETCERGAEMBRERFBIIER
WE o
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FORTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FORTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HENERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

ZEETM B S M ISR IERIE
NETE @

ERBEBEFERETEFNEERRE
hoBESEREXRNE REEFRRRERE

EEFo B :
Eang =R | O

. i Bl K ST R P HREF S S R T B 2
REMBRREFEENERKRAH
Bz s 5t R ITE R LU B %
FRE BN ENEENES
B FREEERNER BRI
PRI REBEFR RE-ERER
EE RER AL 5% 2 A BB R IR 1B »
HERBESREMEMERNE XL
SR BRI B9 LB = 50 R AR B IR A $8 52
MERMWEAHERERABIER

. TRRESHRRN AR LIRS
BENESER BLIFEEH &
EEANEEZENERERRER

. SHLEFFTRA BRI EE
REH G At AR ENSE
Mo

135



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZENRE =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. \We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WAL HENERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

n\7r | *E %

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE_Z_NME+_B=1+—HLIFE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt sE ARBTFT AR®BTT
REVENUE & 9) 1,442,291 1,448,376
Cost of sales EI=N= N (464,086) (446,231)
Gross profit EF 978,205 1,002,145
Investment and other income KEREMUA 5 42,190 52,546
Other gains and losses, net Hh e & E518 0 F 58 5 (32,092) 21,694
Selling and distribution expenses tHE R DiHMAZ (556,423) (657038)
Administrative expenses TR (137,864) (154,949)
Reversal of impairment losses/ MEEEREREERRE,
(impairment losses) (REE51E) » 3%E
on financial assets, net 5,843 (4,222)
Equity-settled share-based payments A ERDZIRIB (173,590) (10,619)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#HE (79,749) (81,126)
Research and development costs Bt 8% B A (179,201) (189,754)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS KEEHE (132,681) (21,323)
Finance costs YR N 7 (23,472) (27612)
Fair value changes in financial assets at A F AT AEERER
fair value through profit or (M2 AFEFATER
loss (“FVTPL") %\EEJ) ZHHEEZ
NFEEH 488 (3,690)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI AIES 18 6 (155,665) (52,625)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigin B  #& 10 (10,184) 2,150
PROFIT/(LOSS) FORTHE YEAR TEEHR (B518) (165,849) (50,475)
Attributable to: WUTALREML:
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ TN (176,621) 7429
Non-controlling interests JEPER R = 10,772 (57904)
(165,849) (50,475)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BATEBEEGSRAEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EiEsiRET (858
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted (RMB yuan) BEARKi#E (AR (0.0054) 0.0004
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEEWmER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE_ZNE+_R=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —=—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTTT AER®BTT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FORTHE YEAR TEEHF (B518) (165,849) (50,475)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HfthZ2 @k, (§518)
Other comprehensive loss that may be REZIAEI I SEEH D18
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ERmzHMEEER !
periods:
Exchange differences: PE =58 .
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEH
foreign operations PE = 2R (11,776) (14,407)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that RHEPRBB A ENDE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in FEm 7B EMEERE
subsequent periods: (&518) -
Equity investments designated at fair value EERBR AT ES AT
through other comprehensive income Hh 2wl iR
(“FVTOCI"): (MR FEFAEEM
S2EWER) 2 RERSE .
Changes in fair value N EEE) 6,828 (4,870)
Exchange differences: PEAERE .
Exchange differences on translation MERNBHMBRK< 2
of the Company's financial statements PERER 2,402 22,940
Net other comprehensive income that RHEEZRERETS
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BN EEET@Y
in subsequent periods Hitt2mmF58 9,230 18,070
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRHMEEE ~(§518) »
FORTHE YEAR, NET OF TAX NpRIRIE (2,546) 3,663
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) SFARAZEWZ ~ (§518) 4%
FORTHE YEAR (168,395) (46,812)
Attributable to: MTALRER:
Owners of the parent FREEE A (179,167) 18,366
Non-controlling interests JEVER T 10,772 (65,178)
(168,395) (46,812)

BERRRARAT —TNEFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE TR

31 DECEMBER 2024

RIE2E-WNF+—"F=1+—H

2024 2023
“EImE ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =F ARBTTT AER®BTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB KRB 13 4,132 8,653
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 14,843 10,227
Goodwill [EES 15 341,326 341,326
Other intangible assets HtmpEE 16 613,070 692,819
Capitalised contract costs BRMEEAMAE 24 47910 35,482
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFATEGRER
ZHBEE 18 282,975 282,374
Equity investments designated at EERBR AT ES AT
FVTOCI Ht e EW @R
ZRRERE 19 73,225 66,298
Deferred tax assets IR IR E EE 32 34,500 70,257
Prepayments, other receivables and FEITFRIE ~ EAhFE R IE
other assets REMEE 23 509 647
Total non-current assets IERENEERE 1,412,490 1,507,983
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories 58 20 645 670
Trade receivables JFE UK BR =R 21 31,956 21,549
Factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE 22 110,562 49,422
Prepayments, other receivables and FEITFRIE ~ EAhFE R IE
other assets REMEE 23 236,267 212,315
Capitalised contract costs BRMEEAMAE 24 97,623 120,771
Indemnification asset HEEE 25 - 179,797
Amounts due from related companies  FEUWRRAEE A B F0IE 38(c) 1,295 338
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIIRTTAEER 26 3,895 5,930
Balances with central bank ERRRIBITRIA 26 3,127,657 2,371,241
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 26 888,821 924,998
Total current assets MBNE ERE 4,498,721 3,887,031
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BARR

31 DECEMBER 2024

RIZEF+=/A=+—H

2024 2023
—EopmE 2=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREBFRT ARETT
CURRENT LIABILITIES Mt B=N =]
Trade payables FETERFR 27 9,819 2,571
Other payables and accruals Hih e RIBERTEIRE B 28 395,675 380,664
Contract liabilities 5H8E 29 437,385 585,578
Settlement obligations EEET 30 3,276,258 2,495,726
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 20,387 16,360
Tax payable IR IR 3,863 2,080
Withholding tax payable PSRN 25 - 179,797
Amounts due to non-controlling NN ENEIE 224
shareholders of subsidiaries FRERFIE 38(c) 734 1,200
Amount due to a related company e — R R B A B R IE 38(c) 25 127
Total current liabilities V=R EHSEE] 4,144,146 3,664,103
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEERE 354,575 222,928
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERTHERE
LIABILITIES 1,767,065 1,730,911
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREBERE
Contract liabilities sHaE 29 207,135 59,488
Interest-bearing bank and FEIRITTREMBER
other borrowings 31 338,725 470,444
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 52,718 64,369
Deferred tax liabilities FIERMIBEE 32 92,996 127720
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B E4EEE 691,574 722,021
Net assets BEEFE 1,075,491 1,008,890
BERREAERAS — T NEER 141



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE TR

31 DECEMBER 2024

RIE2E-WNF+—"F=1+—H

2024 2023
“EINE T =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =5 AR+ AR®TT
EQUITY Wi
Equity attributable to owners of BATHE ARG
the parent
Share capital EEN 33 286,938 286,938
Treasury shares EFKD (10,054) —
Reserves (B 35 800,275 734,392
1,077,159 1,021,330
Non-controlling interests JEIERE T (1,668) (12,440)
Total equity R 4ERE 1,075,491 1,008,890
Mr. Zhu Ning Mr. Yu Tao
REFRE mgELE
Director Director
BEFE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

nﬂ'Elﬂh;Lgiéhiﬁ

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BECTNFT A=+ —HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARER AR
Shares held Share
Share for Share Award Non-
Share Share option Award Scheme Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve® Schen;;}z* reserve* reserves® losses* Total interests equity
) iR [RIDEERE
(23 RfVEE* BRERE SAEIRM HERG BEtRe RsEE Bt iR T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARBTR ARETT ARETT AREBTn ARBTR ARETT AREFT ARETT ARBTR
At 1 January 2023 #—F—H 164,484 6,420,355 48,808 (24,679) 41,353 (716,006) (4,511,049) 1,413,266 (368,183) 1,045,083
Profit/lloss) for the year FEET/ (58 = - - - - - 7429 7429 (57904) (50,475)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) E W,ﬁ\ﬁﬂ%@&m/
for the year: B8 ¢
Changes in fair value of equity i 753@ NREEIN
investments designated at FVTOCI TEMPEMEE
ZRBRE
ZATELE) - = - - - (4,870) - (4,870) = (4,870)

Exchange differences on translation BAZERER - - - - - 15,807 - 15,807 (7274) 8,533
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EW%@W 5/ (8518)

for the year - - - - - 10,937 7429 18,366 (65,178) (46,812)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W&R%?FT’"EY% (F§3£33)

(note 33) 132,393 1,774,067 - = = (2,326,139) = (419,679) 419,679 -
Issue of Fee Shares (note 33) BTBRARNM (1333) 61 812 - - - (873) - - - -
Capital injection to a non-wholly-owned E3E2BHIBATEE

subsidiary - - - - (1,242) - (1,242) 1,242
Equity-settled share-based payments IR EGEERAHZ ([FF1E - - 3,470 - 7149 = = 10,619 = 0,619
Release upon lapse of share options ~ FAERARIEL A B bR - - (5,509) - - - 5,509 5 = =
Transfer of fair value reserve upon the  FREERATEF AT

disposal of equity investments at Ht2EWRGERZ 5

FVTOCI (note 19) TAREBRATERE

(f5£19) - - - - - 5,000 (5,000) = = =
Fully-vested Awarded HERA\BEXURE
Shares transferred to awardees STERID - - - 9,463 (9,463) - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=&
+ZA=+—-H 286,938 8,195,234 46,769 (15,216) 39,039 (3,028,323) (4,503,111) 1,021,330 (12,440) 1,008,890
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATREAELR
Shares held Share
Share for Share Award
Share Treasury Share option Award Scheme Other Accumulated Non-controlling Total
capital shares premium* reserve* Schﬂeqr;n;* reserve* reserves* losses* Total interests equity
R
. gl iR ) i . »
2y B RivaE  BREME  REZRG sl Rttt Rt 3t R it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AEWT T NEBTR ABETR ARBFT ANEBTT NEETR ABEBFR ARBFT ANRETT NEETR
At 1 January 2024 RIZ-mE-A-H 286,938 - 8,195,234 46,769 (15,216) 39,039 (3,028,323) 4,503,111) 1,021,330 (12,440) 1,008,890
Profitloss for the year REEEH/ (B8) = = S S = = - [176,621) [176,621) 10772 (165,849)
Other comprehensive incomeoss| EREMRENG/
for the year: (B8
Changes in fair value of equity EEARATEA
investments designated at A2 EG
Fvrocl K2R
ZATERS = = s = = S 6,828 - 6,828 - 6,828

Exchange differences on translation BEVERER - - - - - - 9,374 - 9,37 - 9,374
Total comprehensive incomelloss) ERRENE/

for the year (58 48 - 5 s - - - [2,546] [176,621) (179,167) 0,772 (168,35
Shares repurchesed - (10,054) - - - - - - (10,054) - (10,054)
Equity contributions from a related

party controlled by a shareholder and

executive director note 31) - - 460 - - - - - 71,460 - 71460
Deregistration of subsidiaries N = o = = = = 1,925) 1,925 - - -
Equity-settled share-based payments DEIOEAE] - - - 69 S 173521 S 173,590 S 173590
Release upon lapse of share options RERELNEER - - - 45,070} - - - 45,070 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded RS \SEEUER

Shares transfer to awardses BBRND - - 25,200 - 433 29,532) S S S S S
Transferred from retained profits ZRERTER - - - - - - 14543 14,543) - - -
At31 December 2024 RIBZmE

+ZA=+-H 286,938 (10,084) 8,291,894 1,768 (10,884 183,028 (3,018,251) (4,647280) 1,077,159 (1,688 1,075,491
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREREEGEVBRRERFNEGES

RMB800,275,000 (2023: RMB734,392,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

AHAKARAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEREMERRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE_Z_NME+_B=1+—HLIFE

2024 2023
“EImE ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =F ARBTTT AER®BTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEEIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI ARG 18 (155,665) (52,625)
Adjustments for: U TRIEHE .
Gain on disposal of items of HEMZE -BE&
property, plant and equipment, net REBEBE 2 Wm
HER 5 (587) (220)
Gain on derecognition of R IFFESRE MRS
other payables Iz Was 5 (8,309) (20,719)
Gain on termination of leases, net RIS 2 Wik > P58 5 (851) =
Equity-settled share-based payments A REAE B IR (D 2 (I RRIE 173,590 10,619
Finance costs ISR A 7 23,472 27612
Interest income from bank deposits IRITFEARF B U A 5 (21,571) (23,332)
Interest income from central bank FRIRERTTH B U 5 (8,732) (11,660)
Investment income KEWA 5 (1,082) (920)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BEMRREITE
equipment 13 5,050 9,848
Write-off of property, plant and WEEYZE ~ BB Rk
equipment 13 611 195
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE 14(a) 5,787 12,077
Amortisation of other intangible Hihmi & E i
assets 16 79,749 81,126
Reversal of write-down of inventories B AEFEEE &R
to net realisable value, net FE PEE 20 - (734)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEWERR CRUE B3
of trade receivables, net BE P EER 21 (3,650) 2,656
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment ST ATE(IRRIE  HAthpE
of financial assets included in WHRIBEREMEEZ
prepayments, other receivables MBEE (RE
and other assets, net o) RE BEE 23 (2,193) 1,566
Changes in fair value of financial BRAFEERA
assets at FVTPL ERmRCHBREE
2N EEE) (488) 3,690
Net foreign exchange gain BB &7 U T 5 KB (14,631) (1,822)
70,500 37357
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE_ZNE+_R=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
“EImE T =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
b= ARBTT AR®T
Decrease in inventories EER 25 1,310
Increase in trade receivables FE U BR R AN (6,757) (11,085)
Increase in factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE FIE NN (61,140) (17,954)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FETFIE ~ W
other receivables and other assets MIERHEMEE
excluding other receivables restricted (FEIEERNGEE
for settling settlement obligations EESTHMEW
) (g R (2,796) 36,764
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables ERNEBGEEEE
restricted for settling settlement 2 HEWRIE
obligations agm R (18,825) 32,355
Decrease in capitalised contract costs BEARMEELIRARLD 10,720 12,850
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank ZIRHIIRITAAER
balances L (g ) 768 (1,034)
(Increase)/decrease in balances with ERARRIBITTRIB
central bank Ggm mL (756,416) 1,221,447
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FE(TRRRRIE M0, CRlL) 7.248 (70)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HEA IR TER
and accruals BREM ORL) 23,320 (19,535)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHhadR L (546) (24,421)
Increase/(decrease) in settlement EEETEM CRL)
obligations 780,532 (1,206,834)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due FE UK BR Bt B R IB
from related companies (gm (957) 949
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due to  FE{T—FRERATE A B 718
a related company GRiz) /10 (102) 127
Decrease in amounts due from FE WSR2 B FE4E AR
non-controlling shareholders of % B R IE R
subsidiaries - 260
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due FE(T B B A Bl IEIERR
to non-controlling shareholders of RRERRIE (B
subsidiaries A0 (466) 2,813
ERRBERAR —F mEaH 145



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEREMERRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE_Z_NME+_B=1+—HLIFE

2024 2023
“TomE T =fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =% ARBTTT AR®BTT
Cash generated from operations KEFRIRE 45,108 65,299
Interest income received from BUIRTTIEARF 2 U A
bank deposits 21,571 23,332
Interest income received from B A REBITH B U A
central bank 8,732 11,660
Income tax paid [=ENIF IS (7,368) (13,552)
Net cash flows from RETHREHRERE
operating activities B 68,043 86,739
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KREEZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL B AIZAFEET A
FEmMRZMBEE (314,775) (63,420)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFESA
assets at FVTPL 1£183% EEZZﬁ??iEaﬁﬁ
EGEe! 315,857 64,340
Purchases of items of property, A JT%EZ
plant and equipment RBIER (1,373) (509)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ‘dj’%"‘r@% % B R
property, plant and equipment REEBPAERIE 721 877
Net cash flows from RETHFAERERE
investing activities FEE 430 1,288
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE_ZNE+_R=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
“EImE T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% ARBTFT AR®BTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEFHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Shares repurchased EARIghl (10,054) -
New bank loans %ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ%’}} 500 480,848
Repayment of bank loans BERITEM (470,500) (491,309)
Proceeds from other borrowings %Hﬁzﬁﬁfjﬁfa MPREFIE
from a related party 470,000 -
Repayment of other borrowings B S HMER
from a related party (70,000) -
Proceeds from loans from non- BB A B IR AR ER
controlling shareholders of a BRERIE
subsidiary - 848
Repayment of loans from non- BENB A IFERRER
controlling shareholders of a B
subsidiary - (2,530)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENRZAREED (17,183) (21,624)
Interest paid BEAFE (13,731) (27931)
Net cash flows used in MERBPARERE
financing activities =Rt (110,968) (61,698)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE RERFEEZEN
IN CASH AND GRiL) /YGInEEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (42,495) 26,329
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNRERIBEEHEY
beginning of year 926,265 889,944
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EXRE SR 2558
net 5,051 9,992
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNFERNEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 888,821 926,265
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HERFEEEMEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS bR
Cash and bank balances RERIRTTAER 26 888,821 924,998
Cash and cash equivalents as stated iR e BRI R PRFIRY
in the consolidated statement of REMIREEEY
financial position 888,821 924,998
Restricted bank balances ZIRHBIIRITAEER - 1,267
Cash and cash equivalents as stated IREIRSMEmKRFIY
in the consolidated statement of cash ~ MIRE RIS EEY
flows 888,821 926,265
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PATS R MIEE
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2FEK&EEEF
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated KABARRBRETIMRLIZE
in Bermuda. The registered office address of the (YNSRI NN o= SR =R
Company is Victoria Place, bth Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda. The address of its principal Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda-°
place of business is Unit 1511, 15/F Shui On Centre, No. HIEExMMBUNEBEFTEE
6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company's EE-8RIHZ RV IBIEIS T E o AR
shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of BN EESBHMERZMERRE
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). (TB 22 PTI) GEM LT o
The Group was principally involved in the provision of AEBFERFPEAREMNRH (T4
third party payment services and merchant services in B REREE=ZFZARBE MG
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). KRS o
Information about subsidiaries BB ER
Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as KABFEMBRBZFHBNT :
follows:
Place of Nominal
incorporation/ value of issued Percentage of
registration and shares/registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HfI/ BRITRHEER/
et SR R HftRE  FATREREESTE  FBEE
Direct Indirect
B#% [BifE
Country Praise Enterprises Limited British Virgin 769,231 100% - Investment holdings
("Country Praise”) Islands (“BVI") ordinary
shares of
no par value
Country Praise Enterprises Limited REREZEE  769231KREEE REER
("Country Praise J) (EBRZEE)) ZEER
Youzan Technology Inc. Cayman Islands 1,879,610,079 100% - Investment holdings
("Youzan Technology") shares of
USD0.00001
par value
BERNEERRAE ((BERE) MEEE 18796100798 REZR
SREE
0.00001 &7t 2 K17
Splendid Win Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
BHEERRAT B 10,000% 7T BREZK

You
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31 DECEMBER 2024

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2XFBEIREEEN @
(Contd)
Information about subsidiaries (Conta) B ASEE @
Place of Nominal
incorporation/ value of issued Percentage of
registration and  shares/registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HMmL BRTRMEE
L8 SR S R ifigdx  ARAEEREERSL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B ik
Qima Investment Limited ("QMI") Hong Kong HKDO0.01 - 100%  Investment holdings
Qima Investment Limited (TQMI ) 54 0.0187T REER
Beijing Shangyin Investment PRC/  RMB192,830,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
Consultancy Co., Ltd. (35503 Mainland China
(bR REHARRAE) 2
BiRNE IR RESABRAT 2 FE/FERM AR REER
192,830,00070
Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial PRC/  RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Mainland China payment services
Gaohuitong") (ERBEBEHE
BEEARAR)
IReERRREREERAT" FE/ E R, AR RES=AZARE
(REER) 150,000,0007T
Hangzhou Youzan Technology PRC/  USD500,000,000 - 100% Internet information service,
Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Youzan") Mainland China wholesale and retail
(MMNEBREERAR) "
RNEBEREBRAR i,/ FREIRH  500,000,000% 7T OHAERRE #ER
(MnMAE=) BE
Shenzhen Youzan Information PRC/ RMB5,000,000 - 100% Internet information service,
Technology Co., Ltd. (RHIIFE Mainland China wholesale and retail
EERMBRRAR) -
AIEEEERMERAR? FEL/HERH AR #5,000,0007 OHAERRE #ER
B
Tianjin Youzan Information Technology PRC/ RMB1,000,000 - 100% Internet information service,
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Youzan") Mainland China wholesale and retalil
(REEBEERMARRAR) "°
REBEBEERMAERAR? FEL/HERH  AR#1,000,0007 OHAERRE #ER
(X=2EE) BE

“EBE_NEFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Contd)

Information about subsidiaries (Contd)

Name

eyt

Place of Nominal
incorporation/ value of issued
registration and  shares/registered
business share capital
ML, BRORMEE
SR S R B0l

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

1. REAKREEEN @
MEBATER @@
Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities
FRARGREE AL TEER
Direct Indirect
B ik

Shenzhen Mingrentang Technology
Co., Ltd. (RINE ANERE
BRAR) 3

FNEANEREERAR"

Guojia Commercial Factoring
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BIfERE %
RI2 (RN BRAR) 12

EfEEmERE (RI) BRAF

PRC/  RMB50,000,000
Mainland China

B/ B AR #50,000,0007T

PRC/  RMB50,000,000
Mainland China

i/ HEFH A R #50,000,0007T

! The English names of these entities registered in
the PRC represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as they did not register any official

English names.

2 The entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned

enterprise under PRC law.

< These entities are limited liability enterprises established

under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the period or formed a substantial portion
of the assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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100%  Investment holdings

REER

100%  Factoring and guarantee
business

RERERES

AATNERBRNBLSEDER
MORBNRLBEEDRAR
x> BARERELRERET
LEVESEY -2

ZBERRBPEAEEMAINEE
Sl

REBBARBTEERRILE
REEAT

FRFIEEBLEIEREHRRE
BB AEREEENER/AED
ZAERBMBRABFFE - EFRDR
REEMBLARD ZFERERR
BERTTR.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.1

BHERKARAE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at FVTPL and equity investments which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Going concern assumption

The Group has incurred a loss of approximately
RMB165,849,000 during the year ended 31 December
2024, which is arrived at after charging equity-settled
share-based payment expenses of RMB173,590,000.
In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
management have given careful consideration to the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group and
the ability of the Group to continue to attain positive cash
flows from operations in the immediate and longer term.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

2.1

WE R

ZEUBRREREEFTEGSIA
g ((ERESARE)) BhzEE
R EER ((EBMBREER)
(BEFRAEBMBHREER BB
GEtER (BB G £ k2R
REBRABFHZ MEBERERH %
FMHWMERIGE LA R R IR
ATESACTERRZVHTEER
REREL AT EFE - ZEMHR
KIDBARKE TARE)) 270 85
BN FrE R ERERERESR
BYTAiLe

%5
BHE_Z-_MNFE+ZHB=+—H=H
tFE - AEBEEBEBEBAOAER
#%165,849,0007T ° Jb & 40 bR AL 1
HERMITHRERIZIARE
173,590,000t BB H - MNEHZE
FEVBRRE BEEEETEE
BAEBEER RERRRZAEHE
& URAEBTORRRIEER
KREEBIEIRESRENFES -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.1

152

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conta)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Conta)

Going concern assumption (Contad)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
cash flow forecast prepared by management which
covers a period of twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. They are of the opinion that, taking
into account the Group's historical and expected future
performance and the expected development of the
markets in which the Group operates, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. The forecasts incorporate
management'’s plans to control operating costs such as
staff costs, promotion and advertising expenses, capital
expenditures, etc.

Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a basis that the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

2.1

BEHER @

FHEEERR @

ARBREFCEREEBRRRA
EEBEREHARES+ @A HE
ZHREREER - HEDBR KERE
FERZIBERFBIRKKRIE LUk
FEBRKEFRMET B BRER &
EERAEEHEEET R HEER
HESRRARRARKRETHEE
BE-FRABEEEEERESNA
WEIMA HEERESHAIRE
A% E) 258

FHIE - R &M B R R T UREE S

mEEE
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NE (MBI EE) &#E-FT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.1

BHERKARAE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conta)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Conta)

Basis of consolidation (Conta)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.1

154

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conta)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Conta)

Basis of consolidation (Conta)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1 or Non-current (the “2020

Amendments to
HKAS 1 (the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to
HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

BHERKARAE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the sellerlessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since
the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions
with variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Contd)

(b)

156

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’'s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any
impact on the Group's financial statements.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they
become effective.
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 9 and dependent Electricity?
HKFRS 7
Amendments to Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 9 and and Measurement of Financial
HKFRS 7 Instruments?
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability’
HKAS 21
Annual Improvements  Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
to HKFRS Accounting ~ HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Standards - Volume 11
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026
& Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027
. No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption
Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
BURBERAR —T - MEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.3

158

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both
the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved
to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply
with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the
Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to
apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company'’s subsidiaries are
considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified
financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement
date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify
how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics
of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features.
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features
and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at FVTOCI and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without
the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was
removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. WWhen applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments.: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IGT1,
IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs
in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition,
the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of
HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 BEMERRERZEER

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

° HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method” with
“at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the
prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Business combinations and goodwiill (Contd)
The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conts) 24 BAREFBER @
Business combinations and goodwill (Conta) XBaHKREE ®

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at FVTPL and
equity investments designated at FVTOCI at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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BHERKARAE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

Fair value measurement (Contd)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1— based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 2 —

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

Level 3 —

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEEER @

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

BHERKARAE

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)
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Related parties (Contd)
(b)  (Contd)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiij the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Contd)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The estimated useful lives used for this purpose are
as follows:

Motor vehicles 410 5 years

Furniture and 3to b years
office equipment

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and estimated useful life,

being no more than

20 vears after the date of completion

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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172

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.

E-commerce applications

E-commerce applications are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 6.7 years since
the date of acquisition in business combination.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

BHERKARAE

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Contd)

Distribution network

Distribution network is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over
its estimated useful life of 2.7 years since the date of
acquisition in business combination.

Trademarks

Trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are assessed to have indefinite useful lives since the
date of acquisition in business combination.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

Leases HE

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a FEBRSNRBRTIGHENES

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, BRNEIHEE - HENBREAE

a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use MmaTE—BREBEAREG S HNIE

of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for EFERZ#AN ZENBRHES

consideration. MHE-

Group as a lessee KEFEAEAFAN

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement REBHMERE GEHEEREE

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and EEEMRERRIN HENE — Rkt

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease ERFE - AEEEDAUZMHEER

liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets BxHEEERRAKBEREESR

representing the right to use the underlying assets. R EREESE-

(@)  Right-of-use assets (@) FERAEEE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the FTRAESERNHERKEH
commencement date of the lease (that is the date (BMEREERHEREH)
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of- o FREEERMARER
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated SHTEREFREREE
depreciation and any impairment losses, and THEREMFEHEESE
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. EHBAE - FREEERLSE
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount EERIHMEaB R E
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs SR ERRA RIS
incurred, and lease payments made at or before HERSN 2 BIfEH 2 B E N
the commencement date less any lease incentives MBERBEREEEEZ A
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on HEEREE 2B KRGS
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease AEAFERUREESEE) %
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets BAETENT .
as follows:
Leasehold properties 2 to 7 years GiEN-EY/ES 2ET7E
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to MR ERS 2 EEEE %
the Group by the end of the lease term or the EREEEAEENANARMEBE
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, BREE1THE TEREBEEE G
depreciation is calculated using the estimated SR EREHAET B o

useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

Leases (Contd)

Group as a lessee (Contd)

(b)

BHERKARAE

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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Leases (Contd)

Group as a lessee (Contd)

(c)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of laptops
and office furniture (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to laptops
and office furniture that are considered to be of
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

Investments and other financial assets KRERHEMRHBEE @

(Contd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Contd)) AR 58 (B

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition MHEEETVRREREZ DEEUR
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow RMBEEZENRERFHEAR
characteristics and the Group's business model for ERBEEMBEEZEZHENL BRR
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables BEEAMENDAAEECRLE
that do not contain a significant financing component or EREREER AT ABREAME
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient D e B RUWERTSN REEYE
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing BATEMNE (MMBEELIERA
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset FEFFAEERR XM E6
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at BEE-TEIEAMEIBOHE
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade EEEERBEREES EZERIER
receivables that do not contain a significant financing T RBEBMBIREERNFE 155
component or for which the Group has applied the BMEZRZE®E RET X WmhE
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price SR  BUREITEI R ©

determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and REMBEERBHEMANATE
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other SFATEMEEWGERETEN
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash 2 MBEEEREELEEZNEAE
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest RFAEEXAENE ((EZWEXER
(“SPPI"”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial ME)) Z2RER-BERELIFES
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified NARERFNEZHMBERE  THRAF
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, Bt AEERRDERE MW
irrespective of the business model. EHRN o
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Investments and other financial assets
(Contd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Conta)

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

Investments and other financial assets KRERHMMBEE @

(Contd)

Subsequent measurement BB E

The subsequent measurement of financial assets ERVBEEZHBSHERTUT

depends on their classification as follows: DEEME

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) BIERATECMBEE (B
TH)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently HEIENASHEZBEEAR®

measured using the effective interest method and are RAERANZRES 2 WA EXRER

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised BoZEEKRIER BTN HIRR

in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is B W R EER B m RS o

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other IBEEARATFEFATEEMEZE
comprehensive income (equity investments) Wk BB E (RERS)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify A5 MRy > A B Pl E I AR 8
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments KRERNGEEGtERFEI2RNERM
designated at fair value through other comprehensive TR ERBETNZREEREWIER
income when they meet the definition of equity under EEEFR FHRERE O e
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not DERIEERBAFEST ATHM
held for trading. The classification is determined on an SENEREZ RIERE - a5 128
instrument-by-instrument basis. ATEEEEE-

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never ZEMBEEZ WG REERTSE
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends WEMtABmKx EMIIZE
are recognised as investment and other income in the Az G S AERE 2 &8 ) &= Bl B R A
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has RNEBEBEZKRE S EED FEHE
been established, except when the Group benefits from 2 KREANEGFHEIAKRERE
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the WA > EERERIER IR EIB 75
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded BE—POREZFAERERES
in other comprehensive income. Equity investments BRRIBRSN  RILF B R T ZE W=
designated at fair value through other comprehensive REMEPEKG AR IEERSZEAT
income are not subject to impairment assessment. Bt ATEMEZERGEKRZKRAT

AT SR ET RS-
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

Investments and other financial assets
(Contd)

Subsequent measurement (Contad)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the
equity investments are also recognised as investment
and other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conte) 24 EXEEHR @

BHERKARAE

Derecognition of financial assets (Contd)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent,
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conts) 24 BAREFBER @
Impairment of financial assets (Contd) MBEERE @
General approach —R2 A

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

Impairment of financial assets (Conta)

General approach (Contd)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to

impairment

under the general approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

BHERKARAE

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (Conta)

Simplitied approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, settlement obligations, amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, an amount due
to a related company and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conta) 24 BAREHHBR @
Financial liabilities (Conta) MBaE®
Subsequent measurement BEFE

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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BHERKRARAR

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and deposits with a maturity
of over three months that are held with the objective
to convertible into known amounts of cash in a short
term, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (Contd)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Income tax (Contad) FRiSR @

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the FRIEMIBEEREBBEUEREEDLN
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when BEBBRZHBEERER 2R
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 2 UWMUREHAREEMHEE LB
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or Bz MR (RIRE) BER

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset i (LETEEBRT) AEBEERE
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to L PIsREI AT 2 R BT A BRI AR 1B
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and BEMANNBARIESE O EIKEE > ik
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate EMIBEEMELERBEEE AR
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority BE—RBHEEE—FRERBREA
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable REFHEEENAARESERRK
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities EENRSEREERGENERZ
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and FERMERE FEHAG T SWEIEKX
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period TREZREERNBERNEEZEE
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or FRERHAME) MUK 2 PRSI BIRIER
assets are expected to be settled or recovered. IS En BRI IBE B E T A o
Government grants AT BN

Government grants are recognised at their fair value U BE & T2 08 1R A8 W 2N AT 478 B R 8
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will REMmBENT R BNmgEA
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied TERES - MmBh AR IE B8R
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it BB RAMBEHZBRBEI Z A
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over THHEAE M A UL A ©

the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition Wt 2 B 52

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFSHZ W

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised RKEBEREHNZWANE @R
when control of goods or services is transferred to the ZEGIRERERLFER 3K
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration Bk < £ [ TE HA L X 1 5% 5 78 dm S AR
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for BMERERZRE-.

those goods or services.
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Revenue recognition (Contad) Wz FEED ()

Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Revenue recognition (Contad)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)

(a)

Subscription solutions

Software as a Service (“SaaS")

The Group provides SaaS which is a cloud-based
software and related services to paying merchants.
The Group is responsible to deliver the cloud-based
software and ensure the paying merchants have
the right to access the cloud-based software in a
stable way.

Revenue from SaaS includes fixed subscription
fees and additional cloud service fees. Fixed
subscription fees are recognised over time on a
ratable basis over the contract term beginning
from the date when the cloud-based software is
accessible to the paying merchants. Additional
cloud service fees are generally calculated based
on the number of transactions processed through
the SaaS products and are recognised at a point in
time when the services are provided.
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Revenue recognition (Contad)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)

(a)

BHERKARAE

Subscription solutions (Contad)

Customisation services

The Group provides customisation services based
on standardised SaaS products to the paying
merchants. Revenue from customisation services
is recognised when control over the customised
SaaS products has been transferred to the paying
merchants. The paying merchants cannot receive
and consume the benefits simultaneously from
the customised SaaS products as well as control
the customised SaaS products until the products
have been delivered to the paying merchants.
The customised SaaS products generally have no
alternative use for the Group due to contractual
restrictions. However, an enforceable right to
payment does not arise until the customised
SaaS products are transferred to the customer.
Therefore, revenue from customisation services is
recognised at a point in time when the customised
Saa$S products are passed to the paying merchants.
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Revenue recognition (Contad)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)

(b)

Merchant solutions

Third party payment services

The Group provides third party payment services
to help payees accepting, processing and settling
payment transactions of payers in various
payment scenarios. The Group charges the payee
a transaction fee that is generally calculated as
a percentage of the total transaction amount
processed and the Group has the right to decide
the charging fee rate.

The Group controls the specified service before
that service is transferred to the payees and
the Group is responsible for (i) identifying and
contracting with the payees which the Group views
as customers, the Group is primarily responsible
for delivering the specified services to the payees;
(i) taking certain risk of loss to the extent that the
cost incurred for processing the transactions for
the payees that cannot be compensated by the
total consideration received from the payees; and
(i) having discretion in setting prices charged to
payees. Therefore, the Group acts as the principal
of these arrangements and recognises revenue
earned and costs incurred related to these
transactions. Revenue from third party payment
services is recognised at a point in time when the
customer benefits from the services.
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Revenue recognition (Contad)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)

(b)

BHERKARAE

Merchant solutions (Contad)

Advertisements

The Group arranges online marketing services
to advertisers. Advertisement charge rate is
prescribed by the social media. Social media grant
to the Group rebates in the form of prepayments
for the social media’s services mainly based on the
gross spending of the advertisers. Advertisers are
usually required to pay in advance for the online
marketing services.

The Group is an agent in this arrangement as
the Group does not control the specified service
before that service is delivered to the customer,
because it is the social media, rather than the
Group, who is primarily responsible for providing
the online marketing services to the advertisers.
Therefore, the Group is not the principal in
executing these transactions. The Group
recognises agreed rebates from social media as
revenue at a point in time when the advertisers
benefit from the services.
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Revenue recognition (Contad)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd)
(b) Merchant solutions (Cont'd)

Other value-added services

The Group collects service fees from other
value-added services, including online traffic
monetisation (Youzanke - BE %), merchandise
sourcing and distribution (Youzan Distribution — &
B 438H), consumer protection (Youzan Guarantee
- BEE(R), etc. The merchants are benefited
from the above services only when the consumers
accepted or received the underlying goods or
services purchased from merchants, therefore
revenue from these services is recognised at
a point in time when the goods or services are
delivered to the customers of the merchants.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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BHERKARAE

Contract costs

An entity shall recognise as an asset the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if the entity
expects to recover those costs.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that an entity incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained (for example, a sales commission).

Costs to obtain a contract that would have been incurred
regardless of whether the contract was obtained shall be
recognised as an expense when incurred, unless those
costs are explicitly chargeable to the customer regardless
of whether the contract is obtained.

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in

the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.
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Contract costs (Contad)

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group's channel partners introduce merchants to the
Group and are remunerated by commission based on
certain percentage of the subscription fee. The Group's
channel partners are required to follow the Group's
pricing policy, and the Group is primarily responsible for
the provision of service. Commissions paid to channel
partners are incremental costs of obtaining contracts and
are recognised as “capitalised contract costs” followed
by charging into selling expenses on a rateable basis
which is in line with the revenue recognition.

Costs to fulfil performance obligation of customisation
services are recognised as “capitalised contract costs”
followed by charging into cost of sales when the
customised SaaS products are received and accepted
by paying merchants which is in line with the revenue
recognition.

Transaction costs paid to upstream payment service
providers to fulfil the performance obligation of third
party payment services are costs to fulfil contracts and
are recognised as “capitalised contract costs” followed
by charging into costs of sales which is in line with the
revenue recognition.
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Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes and share
award schemes. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to
an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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Share-based payments (Conta)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conts) 24 BAREFBER @
Other employee benefits HitiE S &7
Pension scheme BUNzEE

The Group participates in the national pension schemes
as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has
operations.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue,
about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period, it will assess whether the information affects the
amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial
statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to
those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group
will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-
adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if
applicable.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong
Kong dollar (“HKD"). As the major revenues and assets
of the Group are derived from operations in Mainland
China, RMB is chosen as the presentation currency
to present the financial statements. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (Contad)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of the initial transaction is the date on which the Group
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.
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Foreign currencies (Contad)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Judgements (Conta)

Gross versus net revenue recognition

The determination of whether revenue should be
reported on a gross or net basis is based on an
assessment of whether the Group is acting as a principal
or an agent in the transaction. If the Group is acting as
a principal in a transaction, the Group reports revenue
on a gross basis. If the Group is acting as an agent in a
transaction, the Group reports revenue on a net basis.
The determination of whether the Group is acting as a
principal or an agent in a transaction involves judgement
and is based on an evaluation of the terms of the
arrangement. The Group is considered a principal if it
controls a promised good or service before transferring
that good or service to the customer. The Group
considers several factors to determine if it controls the
good or service and therefore is the principal. These
factors include: (a) if the Group is primarily responsible
for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good
or service; (b) if the Group has inventory risk before
the specified good or service has been transferred to a
customer or after the transfer of control to the customer;
and (c) if the Group has discretion in establishing price for
the specified good or service.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits, together with future tax planning
strategies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Judgements (Conta)
Deferred tax assets (Contd)

The Group has tax losses of RMB3,845,513,000 (2023:
RMB3,701,896,000) carried forward. Deferred tax
assets of RMBb55,324,000 (2023: RMB 68,772,000) are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which unused tax losses
can be utilised. The remaining unused tax losses related
to subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not
expired, and may not be used to offset taxable income
elsewhere in the Group. The subsidiaries have neither
any taxable temporary difference nor any tax planning
opportunities available that could partly support the
recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. On
this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot
recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried
forward. Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in
note 32 to the financial statements.

Intangible assets — trademarks assessed to have
indefinite useful life

The trademarks have a legal life of ten years but are
renewable every ten years at little cost and are well
established. The Group intends to renew the trademarks
continuously and evidence supports its ability to do so.
The trademarks are assessed to have indefinite useful
lives as at the end of the reporting period as there is no
foreseeable limit to the period over which these assets
are expected to generate cash flows for the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was RMB341,326,000
(2023: RMB341,326,000). Further details are given in
note 15.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
factoring loan receivables and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on ageing
for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type and customer
type). The Group has applied the general approach to
provide for ECLs for factoring loan receivables and
other receivables and considered the default event,
historical loss rate and adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit
loss rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Estimation uncertainty (Contad)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

and other receivables (Contd)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults, the historical default
rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables, factoring loan receivables and other
receivables is disclosed in notes 21, 22 and 23 to the
financial statements, respectively.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Estimation uncertainty (Contad)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay’ which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are
not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Estimation uncertainty (Contad)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Further details are set forth in
notes 13, 14, 16, 17 and 23 to the financial statements.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

3.

EXRGHE KRGS @

st FRERR @

FFRIBEEE (BELS) HlE
AEBNSREHARTEEIEM
HEE (BREEAREE) 208 H
WP RETLRRE - BRAETE
ESFETRERR  WEHIRME
FREETAS HMIFMBEE
RAPRETIREE R SEE AU E
RETRENR HEENREE
TEMNNREEBBEATWEIEER
B QIR E JlEsBERER
FEAHENFAHCERBEETHN
K2E - AT ERHENEZELE
ERFREZTEORNVFEERS
FIREENRERETEERRALE
BEENEENTAE -EfEHEAE
B EEERMATEENREELE
BUNBRARRRERE  MERSG
BHMREXUFEZFRERNER
B-E—DHFBEHNUBHRKRMEE
1321416~ 17523 °

YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

3.

BHERKRARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (contd)

Estimation uncertainty (Contad)

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the
Group makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity
and size differences. The Group classifies the fair value
of these investments as Level 3. The fair values of the
unlisted equity investments recognised as financial
assets at FVTPL and equity investments designated at
FVTOCI at 31 December 2024 were RMB282,975,000
(2023: RMB282,374,000) and RMB73,225,000 (2023:
RMB66,298,000), respectively. Further details are
included in note 18 and note 19 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Third party payment services segment engages in
the provision of third party payment services and
related consultancy services;

(b) Merchant services segment engages in the
provision of e-commerce platforms with a variety
of SaaS products and comprehensive services
through Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries
(“Youzan Group"), which owns Youzan WeiMall,
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and other SaaS
products; and

(c) Others segment mainly engages in the provision of
factoring and guarantee business.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Contd)

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of
adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss
before tax is measured consistently with the Group's
loss before tax except that equity-settled share-based
payments, fair value gains/losses from the Group's
financial instruments as well as corporate and other
unallocated income and expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude goodwill, financial assets
at FVTPL, equity investments designated at FVTOCI,
deferred tax assets, indemnification asset and other
unallocated corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities, withholding tax payable and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024 “EUFE+_"A=1+—H
7|
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFTWER @
(Contd)
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z-_NE+-A=+—-HLEEE
Third party Merchant
payment services services Others Total
SRE BRI Kt @3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFR AREFR ARETFR
Segment revenue (note b) iUk (HiE5)
Sales to external customers HETIGER 313,113 1,120,521 8,657 1,442,291
Intersegment sales an i 73 59,518 = 59,591
Total segment revenue N ER AR LR 313,186 1,180,039 8,657 1,501,882
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales DRI E R (59,591)
Revenue 6 1,442,291
Segment results DEREE 93,653 (57,590) 8,726 44,789
Reconciliation: Bk
Equity-settled share-based payments RRREERN S IHIE (173,590)
Changes in fair value of BATEFATERRZ
financial assets at FVTPL IHEEZ ATEED 488
Corporate and other unallocated EEREMKIERAKRRES
income and expenses, net Pt (273352)
Loss before tax BRiRAIEE (155,665)
Segment assets NEEE 3,482,548 1454574 140,438 5,077,560
Reconciliation: Bk
Goodwill BE 341,326
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFATEREZ
MBEE 282,975
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI EEARATESATEM
2ANGERZRERE 73,225
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 34,500
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMADIEEE 101,625
Total assets BERE 5,911,211
Segment liabilities HiaE 3,317774 1,411,057 881 4,729,712
Reconciliation: Bk
Tax payable FEfIHIA 3,863
Deferred tax liabilities BEREERE 92,996
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMKIEERE 9,149
Total liabilities BEEE 4,835,720
Other segment information Htp &
Reversal of impairment losses in the statement of A1 & A
profit or loss, net BB T - (5,843) - (5,843)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 1,554 88,810 - 90,364
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs BRMERAMARE - 147,470 - 147470
Gain on derecognition of other payables RIFREREMENRIEZ MR - (8,309) - (8,309)
Interest income FIBHA (12,416) (15,717) (210) (28,343)
Interest expenses FIEREX 70 23,365 - 23,435
Capital expenditure* BARES* 8,01 36,431 s 44,442
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and ~ * ERNGE: PJE# | 2E S B T 8l A [
equipment and right-of-use assets, capitalised contract costs BEENARE BEAbaMAKRIEENHA
and non-current prepayments, other receivables and other FEAT FRIE ~ E A WG IE B L E o
assets.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

REDHER @

(Contd)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZZ-F+A=+—HILEFE
Third party Merchant
payment serwces services Others Total
iiﬁﬁﬁi’& EEL ] Hith mst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AREF AREFR
Segment revenue (note 5) S EREs (I5E5)
Sales to external customers HETINBER 310,521 1,132,358 5,497 1,448,376
Intersegment sales DERHE = 1,630 = 1,530
Total segment revenue DEW BT 310,521 1,133,888 5,497 1,449,906
Reconciliation: HeE
Elimination of intersegment sales DD E (1,530)
Revenue W gs 1,448,376
Segment results DEBEE 78,018 (75,550) 5,466 7934
Reconciliation: Thk .
Equity-settled share-based payments Hﬂ&mﬁﬁyfﬁi’iﬁrﬂg (10,619)
Changes in fair value of BATEHATEREZ
financial assets at FVTPL MRBEEZATEED (3,690)
Corporate and other unallocated EEREMADERARES
income and expenses, net Pt (46,250)
Loss before tax BRiRAIER (52,625)
Segment assets HEEE 2,767423 1,574,813 74,793 4,417029
Reconciliation: k.
Goodwill S 341,326
Financial assets at FVTPL I’Q/&Trfﬁ HATERRERZ
MBEE 282,374
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI EEARATFEFATEM
SENERZRERE 66,298
Deferred tax assets ﬁkﬁlﬁ BE 70,257
Indemnification asset BE 179,797
Corporate and other unallocated assets ﬁ¥&ﬁfﬂ*ﬁ@ﬂ§fg 37933
Total assets BEME 5,395,014
Segment liabilities HiaE 2,504,885 1,550,915 3,588 4,059,388
Reconciliation: Ear
Tax payable FE(ITRIE 2,080
Withholding tax payable FEfITBINM 179,797
Deferred tax liabilities RIS E 127720
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMKIEERE 17139
Total liabilities BREE 4,386,124
Other segment information Hitr3HE
Impairment losses recognised in the statement of ~ FIEE R AT
profit or loss, net REEE FE - 4,222 - 4,222
Depreciation and amortisation fﬁ%&}%ﬁ 7905 94,893 = 102,798
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs BRCEH MBS - 180,460 - 180,460
Gain on derecognition of other payables RIEREREMENRE MR - (20,719) - (20,719)
Interest income FIEWA (15,469) (17271) (263) (33,003)
Interest expenses MERAx 122 27423 - 27545
Capital expenditure* EENGRA - 38,300 - 38,300
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and  *

equipment and right-of-use assets, capitalised contract costs
and non-current prepayments, other receivables and other

assets.
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(Contd)

(a)

(b)

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RKEDFEE @
Geographical information HEEN
Revenue from external customers (@)  FKEIEESZWam
2024 2023
—EomE ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BFT
The PRC [ 1,438,129 1,444,574
Canada MmEKX 2,182 2,176
United States of America EFERERE 1,373 =
Japan H 7 607 1,626
Total revenue W 4B 1,442,291 1,448,376
The revenue information above is based on the ot mER U E BT EHR
locations of the customers. HERo
Non-current assets b) FETEEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —S-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®FT
The PRC I 1,021,168 1,088,078
Other countries/regions HtBExR, e 13 329
Total non-current assets IERBNE E4EE 1,021,281 1,088,407
The non-current asset information above is based T IERBEEENUEE

BHERKRARAR

on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial assets at FVTPL, equity investments
designated at FVTOCI, deferred tax assets and
financial assets included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets.
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. KEDHEE @

(Contd)

Information about major customers FEXFRER

No revenue from the Group's sales to a single customer RERESHPE AEERE—XKL I
or a group of customers under common control STHEEZEGNN—HETRHE 2 WA
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue for HRFEAEBWKGT Z10%HA Lo

each reporting period.

REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER 5. W@ -KREREMBAUKRE
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND Uz K 518 > 7FEH

LOSSES, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

W AT

2024 2023
“EImE T =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers
Subscription Solutions

Merchant Solutions
Others

Total

KEEREHNZWE

) Ve 780,638 838,725
KRR 2 658,215 605,929
Hih 3,438 3,722
4Est 1,442,291 1,448,376
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“ETMFE+"A=+—H

5. REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER 5. H&ﬁ‘??ﬁﬁ_&ﬁ%ﬂ&kuﬁﬁ
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND fthil s Kz E548 > B %A (@)
LOSSES, NET (conta)

Revenue from contracts with customers REBEREHZINE
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information @ Dl EER
For the year ended BE_ZF_@m&E Third party
31 December 2024 +-BA=+—-HILEE payment Merchant
services services Others Total
B=H
Z IR ARRE Hith 1t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#ETrn AR®TT AR%®Tn ARETR®
Types of goods or services & mEiARFIER
Subscription Solutions SIRBARR - 780,638 - 780,638
Merchant Solutions EER: FVES 313,113 336,445 8,657 658,215
Others Hift - 3,438 - 3,438
Total 1t 313,113 1,120,521 8,657 1,442,291
Geographical markets &%
The PRC s 313,113 1,116,359 8,657 1,438,129
Canada IIEYN - 2,182 - 2,182
United States of America EHRERE - 1,373 - 1,373
Japan BA& - 607 - 607
Total st 313,113 1,120,521 8,657 1,442,291
Timing of revenue W25 B SR RE BE
recognition
Goods or services transferred 1 E—BS R 2E
at a point in time 2B mIIRE 313,113 387,169 - 700,282
Services transferred over time  7F—ERFE Ry E:2
Z Bk - 733,352 8,657 742,009
Total 1t 313,113 1,120,521 8,657 1,442,291
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER 5. W= ﬁ:ﬁ_&ﬁﬂﬂuﬁ)\l—xglﬁ
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND fthis == 2 E548 0 7388 @)
LOSSES, NET (conta)
Revenue from contracts with customers kEBERESHZKE @)
(Contd)
(@)  Disaggregated revenue information (Contd) (@ DI EN (B)
For the year ended S —— Third party
31 December 2023 +ZA=+—HLEFE payment Merchant
services services Others Total
B=hH
ZRE BRRH Hith 4@zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT AE®Tx AREFTT AR®TR
Types of goods or services el iRF5 4R
Subscription Solutions A EBAAR - 838,725 - 838,725
Merchant Solutions BRERAAR 310,521 289,911 5,497 605,929
Others Hith - 3,722 - 3,722
Total st 310,521 1,132,358 5,497 1,448,376
Geographical markets & s
The PRC e 310,521 1,128,556 5,497 1,444 574
Canada MEX = 2,176 = 2,176
Japan RN - 1,626 - 1,626
Total 4zt 310,521 1,132,358 5,497 1,448,376
Timing of revenue W25 B SR RE BE
recognition
Goods or services transferred P E—E 252
at a point in time ZEmYR% 310,521 333,875 - 644,396
Services transferred over time  E—ERE I &2
ZBR% - 798,483 5,497 803,980
Total 4t 310,521 1,132,358 5,497 1,448,376
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5. REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES, NET (Conta)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Contd)

(a)

(b)

BHERKRARAR

Disaggregated revenue information (Contd)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

5.

Was IR E R EMRA LR HE

il R 548 B8R @

KEERENZWE @)

(@) D aEHX (B

TR R & B R 16 B
SEAGHNEENNARSH

were included in the contract liabilities at the POREER N S5 S % ¢
beginning of the reporting period:
2024 2023
—TomEgE T =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Revenue recognised that was PR EHARERSTAGHY

included in contract liabilities at the ~ BEMBRERINE !
beginning of the reporting period:
Subscription Solutions SRR T R
Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

SaaS

The performance obligation is satisfied over the
contractual term of one to three years starting from
the date when the customer has access to the
cloud-based software. The fixed subscription fees
are normally required to be paid in advance while
the variable cloud service fees are automatically
settled at the same date of completion of services.

Customisation services

The performance obligation is satisfied when
the customised SaaS product is delivered and
accepted by the customer and payment is
generally due within three to six months, except
that a certain percentage of contract sum is
required to be prepaid by the customer.

“EBE_NEFER

(b)

585,578 620,136
JEAIE T
ERAEEBNETEINEN
BT
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REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES, NET (Conta)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Contd)

(b)

Performance obligations (Contd)

Third party payment services

The performance obligation is satisfied when
the services are provided, and payment is
automatically settled at the same date of
completion of services.

Advertisements

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
advertisers arrange the advertisement service on
the social media. The settlement and payment
is generally due within one month by the social
media.

Other value-added services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
services are provided. The settlement and payment
is generally due within three months.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

5. Wi IREREMBAURE
il R 548 B8R @

KEERENZWE @@

(b)

IBRIEE ()

B IRE
BOEERIRHARE R ERR
RN RFTERE B BEGE

=
=

EE
BHEBERESHELRE
e LR PFESIRBREM 1L
Ry —RI— @R AR
EE KRR

HEthE ERE
BOEER IR MR RERR
BEERNR—RR=EARX
2IER -

R+ZRA=+—H>DEEH
TRMBME CREMSED K
Ep) MRZEREERNT

2024 2023

—_E-OF —ET=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AREBTT

Amounts expected to be TRHAE SR AW EAI TR -
recognised as revenue:

Within one year —FRN 437,385 585,578
After one year —F% 207,135 59,488
Total 5 644,520 645,066

YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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31 DECEMBER 2024

5. REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER 5.
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES, NET (Conta)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Contad)

(b)  Performance obligations (Contd)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue after one
year relate to SaaS, of which the performance
obligations are to be satisfied within three years.
All the other amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
are expected to be recognised as revenue within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

Wt~ B REMBRAURE
il R 548 B8R @

KEERENZWE @)

b) BHYEE &)

TR —F RS A W
NOREHFTERNBTENR
DERSHEERR=ZGFENE
BB ENSaaSERIFIE
HMAEEF TRERAOTMEN
REpERTRBARR—FR
HESD AU - LR BRI ER
WA EIEZ PREI AT BB -

An analysis of investment and other income is as follows: KEREMBA DU T :
2024 2023
“EmE 2=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Interest income from bank deposits IRITERBIF BULA 21,571 23,332
Interest income from central bank R OLERITEIF] B U 8,732 11,660
Investment income received BB WA 1,082 920
Government grants (note (a)) BT AL (FY5E(a) 2,376 7,866
Rental income from operating KRERELHZ
leases arrangements HEWA 1,233 1,226
Others Hh 7,196 7542
Total HEEt 42,190 52,546
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REVENUE, INVESTMENT AND OTHER 5.
INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND

LOSSES, NET (contd)

Note (a):

The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded
by the local governments to support the Group’s operations.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached

to these government grants.

An analysis of other gains and losses, net is as follows:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

Bi5E(a):

Wt~ B REMBRAURE
il R 548 B8R @

B AT EEE AR TAER
UXFHHEENRE - ZEBUN MM
BEM AR ERAR R NAFE -

Bt K &5 18 2 BRI T ©

2024 2023
T E T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETT

Gain on derecognition of other payables & IEFESR E I R IE
Z W 8,309 20,719

Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYZE BERRE
plant and equipment, net IBE W 358 587 220
Write-off of property, plant and equipment  #if441% - B = K2 H (611) (195)
Gain on termination of leases, net RIEFEE 2 W > 358 851 -
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R ZE%E » JFEE (483) (1,633)
Late fees and penalties BHERKSE (31,393) -

Liquidated damages for early RERIEHAECZETE

termination of lease BERES (3,051) -
Others Hh (6,301) 2,583
Total st (32,092) 21,694
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMB

6. LOSS BEFORETAX

ER 2024

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

6. PRMIAIESIE
AEBEBRAGEDENR (6

(crediting): A) UTRIBEERER !
2024 2023
“gmE ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBTT AR®T
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEMAX 368 1,941
Cost of services provided BIRHERFB A 463,718 444,290
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #)% B E K&
equipment REITE 13 5,050 9,848
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {EFREEERFE 14(a) 5,787 12,077
Amortisation of intangible assets*  HE & E#HIH* 16 79,749 81,126
Amortisation of capitalised contract &z L& 4 Ak 2~ 55
costs 147,470 180,460
Research and development PRI R B EE sz H**
expenditure** 191,677 191,484
Lease payments not included in the Xzt AFREEEtE
measurement of lease liabilities R EN=ENEN 14(c) 5,244 1,435
Auditor’s remuneration Z B EMEN & 3,000 6,137
Employee benefit expense (excluding 18 8 @55
directors’ and chief executive's FEEEER
remuneration (note 8)): RE{THAR
o (B9E8)) -
Wages and salaries TERE 603,575 709,380
Pension scheme contributions* * * RIKEETEI R ** 46,215 44,960
Equity-settled share-based RSP 2
payments FRIE 173,562 8,692
Termination benefits el =yl 10,042 13,188
Total #a5t 833,394 776,220
BENBARASN — T _mEsR 223



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Contad)

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (Contd)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

6. FRMRAIEE @

AEBRRATBE &N, (G
A UTEERER : (8)

2024 2023
—EZNE =%
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Mz  AREBTRT AREBTT

Impairment of financial assets, net: # & ERE > FE8 !

(Reversal of impairment)/ FEUWTER R Rt & #[2))
impairment of trade /BB BRE
receivables, net 21 (3,650) 2,656
(Reversal of impairment)/ STATRERIE 2
impairment of financial assets FEW R IE R EME
included in prepayments, EZHMHEE OB
other receivables and E#E) RE
other assets 23 (2,193) 1,566
Total 5 (5,843) 4,222
Reversal of write-down of inventories $#[E]l77 & #MUHE
to net realisable value o373 E 20 - (734)

The amortisation of intangible assets is included in
“Amortisation of intangible assets” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

*x Research and development expenditure is included in
"Equity-settled share-based payments” and “Research
and development costs” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

***  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

224

* BILEEREFAGRIERR
MR B E ) o

o MRkAEZEF ARG RRERT
B9 TR #E 45 B AR 17 S (9 "R IE L K THA
R BRI
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

7 FINANCE COSTS 7 AT RZs
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: IR AR TUT -
2024 2023
—EomE T =fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFRT AR®TFIT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 5,666 18,732
Interest on other borrowings HERZHE 10,185 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZHE 7621 8,880
Total “mst 23,472 27612

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

EFR&ESTTHRASHM

FARB LR FEEARFEA
55383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K ()R LA K A B

REEZENEER) ROIF280
BENEFEKESTHRABHM

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: S
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Fx ARETFT
Fees e 792 792

Other emoluments: HME :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind TE R REYH @ 8,065 7466
Discretionary bonuses EUIBTEAL 4,127 3,705
Equity-settled share-based payments e E IR (D (T IB 28 1,927
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIMHRR 236 207
Subtotal NEE 12,456 13,305
Total fees and other emoluments WE R EMBN T ARZE 13,248 14,097
ARNEARAT —S-NEER 225



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

8.

226

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Conta)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain
directors were granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in the statement of
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in
the above directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

8.

EERRESTHRASHM @

BE_Z_=—F+-H=+—H
IEFEE REFAB ZBERES
B ETESWREFANERRMH
IRBMERBRE BREIE—TF
BN BRERW 34 - ZFBR
BZAFERREBHEE 5
BEHAAEERmRTER MstA
RAEFEMBERERZSHECET
FEER&ESITEA S B

BEAe

(a) WIUFRITES

The fees paid to independent non-executive FRXNFTEILERNITES
directors during the year were as follows: HNEEWT

2024 2023

ZTTE T =F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®T

Dr. Fong Chi Wah AEEELT 264 264

Mr. Deng Tao BELE 264 264

Mr. Li Shaojie =MEEE 264 264

Total 5t 792 792

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2023: nil).

FAMERVEILIIFNGTE

EHNHMM 2 (

) -

5 _ =
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Conta)

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

8. EFKRSITHAEHMN @

(b) Executive directors (b) FITES
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits  Discretionary  share-based scheme Total
in kind bonuses payments  contributions remuneration
_ B
TE 2R GHERfR  BUEHE
BYfE HETa XA A asm
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR
2024 “ECmE
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. Zhu Ning* RELE 2,276 1,217 7 59 3,559
Mr. Cui Yusong R 2,100 864 7 59 3,030
Mr. YuTao MELE 1,966 992 7 59 3,024
Ms. Ying Hangyan Emstut 1,723 1,054 7 59 2,843
Total et 8,065 4127 28 236 12,456
* Mr. Zhu Ning is also the chief executive of the * RERENAERRAZ R
Company. EITBAE-
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits  Discretionary share-based scheme Total
in kind bonuses payments  contributions  remuneration
fiE
TE R RERN  BHREEHE
RENF G ByIETEAL SHRE e |
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTn  AREFfr ARETT ARETn  ARET:
2023 B CE
Executive directors: WIEE .
Mr. Zhu Ning* RELE* 2,122 1,093 834 51 4,100
Mr. Cui Yusong EERMEE 1,948 837 365 52 3,202
Mr. Yu Tao AIELE 1818 1,043 363 52 3276
Ms. Ying Hangyan stz 1,578 732 365 52 2,727
Total st 7466 3,705 1,927 207 13,306
e Mr. Zhu Ning is also the chief executive of the * KERETRBEARAZE
Company. BITHBAG-

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year.

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

FATESFHRENE T
FAEFF BN Z 5
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

228

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four executive directors (2023: four executive directors),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining one (2023: one) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
are as follows:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

hnEEHMES
FRELREHNEEQENGH
TES(CE-=FOENTE
%) - HEB BRI LS o
FERBT R (CE-=F: —2) 1
FAAREF RS FEARNE
B RS HHEm T

2024 2023
—EZNE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT ARBETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ITE R REYH @ 2,356 2,943
Equity-settled share-based payments I RS B R0 2B - 227
Pension scheme contributions BIARBEEIHR 43 48
Total HESt 2,399 3,218
The number of non-director and non-chief executive HFMNAEUTHEENTIFEEN R
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within SITBEABZERSHMEEAHN
the following bands is as follows: S <
Number of employees
BEEA#

2024 2023

—EE -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 775 E3,000,0007 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 23,500,00078 7T - 1
Total et 1 1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

10.

BHERKARAE

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Pursuant to the relevant tax law of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year ended 31 December 2024. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax was required since the Group had no
assessable profit during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The provision for Mainland China current income
tax is based on the statutory rate of 25% of the
assessable profits of certain PRC subsidiaries of the
Group as determined in accordance with the PRC
Corporate Income Tax Law which was approved and
became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China which are
granted tax concession and are taxed at preferential tax
rates.

Hangzhou Youzan was qualified as a High and New
Technology Enterprise on 30 November 2018 and
the qualification was renewed on 6 December 2024.
Hangzhou Youzan was entitled to a preferential income
tax rate of 15% (2023:15%) during the year.

Beijing Gaohuitong is qualified as a High and New
Technology Enterprise on 21 October 2020 and the
qualification was renewed on 26 October 2023. Beijing
Gaohuitong was entitled to a preferential income tax rate
of 15% (2023:15%) during the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

10.

FRiSii
AEEARBEREENTEENE
REREMA I REEEXFAER
ZREELIREERAEEEZ
A AP 1S AR ©

RBEAREZARER  AEEE
AN B REZERFRER

BE_TNME+-_A=+—HL
FE G RESERFINITHEERR
FORBEBEEZGSERNERN
1#16.5% 2 ME BN E BFER - H
RAEERBE_E-_=F+="A4
=+ —BLEFERTEEMERR
mA] o BB RHRE BN SRR

BE_ZTZNE-—RB—BERZ(P
EARHANBEEEMRBRZE) &
ERETHENB AR REEREK
25% 5t 12 P E A i B HAFR 1S 10 2
FERRI A A EE P PR A=
ERBEERREERNTFERNZE
THBATIFRIN

FINBER -_Z—-—N\E+—B=+
HESSHEMEXERRNR -Z
“HHFE+ZRANEEHARERL M
MEEFRNER15% CEZ=F"
156%) ZFTISIMEBEREK -

TR EBN _S2_ZFF£+ 8
T+ HESEWRNTEEBERK
R-ZE_=F+B-+BEHB
HER RS EREFTFRNEZE15%
(CE-=%F:15%) ZFRIEIRER
L

ELft 075 FE SRAR A 2 IIBE ek
EECE IR B RTME
st
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

10.

230

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

INCOME TAX (Conta) 10. FRiSR @
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Current — Mainland China BPHEA— AR P 3
Charge for the year FRMZ 9,138 11,305
Under-provision in prior years BEFEREAR 13 185
Current — Hong Kong BHR—& A
Under-provision in prior years BREFEREBIE - 106
Deferred (note 32) IRIE (FH5E32) 1,033 (13,746)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year FRRERS HER)
EEE 10,184 (2,150)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before REAEETEREMED iEE

tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction where the
operations of the Group are substantially based to the tax
expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows:

EEMRF BRI ERE A
MIBR R RIZERR KRG ENRE
fisz” (GE%) BUEIRMT !

2024 2023
“gEmE ===
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®BFr AR®Tx
Loss before tax PRI AIES 18 (155,665) (52,625)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMREGTENRIE (36,073) (13,156)
Preferential income tax rates applicable to  BRARKEB AT Z
subsidiaries BEMERE 23,237 (1,822)
Additional deductible allowance for Bt 35 B AN RE S T PR B
research and development costs (26,035) (24,172)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of B AR BN HAIR B
previous periods 13 291
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIEL 29,628 17080
Income not subject to tax BEZRRUA (416) (6,114)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods EEABFARRIEEIE (726) (2,162)
Temporary differences and tax losses not ~ RFEDE R =28
recognised KRIRIBE1E 20,556 27905
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group's BAEBEBRREAEZ
effective rate RIEFS (E%) 10,184 (2,150)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

1.

12.

BHERKARAE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared and paid by the Company
during the year.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 32,681,521,000 (2023: 18,466,825,000) outstanding
during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares
arising from awarded shares and share options granted
by the Company. The calculation of diluted earnings/
(loss) per share for years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 did not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options since the exercise price of the
share options exceeds the average market price.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amounts presented for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as
the impact of the awarded shares outstanding had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts presented.

“EBE_NEFER

—EomE+TA=+—A

1.

12.

s
Py AARBRERRIRRE

BREEBEDFA ARG
skE#, (B8

SREARA (B18) £BELIRE
BABE BB AREFERR
(518 REREBITEERN
W 9#032,681,521,000% (ZE_=
£ ©18,466,825,0000%) st& o

SREERA (BB SBEHREK
BABEBEERTE ABEFERER
Al (BER) StE-TEERZEE
BRMEEHEAAESRELRF
/(B8 FRZ2FERBERITEER
B URBERRE A AT R Z 526
RO REREEEZMBETEE
BERBIETHE SR ZERM
BERTZEBERNMETSHE - TE
BE_ZNERZEI=F+T
B=+—HI-FEZSRE#EERF]
(B518) I mBRBA QBT ZHAKRITHE
BRIEETH REABREZ1TE
BB FEmE.

BE_ZWER_E_-F+
B=1+—HLEE @\l sHs
REAZF] (B518) SEEEHAEE
ERREEREREBRMDEMET
SREARAN (BB 2BAERE

o=
/éﬁ'\jao
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

12.

232

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 12 BREREBEEDRAARM

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Contd)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per

share are based on:

=h

REF, (BHR) @

SREARBERT (BE) HIR

BUTRIESHE !
2024 2023
—ETME =BT =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Earnings/(loss)

Earnings/(loss) attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, used in
the basic and diluted earnings/(loss)

&gH/ (&18)

SAESRERREEER
/ (#B18) FAZEAE
SEEmFA ARG

per share calculation Bmr/ (B8 (176,621) 7429
Number of shares
&8
2024 2023
—ETWEF —_E_=
Shares 3
Weighted average number of ordinary stESRERLE#HEZF
shares outstanding during the year J/ (&518) FRZERE

used in the basic and diluted
earnings/(loss) per share calculation

HITEERMNETFIH

32,681,521,000 18,466,825,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

13. Y% -BEKRSE

Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE BER
MERE MWARE _E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETR AREFR AREFR
31 December 2024 —EmE+ZR=+—H
At 1 January 2024: AR MFE—-F—H:
Cost RN 38,113 46,065 1,989 86,167
Accumulated depreciation and RETERAE
impairment (35,503) (40,184) (1,927) (77.614)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,610 5,881 62 8,553
At 1 January 2024, net of AZEME—-F—H>
accumulated depreciation MERFTERRE
and impairment 2,610 5,881 62 8,553
Additions NE 1,342 31 - 1,373
Written off i34 (611) - - (611)
Disposals HE - (134) - (134)
Depreciation provided during FRERITE (f526)
the year (note 6) (1,376) (3,654) (20) (5,050)
Exchange realignment ERRE S 1 S 1
At 31 December 2024, net of RIZZWE+Z/F=+—Q"
accumulated depreciation NBRBHTERRE
and impairment 1,965 2,125 42 4132
At 31 December 2024: RIBZMFE+ZA=+—H:
Cost R 38,301 42,603 1,989 82,893
Accumulated depreciation and REERAE
impairment (36,336) (40,478) (1,947) (78,761)
Net carrying amount RAFE 1,965 2,125 42 4,132

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

13. YE -BER:SRE @

(Contd)
Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE BRER
MERE WAZE _E Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT AR®ETTT ARETT
31 December 2023 “Z-=F+ZHA=+-H
At 1 January 2023: RN_B_=fF—-F—A:
Cost S 39,766 51,228 2,238 93,232
Accumulated depreciation and REERAE
impairment (34,767) (37.874) (1,852) (74,493)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,999 13,354 336 18,739
At 1 January 2023, net of RIZEZ=F—-F—H>
accumulated depreciation MNBREHTERRE
and impairment 4,999 13,354 386 18,739
Additions NE 423 86 - 509
Written off 6= (171) (24) = (195)
Disposals HE - (572) (85) (657)
Depreciation provided during FRERIE (H526)
the year (note 6) (2,641) (6,968) (239) (9,848)
Exchange realignment FERHE - 5 - 5
At 31 December 2023, net of RZEZ=F+_RA=+—H>
accumulated depreciation MERFITERRE
and impairment 2,610 5,881 62 8,553
At 31 December 2023: AZEZ=F+ZA=1—8:
Cost D% 38,113 46,065 1,989 86,167
Accumulated depreciation and R MERAAE
impairment (35,503) (40,184) (1,927) (77614)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,610 5,881 62 8,553
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for properties used in its
operations. Leases of properties generally have lease
terms between 2 and 7 years. Other operating leases
generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or

are individually of low value.

(@)

BHERKARAE

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

14. 7

FEEEREEA

AEEMHEEERERANYETIL
HEGN -YMEEENEA—RNF
2ET7F - HIEEHERHEA—RS
2EAHU TR/ AR EEEE-

Right-of-use assets @) (EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use FRAEEFEAEEENR
assets and the movements during the year are as HEREESHNT :
follows:
Properties
M
RMB'000
AR¥FTT
As at 1 January 2023 N_E_=—fF—H—H 13,742
Additions NE 8,548
Depreciation charge TEER (12,077)
Exchange realignment PE R 14
As at 31 December 2023 and N TEBT=F
1 January 2024 +-_A=1+—H8xK
—_FE_WFE—A—H 10,227
Additions R"E 12,730
Termination Ik (2,335)
Depreciation charge TEER (5,787)
Exchange realignment PE R 8
As at 31 December 2024 AT _[F
+ZB=+—H 14,843

Certain lessors of the leased properties had not
provided the Group with valid title certificates
or relevant authorisation documents evidencing
their rights to lease the property to the Group.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no right-
of-use assets related to these properties (2023:

RMB2,427000).

“EBE_NEFER

ETHEMENEE AL X
B A B IR H A MERET R
SRR R BEER
NEBHBYENERN R
TIEE+ZA=+—H &
ERUEAZEYEMRBAN
FRAREE (CZE=F'. A
R 1£2,4270007T) °
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31 DECEMBER 2024

14. LEASES (Conto)

236

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

14. HE ®

The Group as a lessee (Contd) TEEEARHEA @
(b)  Lease liabilities b) FHEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FR-HEEENREERE
movements during the year are as follows: ELINN
2024 2023
- 71 - SO
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARET
Carrying amount at 1 January r—HB—HREREE 80,729 93,919
New leases MBS 12,730 8,417
Termination Uk (3,186) =
Accretion of interest recognised FARBEF SIEM
during the year 7,621 8,880
Payments NE (24,804) (30,504)
Exchange realignment b R 2R 15 17
Carrying amount at 31 December R+_B=+—HMK
REE 73,105 80,729
Analysed into: DA
Within one year —FRN 20,387 16,360
In the second to fifth years, E_EEFERE
inclusive (BEEEME) 52,718 64,369

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 41 to the financial statements.

FHEaEMNEBHESTEE
R KM FEL1 0
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

14. LEASES (Conto)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

(c)

()

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation

to leases are as follows:

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

14. HE ®

TEBEAEEAN @
c) WNEZEIREBEE@ENE
REUOE
2024 2023
—_EME —=E=

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities

Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets

Gain on termination of leases, net

expenses and administrative
expenses)

Total amount recognised in
profit or loss

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in
note 36(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its properties in Mainland China
under operating lease arrangements with lease terms
between 1 and 5 years. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB1,233,000 (2023:
RMB1,226,000), details of which are included in note 5 to

the financial statements.

BHERKARAE

“EBE_NEFER

HE&SRANE
ERREEINEER

RIEEE 2 W 2 F 28

Expense relating to short-term leases %2 EATH SARRARE S
(included in selling and distribution

FABm SRRV AR 2R

FtABHE kD HRX
RATH )

7621 8,880
5,787 12,077
(851) =
5,244 1,435
17,801 22,392

(@ HEERRTMHEENRTH
¥R MY 5E36(C) IR EE ©

TEBEEAHBEA
AEBRBLSERNELHHAER
RE B2 FHEAN F1E6F o
HMERR—RERBLREZMRFRE
S WRERBEERIRITHRERB
Bt AEERFEAEEBNASI
ABANRKE,233,000 0 (ZE - =
F . AR¥1,226,0007T) » s BEHPL
RS ER R MIEES o
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

LEASES (conta) 14. #HE®
The Group as a lessor (Contd) TEEEALHBEA @
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments R ZEIMFE+ZA=+—H > &&
receivable by the Group in future periods under operating ERFHEAEBRITINKCEREN
leases with its tenants are as follows: R FEW AR ARIRB ERIEN
T
2024 2023
“EImE —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®T
Within one year —FRN 1,021 1,215
After one year but within two years —FRBREMEFEA 320 937
After two years but within three years MEBRB=FR 132 320
Over three years &M - 132
Total ey 1,473 2,604
GOODWILL 15. BHE
Third party
payment Merchant Youzan
services services Japan Total
$=H Youzan
Z (IR EL Japan st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023, e = R =N
31 December 2023, “ECZF+ZR=+-8»
1 January 2024 and ZEIMFE-F-Ak
31 December 2024: “ETNE+"AZ+—RH:
Cost A 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403
Accumulated impairment REtRE (420,962) (1,622,083) (1,032) (2,044,077)
Net carrying amount REFE 341,326 - - 341,326
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15.

BHERKARAE

GOODWILL (Conta)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

o Third party payment services (“CGU A");

° Merchant services (“CGU B"); and

o Youzan Japan Kabushiki Kaisha (“Youzan Japan”).

Notes:

CGU A belongs to third party payment services segment. CGU
B and Youzan Japan belong to merchant services segment.

CGUA

The recoverable amount of CGU A has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by the directors. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 19.47% (2023:
20.97%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of CGU A beyond the five-year period is 2.0%
(2023: 1.7 %), which is the same as the long term average
growth rate of the relevant industry.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

15.

BE @

EERRENR
BEEBSHEBENEEDETU
TREELEBUETRENR :

o BZAXNVRH ((REELE
BfIAL ;

. BRIRE (TREEEXEM
BN &

. L&t Youzan Japan
("Youzan Japan J) ©

FisE

REEFBUABRE=AZTRE DI
IR& E4 BB Youzan Japan/B it i &K AR
BoEse

B ELEA
HEeESBUANTIREISEERE
REEMWENTFPVEREERE
HNREREEIUEREESEE
BT BARREEREERNAEIRE
#219.47% (B =4 :2097%) °
AREEREEEBMNARFU L
HNRERENEEEXA2.0% (ZF
TE=FIT7%)  EARRETENRR
FIIE R ZEAR[RE o
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15.

240

GOODWILL (Conta)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Conta)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
CGU A for 31 December 2024 and 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Pre-tax discount rates — the discount rates used are
before tax and reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the relevant
units.

Budgeted gross margins — the budgeted gross margins
for the five years subsequent to the date of assessment
are based on past practices and expectations on market
development.

Terminal growth rates — the rates are determined
on industry growth rate in forecast period based on
management experience and on long-term average
economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the relevant units operate.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on pre-tax
discount rates, budgeted gross margins and terminal
growth rates are consistent with external information
sources.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

15.

HE @
BERENS @

STERTELBEVUAR_ZNFR
TR C-HF+RA=+T—HKEA
BEREAZERRKR UTIREE
BEETERFABERENHANRES
MERARFIRENSREIEZRRK

HATA B FE — PR ABIREIR KR 7R
AIARIRE » 7 BRIR A B B Ry (2 AY
MG A R A MBS E R -

AEEHEF-FEEARRLFENTE
BEMNXDERBRENRE TS
BRBYTEHE -

REHEF—RBEERERRARN
B i R A E B R AT 1
WS R HENARNNTERE
ZHE

RAIRETR SR« FE R M R
EXZTBRRNECERIBHE
SESEET
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RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024 “EM&+"A=+—H
16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HfthimpEE
Computer E-commerce Distribution
software applications network Trademarks Total
HERRG STEBER D% [1: Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTR ARBFRT ARBTR ARBFR

31 December 2024 ZE-mE+ZA=+-H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RIEZME—F—HBMA>

accumulated amortisation MRt R A

and impairment - 79,749 - 613,070 692,819
Amortisation provided during the year  F R 5HR Y (i556)

(note 6) - (79,749) - - (79,749)
At 31 December 2024 RZIBZME+-A=+—H - - - 613,070 613,070
At 31 December 2024: RIB-_mE+-B=+—Q:

Cost DN 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation LB RAE

and impairment (4,730) (832,949) (185,069) (329,348) (1,352,096)

Net carrying amount RESE - - - 613,070 613,070
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16.

242

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Contd)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

16. HthEREE @

Computer E-commerce Distribution
software applications network Trademarks
HERRE SIEHER arichires [ELE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR AREFR AREFT ARETR AREFR
31 December 2023 ZEZ=%+ZA=+-H
t 1 January 2023: RZB_=F—-F—H:
Cost EEZIS 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation LB RAE
and impairment (4,730) (672,074) (185,069) (329,348) (1,191,221)
Net carrying amount REEE - 160,875 - 613,070 773,945
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of RIZ2Z=F—F—HMmME>
accumulated amortisation and MRRH B RAE
impairment - 160,875 - 613,070 773,945
Amortisation provided during the year  EREHZES (1516)
(note 6) - (81,126) - -
At 31 December 2023 RZ2_=F+"A=+-H - 79,749 - 613,070 692,819
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=F+"A=+—H
at 1 January 2024: kZEZME-B-H:
Cost DN 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation LB RAE
and impairment (4,730) (753,200) (185,069) (329,348) (1,272,347)
Net carrying amount RESE - 79,749 = 613,070 692,819

As the merchant services segment operated a loss,
the Group performed impairment test annually for CGU
B, whose non-current assets consists of trademarks
with indefinite useful lives, E-commerce applications,
leasehold properties and other property, plant and
equipment. The recoverable amounts of CGU B which
was supported by value-in-use calculations based on
future discounted cash flows were higher than the
carrying amounts of CGU B. Therefore, no impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).

AR ERIRB DL S EHE K&
EeFHREEL BUBETRE
A HIERBEESRAERER
ERERzZER - BEFHHE
ﬁﬁ HEMEREMYZE - BE &

HE-REELBUBZAIWEE
%EELXﬁﬁ RRGIVBEREZ
FHREEFEXR I—Jﬁéfﬁié

FEABZEREE HIL #E

TME+"RA=+— EIJtEV

ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁwﬂ@l&ﬁiﬁ (— )

) ©
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

17 REBEQABRZKRE

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BFTrT AR®ETx

Share of net assets ELEEFRE 218 218
Goodwill on acquisition g STES 31,112 31,112
31,330 31,330

Impairment BB (31,330) (31,330)
Net carrying amount REZEE - -

Particulars of the Group's principal associates at 31

December 2024 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

N\ ZEBRIMFEF-A=+—H'&F&
B ERE AT AT

Percentage of
ownership interest

registration Registered attributable
Name and business share capital to the Group  Principal activities
ML s FEEMEL
218 REEHE BT FrERESEAL TEEHR
Beijing Wallet Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 20%  Provision of consultancy services
ERABRREERAR) for internet operation
TR AERREERAR FE,/ HE R AR R EHEES AR
10,000,0007T
Henan Youjian E-Commerce Co., Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB12,515,000 36.88%  Online trading
("Henan Youjian") (BB R EFHHARAT)
AEEEETEBERAR (TIMER ) FE,/ HE R AR BERS
12,515,0007T
* The English names of these entities registered in * ANTEEBEBRHESEERES

BHERKARAE

the PRC represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as they did not register any official

English names.

“EBE_NEFER

MHEENAXRBEENESHR
X2t Az BERlEEmE
B HEX LR
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17.

18.
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (contd) 17 REERRZERE @
The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share HRELHMEASBEEBERER
of losses of all associates because the share of losses REEABZEm MAERLEE
of the associate exceeded the Group's interests in the EREE—FHR WAEEDKLE
associates and the Group has no obligation to take up BREEMEBE B BB A&
further losses. The amounts of the Group's unrecognised BEAFERRSTREDEBEHTER
share of losses of the associates for the current year and BEENEED A ARK67000
cumulatively were RMB67000 (2023: share of profits of T (ZEZ=F | BHEMNARKE
RMB837000) and RMB5,619,000 (2023: RMB5,552,000), 837,0007t) & AR #5,619,0007T (=
respectively. T~ = ARE#5,552,0007T) °
No associate was individually material to the Group RS SR ENHAEEMS
during the reporting period. BEANEE AT
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. E_’A\:FTE FFATEIERIRZ M
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BFrT AR®Tx
Unlisted equity securities, at fair value JEEMRAES
BRYE 2,434 5,249
Listed preferred shares, at fair value THELR BATE 6,913 =
Unlisted preferred shares, at fair value JEEMEREK BATE 273,628 277125
Total 4ast 282,975 282,374

The above preferred shares were mandatorily classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
the preferred shares have redemption preference and
liguidation preference over ordinary equity shares and
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

tiEERERS EERRNERE
CEEERBEREERE BHGHNR
TREBWIFERSZNEERFAE K’
BEIDERHEATESATEERER
ZHHEE-
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19.

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 19.
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BESBRAFEFATEM
EHWmRZ IRERE

2024 2023
—TomEgE T =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®BTT
Equity investments designated at IEEABRATESA
fair value through other EHMEEKER
comprehensive income ZRIERE
Unlisted equity securities, at fair value JEEMRAES
BAFE
Company A ANEIA 72,960 63,420
Company B ~NEB 265 2,878
Total 4BET 73,225 66,298

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

In April 2023, the Group sold its equity interest in Beijing
Pre employment and Post employment Education
Technology Co., Ltd. bR A REBEHESREERA
&)) as this investment no longer coincided with the
Group's investment strategy. The fair value on the date
of sale was nil and the accumulated loss recognised in
other comprehensive income of RMB5,000,000 was
transferred to accumulated losses.

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

ARAEER B LRBRERERR
BRI E > S B E I E R IR AT
BEFf ATHME2E KGR

NZTEZ-FNA s AERHEHER
ERBABREESRERERARZ
B FRAZBREFCBHAARE
Bz RERE - RNHERRZATE
AT MREMEZERERER 2 Rt
E1E AR 15,000,000t ERER
ETE5IE ©
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

INVENTORIES 20. 78
2024 2023
—E-MFE —Eq =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFT
Finished goods KK MR 3,318 3,343
Impairment AE (2,673) (2,673)
Net carrying amount RERE 645 670
The movements in write-down of inventories to net FEMRETEI B ENESINT -
realisable value are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE S =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Fx ARETFT
At beginning of year REH] 2,673 3,407
Reversal of write-down of inventories to BoFEMRE
net realisable value, net B EIREE ) B - (734)
At end of year REXR 2,673 2,673
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21.

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

TRADE RECEIVABLES FEURBR TR
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT
Trade receivables FE U BR R 36,617 30,489
Impairment BB (4,661) (8,940)
Net carrying amount RERE 31,956 21,549

The Group usually does not grant any credit term to
customers unless some special cases. For those special
case, the Group will grant a credit period less than
90 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

FREBDRRBE RN REBBERE
RIEFREMEEH RFHEHKIE
mmE AEEERTOROBZE
Eff - AEESKREREZEUTRE
MR RS ERIE - SR EERE TR
BHRAE B o ZE E X PRt e AR EEE AT
BUERREXREDHE R AR ALt
TEEEXREERBRETE R T&E
B R E R RS BRI A
R R EMEE R T - BUGR
MBEE e
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (contd) 21. FEURERE @
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end RIS REURR (R ZE BB
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net B W B IREBEEE) ZREDT
of loss allowance, is as follows: o
2024 2023
—E-mE -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARET
Within 3 months 3ER UA 22,276 21,5649
3 to 6 months 3E6ME A 7,693 -
6 to 9 months 6 91E A 1,987 -
Total iy 31,956 21,549
The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade FEWER R 2 BB BB EEEWT -
receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
- 1 - SO
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
At beginning of year REH] 8,940 8,428
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ (R ERs5 8 #E)
impairment losses, net (note 6) BUEETE  F4E (FY5E6) (3,650) 2,656
Amount written off as uncollectible s el M EE < mOIE (629) (2,173)
Exchange realignment PE R - 29
At end of year REXR 4,661 8,940
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting RERSERRBRBEERETH
date using a provision matrix to measure expected B UstETRREEHE HE
credit losses. The provision rates are based on ageing X AEELUEBEANZEARR
for groupings of various customer segments that have DEAESHERETE B ERER
similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type and customer REFABEE) 5t E KRB EMELS
type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted R eBNEBERNERSEHATE
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and NERBESH IR R ARG
supportable information that is available at the reporting REANSERZFMEER -
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.
248 YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Conta)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

21. FEUWRBRFR @@

SR R 8 A Y 7 o L
WBRER O (5 B AR

RIE-NE+Z-A=+—H

Gross carrying

Expected

Expected

amount credit loss rate credit losses
FRHEE

FREARME BEEX FEHREESE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Within 3 months @B UA 22,341 0.29% 65
3 to 6 months 3ZE6EA 7733 0.52% 40
6 to 9 months 6ZE9EA 2,007 1.00% 20
Over 9 months EI= 4,536 100.00% 4,536
Total Hast 36,617 12.73% 4,661

As at 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+"HA=+—H
Gross carrying Expected Expected
amount  credit loss rate credit losses

FEHAEE

IREAEE BEEX HEREEERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 3 months 3B UA 21,549 = =
3 to 6 months 3F6EA 3,865 100.00% 3,865
6 to 9 months 6EIEA 1,431 100.00% 1,431
Over 9 months 9fE B L E 3,644 100.00% 3,644
Total fact 30,489 29.32% 8,940
ARNEARAT —S-NEER 249
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22. FACTORING LOAN RECEIVABLES

23.

250

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

22. EIRFRIBER

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTFT AREBTT

Factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE R 110,562 49,422

The Group held credit enhancements over its factoring
loan receivable balances as independent third parties
guaranteed these balances for the customers in case of

default.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group estimated
the expected credit loss on contract assets to be

minimal.

i,

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

HEEBEEM-

MBS =A"ER ZBIFRE
EMERIRHER HEAEERZE
MR AEERR UMEEL -

mMER_E2-_=#+_1
=+—H ' ARERGFENEENTE

23. FEMRIE - HEWRRIERE

AND OTHER ASSETS & E
2024 2023
—EBomE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTT AR®TT
Prepayments AT RIA 24,658 19,278
Deposits & 6,307 6,805
Other receivables restricted for ERNEBHEEEE
settling settlement obligations H A WRIE 163,566 144,741
Other receivables Hh R IE 45,720 55,308
240,251 226,132
Impairment allowance BERE (3,475) (13,170)
Total #ESt 236,776 212,962
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BPHRER 7> 236,267 212,315
Non-current portion FERDEAER 73 509 647
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31 DECEMBER 2024 —ENE+"HB=+—H

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FAfTTRIAE - HtEWRIERH

AND OTHER ASSETS (conta) HEE @
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment ST A TR RRIE ~ E A WGRIE R Ho A
of financial assets included in prepayments, other BEENMBEEREBBEERED
receivables and other assets are as follows: /(I

2024 2023

—EZNE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AERBETT

At beginning of year R 13,170 11,604
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ CREREER]) RE

impairment losses, net 518 R (2,193) 1,566
Amount written off as uncollectible moRW el M iEE < fIE (7502) -
At end of year RER 3,475 13,170
An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting RERESHBPETRED T - AEE
date. The Group has applied the general approach to BIREBEE BV B RS ERFREA
provide for expected credit losses for other receivables —RAEABEMEWRIEZFBHRE
under HKFRS 9. The Group considered the historical loss BB BE AEENETER
rate and adjusted for forward-looking macroeconomic EEBRBXFETRBEHEEE U
data in calculating the expected credit loss rate. B R R A B BIREH R EE o
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

24. CAPITALISED CONTRACT COSTS 24, BA(LAMRA
2024 2023

“¥CmE CFC=
RMB'000  RMB'000

252

ARBFRT AREBTT

Incremental costs capitalised of obtaining

KSR EGHIN

contracts of subscription solutions BEXRCIEE A 133,200 145,227
Fulfilment costs of customisation services € fill R 75 8 49 Al 4~ 5,625 3,605
Fulfilment costs of third party payment B ZIIRBEAMA

services 6,708 7521
Total #Est 145,533 156,253
Analysed into: PWA

Current portion TMENEL D 97,623 120,771

Non-current portion JERBNEL 47910 35,482
Capitalised contract costs are determined on the BEXRLECENMANLREBEHRAEFET
actual costs incurred to obtain a contract or fulfil the TYRHNNEITRB ZEBAOEERR
performance obligation of services with a customer. EX2ERNEABE BEARLEEL
Capitalised contract costs are subsequently amortised on RAEBERAGICELEZE > IR
a systematic basis, that reflects the pattern in which their REBEIHBEEERKLEN
future economic benefits are expected to be consumed 2R MR IB R R ©

by the Group and are recognised to the statement of

profit or loss.
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25.

INDEMNIFICATION ASSET AND
WITHHOLDING TAX PAYABLE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, estimated
withholding tax payable based on 10% of estimated
capital gain (”Estimated Capital Gain”) on indirect equity
transfer of Hangzhou Youzan was recognised upon
acquisition of an approximately 48.1% equity interest
of Youzan Group. Estimated Capital Gain represents the
difference of the market value of Consideration Shares
issued at 29 December 2023 and the 48.1% equity
interest of Youzan Group contributed by the sellers.

Indemnification asset equal to the carrying amount of
the estimated withholding tax payable was recognised at
the same time because the sellers agreed to indemnify
the Company for the losses and penalties should the
Company be requested by the PRC tax authority to pay
the withholding tax and penalties, if any.

As at 31 December 2024, the indemnification asset and
withholding tax payable were derecognised as the Group
no longer bear the obligation to pay the withholding tax
after the sellers have filed tax declarations to the relevant
tax authorities.

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

25.

BEEEREMTENR

BE_Z-_F+Z“HA=+—H1
FE EmMNEEEERESE
10% et EA U E (M E AU
AEZESTEMENRNKESE
EEA48.1 %R ERFHERD o (BT E A
WELR—_BE_=%+"B=-+h
BETZREBROAzHERESS
BAz48 1 % BEEEBKE S Z88e

7] b5 b 58 I (5 5T AE (I RN AR AR
ENREEE RASETEREH
REZERA AT Z AR ER (0
B BRRRBEERAATZERR

E=y
7K ©

nukg

ATETME+"HA=+—H'B&
IHERREE EREMTEINR ) RE
ARBHFOARRBEARIRE
BRIRE  AEBTHREZMENR
Z2EEe
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK AND

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

26. HEKRREFEY FHRFPR

IRITARIE R R IRFIIRITASER

2024 2023
“—EmE 2=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITHEER 3,477,373 2,801,169
Time deposits EHAFR 543,000 501,000
Subtotal INE 4,020,373 3,302,169
Less: e
Balances with central bank (note (a)) ERRIBTTRIBE
(Bt 5% (a)) (3,127,657)  (2,371,241)
Frozen bank balances (note (b)) BRAGIRITAEER
(FiEE(b)) (2,656) (3,548)
Security deposits (note (c)) Re8E (HEE()) (1,111) (1,115)
For settlement of amounts payable to BREEENES
employees I8 - (849)
Others Hth (128) (418)
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 888,821 924,998
Denominated in: TEE
RMB AR 818,600 889,310
uSsD E7T 64,672 29,919
HKD HETT 3,354 2,735
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE (THE) 1,331 2,631
Euro ("EUR") Bt (Merotl) 564 177
Canadian Dollar (“CAD") mEAx (MEKXTY) 202 318
Australian Dollar ("“AUD") Bt (DRIT)) 96 4
Great Britain Pound (“GBP") g (M) 2 4
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 888,821 924,998
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK AND
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (Contd)

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2024, balances with central bank of
RMB3,127657000 (2023: RMB2,371,241,000) were
restricted for settling settlement obligations.

(b) The Group's bank balances of RMB2,656,000 (2023:
RMB3,548,000) were frozen by a PRC District People's
Procuratorate to facilitate legal investigation not related
to the Group.

(c) At 31 December 2024, bank balances of RMB1,111,000
(2023: RMB1,115,000) were restricted as security
deposits for the payment services.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on

daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

26.

RERIRNEEEY  FHPR
IRITRIE R Z R HIIRIT4EER
#)

BT -

(a) RZIE_WNE+_A=+—
H> ERHRIBITHRIBEARE
3,12765700070 (ZE =4 :
/\Emz 371,241,0007T) @ﬁﬁﬁA
D/E %EEE°

(b) XEBETERARE
2,656,000 (CE-_=F: AE
#%3,548,0007T) EHE—#&@
ARRERREANREAREER
EAZEEAE

(c) RZE-_WNE+ B =+—
HiR1T4ER ARTE1,111,000
T (ZEZ=F: AR
1,115,0007T) 3[R &l A 2 IRFS
Z1RE® o

ARBAEBHZIMAEMINEG > R
> AR 35 o B P 3t (o B 91 B IR AR
PN (EEE - EE R EEERE)
rEREEZBARERRINERIR
EBNRTRARERZBRASHEME

RITRESHESRBRTERFERNE
E)J?’F'J 5t o IRITAE BRTF T A BRI
BAICERIVEE RFRIIRTTH -
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PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

27. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

27. FE(TERFR

R EHARBAIRR REREHRE

of the reporting period, based on the date of receipt of B8 ZRE2TAOT !
goods, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARET
Within 3 months 3EHA A 8,550 465
3 to 6 months 3E6ME A 975 75
6 to 12 months 6E121EH 189 217
Over 12 months 1288 MU Lk 105 1,814
Total wast 9,819 2,571

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of three months.

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BANRRBRER—RIK=ZEARN

B8

28. HthEMRIEKRTARER

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

iz ARSTn ARET

Receipts in advance TAWRIE (a) 8,284 5,622
Payroll payables EANE 114,380 123,614
Amounts payable to employees FEfS IR ERIE 1,561 982
Accruals TERRER 51,946 56,860
Deposits received Bz E 104,169 112,306
Other payables HAE N =IE (b) 115,335 81,280
Total 4BET 395,675 380,664
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (conta)
Notes:

(a) Receipts in advance represent transaction fees, top-

up amounts for advertisements and promotion fees

received in advance from merchants.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing, repayable on
demand and non-trade in nature.

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

e

28. HtE{IRIERFERER @
FIEE -
(a) FEWRIBEFERE RN S
B -BEERESENERE-
(b) HMEMRIEREE - BRE
KEERIFEZUE-
29. BHAE
BHEENFFNT !
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E_ME .
+Z8 +ZA it -
=+—H =+—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETFT ARETT ARETTT

Advances received WEE B 23
from customers
Subscription solutions HI S 644,520 645,066 669,487
Analysed into: PaR =
Current portion BRERER 437,385 585,578 620,136
Non-current portion FERNERER 207,135 59,488 49,351

Contract liabilities mainly include advances received from
subscription solutions. The decrease in contract liabilities
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 was mainly
due to the Group's fulfilment of subscription solutions
services. The decrease in contract liabilities from 31
December 2023 to 31 December 2024 was mainly due to
the Group's fulfilment of subscription solutions.

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

BHEETEARWEGTRBERA
ENRBF-N_T_=F—H—H=E
TEC=FE+ZRA=Z+—HHEHYN
BREALVHEEENRAEBEITE]
)T S A= —_—

+_B=+—HEZZ_WE+_
B=+—BHN&XN8ERLHEE
BN AEBEITIRBRS R
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31 DECEMBER 2024

30. SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS

Details of settlement obligations are as follows:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

30. #£HEE

EEEENFENT

2024 2023
—EZNE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AEBETT

Third party payment services B IR

Settlement obligations represent payables to merchants
for the third party payment services that the Group
collects from the payment service providers of
consumers. The amounts are due for settlement on

3,276,258 2,495,726

MEEEEAEENME =D TR
A8 B & B 3 AR B 12 14 7 U B
BUFEAS BRI - A F IR EKE|
HfE S -

demand.
31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. stRIRITREMMER
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
—E-NE 2R
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
BIRA=E BEAX
(%) FHER AREFRE (%) HEFEHR ARETT
Non-current JEENHA
Bank loans - secured (note (a)) $R1TEH—H KR 2025
(Mi%E(a) - - - 390 “Z_IHE 470,444
Other loans — unsecured HMER—EIEH 2029
(note (b)) (MFE(b)) 395 “E”AE 338,725 = = =
Total 48t 338,725 470,444
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NOTES

TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024 “EM&+"A=+—H
31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. S EIRITREMMERR =
BORROWINGS (conta)
2024 2023
—EIME 2T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AREBTT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: FEEEZEIRTTER !
Within one year or on demand —FERPIZEKRER = 444
In the second year B - 470,000
Subtotal /et - 470,444
Other borrowings repayable: FE‘ETTT%EH@TE /g
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B_FEFHEF
(BEEEWE) 338,725 -
Total At 338,725 470,444
Notes: 5T -
(a) The Group's bank loans are secured by the pledge of (a) RIE_=F+"A=+—H8"%K
certain of assets of a related company, Hangzhou Qima SEEBRITERU— BB QSN
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Qima”) (#NEERERL EERRARAR (HMNEERL) &
AR AE), amounting to RMB500,000,000 as at 31 AR "500,000,0007t 2 &5 F &
December 2023. EEIRIR -
(b) The Group's other loans from a related company (b) REBRBE—LRERNTES
controlled by a shareholder and executive director, ZHlz —EEREB AT MMNESZHE
Hangzhou Qima, are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and HERARIKF - RERERZS
repayable on 18 April 2029. The difference between the “hAFEmBE+N\BEE - LEBERHP
fair value of this long-term non-interest-bearing loans and REERZ AFERBKRIEBEZRE
the amount received was recognised as share premium. NEBREEI AR AE
BENBARASN — T _mEsR 259
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PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

32. DEFERRED TAX 32. RIEFRIE
The movements in deferred tax during the year are as FRERIBREEN T ¢
follows:
Deferred tax IRIEFRIE
2024
“EImE
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
REREEE EEREAR
Intangible
assets
Capitalised arising from
Tax Lease contract business Right-of-use
losses liabilities costs combination assets Total
_ £Had
) mAkf,  EEH )
MERE HEER AORE EWEE FREEE fazt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2024 R_E_ME-A—H 68,772 1,485 (22,310) (103,925) (1,485) (57.463)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ ERRIBHER
to the statement of profitor 18,/ (Gt A) K9
loss during the year (note 10)  EIEARIE (Bi5¥10) (13,448) 670 480 11,962 (697) (1,033)
Gross deferred tax as at RZEZME
31 December 2024 +ZA=1+—HK
EICIR B 55,324 2,155 (21,830) (91,963) (2,182) (58,496)
2023
_EC=F
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
FLREEE EERESE
Intangible
assets
Capitalised  arising from
Tax Lease contract business  Right-of-use
losses liabilities costs  combination assets Total
_ e i
) Bkl EEH ) ,
MIEEE HEESR BRME BYEE RAEEE a5t
RMB'OOO RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'OOO
ARETFT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=%#—-F—H 68,772 2,577 (24,004) (116,065) (2,489) (71,209)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ FERFEHT
to the statement of profitor 118/ (Gt A) 81
loss during the year (note 10)  EIEARIE (Bi3E10) - (1,092) 1,694 12,140 1,004 13,746
Gross deferred tax as at A i
31 December 2023 +ZB=1+—H2f
EIERIEEE 68,772 1,485 (22,310) (103,925) (1,485) (57463)
260 YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

32.

BHERKARAE

DEFERRED TAX (Contd)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

32.

JEIERRIA ()

RIS ETEEREEERS
EER B ISR RAIEH B 55
EME > U T AREBNEERERS
BRI -

purposes:

2024 2023
“EmE 2=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in PR E Bk R R R
the consolidated statement of financial I IEE R 5R
position 34,500 70,257
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in ﬁf??éﬁﬁ‘“%ﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁ 89
the consolidated statement of financial I IBE(EFER
position 92,996 127720

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB3,845,513,000 (2023: RMB3,701,896,000) that will
expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. The Group has no tax losses arising in Hong Kong
(2023: nil) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the following item:

ANEBMP PR AR ESENIRIBE IS
A N R 13,845,5613,0007t (ZE - =
£ AR%3,701,896,0007T) * &
—E+FRNEE BLURHEL BB
NEIRRRERR AT c KEBNE
BUEELEREBE (CET=F
M) O ER AR EEEE AR
BRI IERIREF] 0

PIEFRIRE E AL THIREBREY

2024 2023

“EmE 2=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®BFTr AR®ETT
Tax losses IS8 3,476,686 3,243,416
Deductible temporary differences PRI E R AR 125,204 110,494
Total HESt 3,601,890 3,353,910
CERCMEER 261



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

32.

262

DEFERRED TAX (Contd)

The above tax losses will expire in one to ten years for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributable by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB141,171,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB119,854,000).

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

32.

EAREEEFN —E+FERT
HA > LR SH E £ B R A BRI RIRFE
A o AR E B ERLB BRI
A ] EN A LT B T LU » B
IR B DRI IR A

7 & B 7R Lk 35 5 o B A9 3 B 12 BY
WEBABM —_ZEZNFE—-—BF—HIE
EEBEN DB IR S S TEI
Mo AREEBERMRER10%

ATETME+"HA=+—H> IE
LA & B 50 AR B o M R L I Y A
B BAMBINRNRE LR MEA
BB RERIELERIE - E5R
%> ZEWNBABNE RERAKT
BEDIRZERF - N T _NE+—
B=1+—8 > BRPERHEE AR
B9 3% & 75 B8 T 0 4 A L R SR AR E AR
HEENEREBRRBEAAARE
141,171,000 (CEZ=F : AR
119,854,0007T) °
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“ETMFE+"A=+—H

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. Ig#&
Shares it abil
2024 2023
“FomgE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFx ARETFT
Authorised: ERE
50,000,000,000 (2023: 50,000,000,000) 50,000,000,0008%
ordinary shares of HKDO0.01 each B =4
50,000,000,0008%)
FREENBITZ
Zimp 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE !
32,978,308,752 (2023: 32,978,308,752) 32,978,308,752/%
ordinary shares of HKDO0.01 each _E=F
32,978,308,752f%)
EREECNEBTZ
ZER
286,938 286,938
ARNEARAT —S-NEER 263
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33.

264

SHARE CAPITAL (Contad)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

33. A @

Shares (Contad) i @
A summary of movements in the Company's share RABINGAESEIBIMINT ©
capital is as follows:
Number of
shares Share
in issue capital
217
Rin&E f&as
‘000 RMB’000
TR AR®Tx
At 1 January 2023 A _E=F—H—H 18,421,641 154,484
Issue of Consideration Shares (note (a)) FITRERMD F5E@) 14,550,000 132,393
Issue of Fee Shares (note (b)) FITERKRM FH5ED) 6,667 61
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and R_ZT - =4
31 December 2024 +—B=+—8-
“ETMFE—HF—H
= it =S
+-B=+—H 32,978,308 286,938
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

33. SHARE CAPITAL (conta)

Shares (Contad)

Notes:

(a)

AHAKARAH

The Company entered into a Sale and Purchase
Agreement with all shareholders of Youzan Technology
(the “Sellers”) on 23 May 2023 in relation to further
acquisitions of 48.1% equity shares of Youzan
Technology from the Sellers (the "Acquisition”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and
issue 14,549,999,989 new shares of Company (the
“Consideration Shares”) in exchange for shares of
Youzan Technology from the Sellers. The Acquisition
was completed on 29 December 2023. For details, refer
to the circular of the Company dated on 30 November
2023 and the completion announcement dated on 27
December 2023 and 29 December 2023.

Fee Shares represent the remuneration payable to
Oriental Patron Asia Limited for its financial advisory
services to the Company in connection with the
Acquisition. The amount is measured based on the value
of the professional service received by the Company of
HKD960,000 (approximately RMB873,000).The value of
the professional service was measured at a market price
for those goods or services.

The Company repurchased 1,633,559,082 of its shares
held by Qima Teamwork Inc. and 114,436,000 of its
shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange during
the year at a total consideration of HKD10,966,000
(approximately RMB10,054,000). No repurchased
shares were cancelled during the year. As at 31
December 2024, a total number of 1,747,995,082
repurchased shares (2023: nil) were remained to be
cancelled or resold or held for the share option scheme
and share award scheme.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

33. A @

17 @)

5T -

(a)

(b)

AABR_BE_=FEREA-+=H
HMEENEmMAERE (875)) 571
BBEWHE NAEREEAE—F
B BRI 248.1%8 1 (TkEE
2HE]) B ARERERER
££1714,549,999,9890% 7 A Bl # I& 15
(MEERHm) BB EE
BERG WEEEER_ZE-=
E+"_A+hBxM-%EES
BAASBRHEA_E_=F+—8
—t+HZBRREHEAZZE-=F
+- A+ tEERZE_=ZF+T
BZH+hBZm=RmAE-

ERRNIERBBEERNARAT R
H B 75 8 5 AR 755 7 & (T 3R 22 25O
BRRABZHRIN - 22 BERA AT
PRiES 2 B2 ARF5EH960,00078 7T

(W ANK#873,0007T) stE - HHE
R BEDREZTHRIAMRE
Z B &

ARABD R ERERLDHEA
Qima Teamwork Inc.i¥HB 2~
1,633,559,082/2 8% 15 K i & B Bt
RErEEE114,436,00008 B3 17 » 48
1E710,966,00038 75 (A AR I
10,054,0007T) ° F AL S0
BHEEHE RS -mFE+_8
=+—H8>&1%1,747995,0828 B2
BEIRGN CE=F . &) Y&
HEE NS IERBRE S B KRS
SEENEtEIZ e
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34.

266

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The Company had adopted a share option scheme on
12 June 2019(the “Share Option Scheme 2019"”) and the
scheme was terminated on 29 June 2023. Termination
of the Share Option Scheme 2019 of the Company shall
not affect the validity of the outstanding options which
shall continue to be enforceable according to the original
terms. On 29 June 2023, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”).
The New Share Option Scheme has no trustees and will
be subject to the administration of the directors of the
Company. A summary of the principal terms of the New
Share Option Scheme of the Company is set out in the
circular of the Company dated 30 May 2023.

The summary of terms is as follows:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34.

{4k

Al tEstE
ARBRZE—AERA+TZHEK
mEREsTE (T2 FERE
5t & EER B =578
“HABRILE-RIEERRBD ZE—N
FHEREFERAIEEEHRITE
BRI B H oI RB R Rk 4
BHT - RITZ=FAZ+Ah
B> ARBIRMIFTEIRESE (T
IRTESHE) - B IRES B L EZE
N> ERHARBDEFEE - R
BRESESZEIEHRIBEHNE
ARHPA T _=FAR=+H
ZBHK ©

R ZWT

Details Share Option Scheme 2019 New Share Option Scheme

#15 —T-NFRBREHE iR g R

1. Purposes To enable to grant options to the eligible  To enable to grant options to the eligible
participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as  participants as incentives or rewards for their
incentives or rewards for their contributions  contributions to the Group.
to the Group.

1. B® BAREMEERZHEE (5EK2HEE)) BARINSERZ2EERLERE FH

BB (EA RSN AE B EER
e3BIGEE

RERREBFTFERZ REISOR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

34.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)
The summary of terms is as follows: (Contd)

Details

#15

Share Option Scheme 2019
—E-hERREHE

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RipfIR@

fEltEstE ()
EREENT © ()

New Share Option Scheme

HRE AR E St E

2. Eligible participants

BHERKARAE

“EBE_NEFER

Eligible participants include (i) any employee
or proposed employee, manager or officer
(whether full or part time) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any director
(including executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii)
any advisors, consultants, contractors,
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners, joint ventures, promoters
and service providers of any member of the
Group (the “Service Providers”).
BERZEEOE(ARDRETANER
Bz AEENREEE - KENSHRAE
(FmEBIRE) ;()A A HETE MK E
RBZEHAES (BEATHIERITR AR
BIRRE) (iAEBTRKERRZEM
B EEARKEE - DiHE - HEm-R
B RR EBEH SELE -BHEARR
B (TARBMHER) o

Eligible Participants include:

(@) any directors and employees of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries
(the “Employee Participants”);

(b) any directors and employees of
associated companies of the
Company (the “Related Entity
Participants”); and

(c) any Service Providers.
BERSEEQE

(@) AARRHEMNBARZERE
EXkES (BEE2EE)) ;

b  FTRAAMERTAZEFNEZKES
(AMERZAE ), &

(€  EMRBHRERS-
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34.

268

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)
The summary of terms is as follows: (Contd)

Details

#15

Share Option Scheme 2019
—E-hERRERE

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RiafIR@

fEltEstE ()
ERBEENT © ()

New Share Option Scheme

HRE AR E St E

3. Maximum number
of shares

3. RERNHHUA

The maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the
scheme and any other inventive or option
scheme(s) of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under this scheme
if any grant of option will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of all
options to be granted under this scheme and
any other incentive or option scheme(s) of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
approval of this scheme.

RIRAE A FT 3 R A A B E s B 3 B
BB EREMBFITEZAAERKRITRE
REBTEMIELEERZETZAATRS
ROBMBERIAFBEARLAIFKEEITR
17 230% o % L EREFERBEZ
30%RYFREE > B RS IR AN 51 814 L (E (18
Pzt o

RRBEAS B XA R B EAE MBI SRR
BEER T RO ZPIEBRERITRMmA
B RETZRNBE SHARBEMLE
B2 BEETRHZ10%

The total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of all
Options (excluding, for this purpose, Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s)) to
be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other incentive or option
scheme(s), including existing shares or new
shares granted under the Amended Share
Award Scheme, of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 1,842,164,209 Shares,
representing 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit").

AR 1R 0 B G 51 B Re AN R B ] LA 2R D
KR ERIBEH 2 A BRE (RLitm
S AEEREFERES A REAEM
BRESBZERB AR BRIE) BT
FFRISEBD 3 R 1T 2 IR B8 (B IR IR
BIIROEENBRHEZEERD AR
%) » BHETSEBB1,842,164,2008% 217 > 14
RALERBR BB HRE B ITRBZ10%
(TEtEIIRBEBREEY) ©
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34.

Details

#15

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)
The summary of terms is as follows: (Contd)

Share Option Scheme 2019
—E-hERREHE

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RipfIR@

fEltEstE ()
EREENT © ()

New Share Option Scheme

HRE AR E St E

]

. Maximum

entitlement of
each participant

fiob o

il Y
N
a0 ok

o}
i
m

. Option period

. BRERR

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible
participant within any 12-month period,
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
REM+_ERHBEN IEeLEER2HA
ERUERESRZAZETRORSHE
A EBENAERRBEEETRM Z1% &
—SRUBRLRE BRERNKERE
R R

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period
and ends on a date which is not later than
ten years from the offer date of the share
options.

P HBREZ TRABESAE  RNET
BERERD BEEERERH BBARE T+
FRTTh

The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible
participant within any 12-month period,
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
RER+ZEARER mELEERSHE
ERDBRESRZOETRORSHE
A EBENERRBEEETRMN 1% &
— S RUBRIRE ERERANKRRAE
EREiE-

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period
and ends on a date which is not later than
ten years from the offer date of the share
options.

P HEREZ TERBEESRAE  RET
BERERG BEEERERL HRES 1
FRTL
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34.

270

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)
The summary of terms is as follows: (Contd)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RiafIR@

fEltEstE ()
ERBEENT © ()

Details Share Option Scheme 2019 New Share Option Scheme
15 —E-hERRERE Bt R
6. Exercise price The exercise price of the share options is  The exercise price of the share options

6.

7B

Remaining life of
the scheme

5812 RIS

determinable by the board of directors (the
“Board”) and must be at least the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of the offer of grant (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a day on which banks
in Hong Kong are open for the transaction
of normal business (the “Business Day"); (ii)
the average closing price of the Company's
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five Business
Days immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (i) the nominal value of a Company's
share. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on the grant of a share option.

BRETHEERESS (E58) AT B
WERTIBRERSE (IROMNBNEL
HER (R B CAREBRITHPMET
—mEHBF (TEER)) THXAEH
WERMAIZIHE (1B RERHDNERE
REBRAAEEEATEHIMEARESR
PrEIZ FI9RTHE ; Rii)AABKRMZE
BE-RELERER AT MRERNBIETTC

The scheme became effective on 12 June
2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

SEIER ZE—NFEAATZHERN BRI
BITBCERER] > BRIBZBE0FERE
Mo

is determinable by the board of directors
and must be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on
the Offer Date, which must be a Business
Day; (i) the average closing price of the
Company's shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five Business Days immediately preceding
the Offer Date; and (i) the nominal value of
a Company's share. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable on the grant of a share
option.

BRETEEREFGRE BHAR T
BERSE (IRNNEUAH AREXE
B) M e B REXRMIZWHE ;i)E
RERMPRERE L BRI LEE R BT
RFrg BRERFTS 2 FHWRHIE ; Kliii) 2
RERMZEE REREBRERAS (4
HRB1HET

The scheme became effective on 29 June
2023 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.
SFEERZEZ=FSAZTABER K
FERITEUHS BT SRIBZ B 10FER
B

YOUZAN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

34.

BHERKARAE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Contd)

The fair value of share options granted is recognised
in profit or loss taking into account the probability that
the options will vest over the vesting period. Upon the
exercise of the options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value
of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per
share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded
in the share premium account. At the time when the
share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve is transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve is transferred to
accumulated losses. Lapsed options, prior to their
exercise date, are deleted from the outstanding options.
All equity-settled share-based compensation expense is
settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34.

AR (37K (@)

Rl st @

PRt EREZ A FERS RER
ERINEEARNEB LR E
BmiEsl - NBEREETER  EHIE
BTZzROEROEEYFEIMNR
> MBRTEEBHRMEEZE
BT ARMIGEERR - N EBREETRE
R FRINBREFEEANRE 2
THEERNGE ERRERERK
R BB NAERFITE RIERNE
REFBENRIZSEBRERS
BE-INITEBEMA RNz BRER
B ARATE B RE T 5FR - Fr A mAS
BURMN SN ZHEREREE A
ERETEBEOIURSEERBRE
ZEERMEESE
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)
The following tables disclose movements of share
options granted in 2019 under the Company's Share
Option Scheme 2019 during the year:

At 31 December 2024

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RMIF @
MR (@)
TRIFEFARBELARATD ZZE—H
FERHESZN _E—hEREL

BREZEEHER

BWZE2E-_mE+=-B=+—H

Outstanding Outstanding
options as of Granted Lapsed Exercised options as of
1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price 2024 the year the year the year 2024  Exercise period
RZIEZmE
RZBZmE +ZB
-B-RzZ =+-Hz
HATE HR{THE
EBEA =) 7t BRE EARE  FRXE EROE 1
(HK$/share)
(Bm/B)
Zhu Ning 14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - - 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
5= ZE-NETATEA “ZTZEtBE-RE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - - 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“2-NE+ATIA ZZ--FtF-HE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - - 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“2-NE+ATIA ZZZCEtE-HE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - - 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024
“2-NE+ATIA ZZT-FtF-HE
ZECMERAZHA
Other directors 14 October 2019 0.90 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - 1July 2020 to 30 June 2024
HitE% “Z-NE+ATIA ZZ°%4£tB-HE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - (15,000,000) - - 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“Z-NE+ATIA ZZ--FtF-HE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - (15,000,000) - - 1July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“Z-NE+ATIA ZZZZEtE-HE
ZECMERAZHA
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - (15,000,000) - - 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024
“2-NE+ATIA ZZZ-FtF-HE
ZECMERAZHA
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Option Scheme (Contd)
At 31 December 2024 (Contd)

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RipfIR@

Rl st @
AZE_mE+ZBA=+—H #&

Outstanding Outstanding
options as of Granted Lapsed Exercised options as of
1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price 2024 the year the year the year 2024  Exercise period
RZZZME
RIEZME +ZB
—-B-Rz =t+-RA2
HERTE R AT
ERA EiHAS 78 BRE  EARE  ERRE ERfT ke 76
(HK$/share)
(Br/K)
Senior management 1 October 2019 0.75 3,752,000 - (3,752,000) - -1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
BREER “Z-nETA-H ZZZEtRB-RE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 0.75 7500,000 - (7500,000) - - 1July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 7500,000 - (7500,000) - - 1July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 7500,000 - (7500,000) - - 1July 2023 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZ=FtB-BE
ZECMERA=+H
Employees 1 October 2019 0.75 9,500,000 - (9,500,000) = - 1July 2020 to0 30 June 2024
&8 “2-N\E+A-H 2 of = S
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 18,500,000 - (18,500,000) = - 1July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 18,500,000 - (18,500,000) = - 1July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 18,500,000 - (18,500,000) = - 1July 2023 t0 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZ=FtB-BE
ZECMERA=+H
Total 241,252,000 - (241,252,000) = =

3t

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cConta) 34. RSk @
Share Option Scheme (Contd) IBRG TR @
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=F+ZA=+—H
Outstanding Outstanding
options as of Granted Lapsed Exercised  options as of
1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period
RIZZ=F
RIBZZE +-A
—-A—-Hz =t-Bz
WA HAR{THE
AR REBH A BERE  FRARY  FRXY EROE BRE  7E8
(HK$/share)
(/1K)
Zhu Ning 14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - - - 25000,000 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
*E “2-N\E+A+EA “ZZZH£tPB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - - - 25000,000 1 July 2021 t0 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000 1 July 2022 to0 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 100 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000 1 July 2023 t0 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZZ=FtB-BE
ZECMERA=+H
Other directors 14 Qctober 2019 0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
HitE% “2-N\E+A+EA “ZZZH£tPA-HE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 1 July 2021 t0 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
14 October 2019 090 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 1 July 2023 t0 30 June 2024
“_E2-hEF+A+EA ZZZ=FtB-BE
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34.

=

mE+—A=+—H

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta) 34. RSk @
Share Option Scheme (Contd) BB EETE @
At 31 December 2023 (Contd) R-ZEZ=F+="HA=+—H &
Outstanding Outstanding
options as of Granted Lapsed Exercised  options as of
1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period
RIZZ=F
S +-A
—-A—-Hz =t-Bz
WA HAR{THE
AR REBH 16 BRE  FRARY  FRXY EROE BRE  7E8
(HK$/share)
(/1K)
Senior management 1 October 2019 0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
BREER “Z-nETA-H ZZZEtRB-RE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 7500,000 - - - 7500,000 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 7500,000 - - - 7500,000 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZ=FtB-BE
ZECMERA=+H
Employees 1 October 2019 0.75 14,052,000 - (4,552,000) - 9,500,000 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024
&8 “2-N\E+A-H 2 of = S
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 29,250,000 - {10,750,000) - 18,500,000 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZ--FtB-HE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 20,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 18,500,000 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZCFtR-BE
ZECMERA=+H
1 October 2019 075 20,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 18,500,000 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024
“2-N\E+A-H ZZZ=FtB-BE
ZECMERA=+H
Total 263,304,000 - (22,052,000) - 241,252,000

3t

FERKARAT T FEFR
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Contd)
The share options can be vested in accordance with the
following schedule:

25% of the total number of the options granted are
exercisable at any time on or after 1 July 2020;

° another 25% of the total number of the options
granted are exercisable at any time after 1 July
2021,

o another 25% of the total number of the options
granted are exercisable at any time after 1 July
2022,

° the remaining 25% of the total number of the
options granted are exercisable at any time after 1
July 2023.

For share options granted in 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme 2019, if the options remained unexercised up
to 30 June 2024, the options would expire. Options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34.

AR (37K (@)

FARRRESTE (1)
BRI A IR TR R RS

o FriR K BE R AR B 2 25 % 7]
A CE_EFE/F—HEg
BRI ;

. Frig BB R EAE 2 B 4
5% N __E_—F+tH—
HzZ ®BMERTE ;

o iR EREEE S I
5% R _E__F+tH—
HZBER1T6E ;

. FIEHBREGBZEHRT
5% R B _=Ft8—
A2 &RERITRE

MBBE_S—NFERESENCZ
T-NERHZBERENS  MBR
BEE_ZE_NEAB=+HMNDX
1716 BIRER R - HIE SRR A
B8 BRERRU -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)

Details of the share options granted in 2019 under the
Share Option Scheme 2019 outstanding during the year

are as follows:

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RiafIR@

fERRESTE @
RE_S-NFEREFER_-Z
—NERBIREREHRTEZBE
IRRESFIBINT ¢

2024

“ETE
Weighted
Number of average
share options  exercise price
hnE
B EHE T17EE
Outstanding at beginning of year FHERITHE 241,252,000 0.88
Lapsed during the year FRRM (241,252,000) 0.88
Outstanding at end of year FEREARITE = N/A RiEHR
Exercisable at end for year FEROFITE - N/A RiEA

2023

TEI=F
Weighted
Number of average
share options exercise price
e
EREHE 7B
Outstanding at beginning of year FX)ERITEE 263,304,000 0.86
Lapsed during year FRRM (22,052,000) 0.86
Outstanding at end of year FERMERITEE 241,252,000 0.88
Exercisable at end for year FRAFITE 241,252,000 0.88

There is no share option exercised during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. The exercise prices range
from HK$0.75 to HK$1.00 for Share Option Scheme 2019.

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

BHE_ZNER-ZEZ-F+=
B=1+—HLLHFE #BIEEREET
o2 NFBEBREFEZITESE
#[E20.7587c21.008 7T °
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Contd)

The fair value of share options granted in 2019 under
the Share Option Scheme 2019 was calculated using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The following table lists

the inputs to the model used:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RiafIR@

FARRRESTE (1)
RE_E—AFERENBR _=
—NERBZBREZATEE
BN E EE A E o TR
REZEEIF 2 A B

2019
ZE—NEF

Share price of the Company on grant date KABIRIREHBBAZRE
(HK$ per share) (BRHBT) 0.48-0.50
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE (8RBT 0.75-1.00
Expected volatility (%) TEHR R 1B (%) 71.91-71.97
Expected life (year) TEHAE AR (5F) 4.70
Risk-free interest rate (%) = R B A =R (%) 1.348-1.452
Expected dividend yield (%) TEHARG B & (%) 0.00

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the

previous b years.

FRHIRBI BB ERATINB XS
FZREBELRBERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024 “EUFE+_"A=1+—H

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 34. RMIF @
Share Option Scheme (Contd) IBRG TR @
The following tables disclose movements of share TREEBEFNREBELAAB ZZE—H
options granted in 2023 under the Company’s Share FEREAEN S Z=ZFMEH
Option Scheme 2019 during the year: BREZEEFHER
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWE+ZA=+—H

Outstanding Outstanding

options as of  Granted Lapsed Exercised options as of
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December

Grantees Date of grant price 2024  theyear theyear the year 2024  Exercise period
RZIEZmE
RIZZME +ZB
—-B—-Bz =+-Bz
HATE HARTHE
EBEA =) 7@ ERE FREE FRXE  ERGE Rk 76
(HK$/share)
(Bn/B)
Zhu Ning 20 January 2023 0.385 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
5 b2 15 e o S
-AZ+H 2 )\&-A+hH
Other directors 20 January 2023 0.385 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
EthEZR “ECcE 15 e o S
-AZ+H 2 )\&-A+hH
Senior management 20 January 2023 0.385 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
BRERE “ECcE 15 e o S
-AZ+H 2 )\&-A+hH
Employees of the Group 20 January 2023 0.385 8,800,000 - (200,000) - 8,600,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
rEEES “ECcE 15 e o S
-AZ+H 2 )\&-A+hH
Total 13,800,000 - (200,000) - 13,600,000
st
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RiafIR@

Share Option Scheme (Contd) IBRG TR @
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=F+ZA=+—H
Outstanding Outstanding
options as of ~ Granted Lapsed  Exercised  options as of
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant price 2023 theyear  theyear  theyear 2023 Exercise period
RIZZ=F
RIEZ=F +ZA
—-A—-Hz =+-8z
AT HAR{TE
AR REBH 7@ BRE FEARL ERXN ERiTH Bk 7S
(HK$/share)
(/1K)
Zhu Ning 20 January 2023 0.385 - 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
KE St -2 1 2y o o S
—-BZ+H “E\E-A+AR
Other directors 20 January 2023 0.385 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
HEthEZR St -2 1 2y o o S
—-BZ+H “E\E-A+AR
Senior management 20 January 2023 0.385 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
BREEE St -2 1 2y o o S
—-BZ+H “E\E-A+AR
Employees of the Group 20 January 2023 0.385 - 9450,000  (650,000) - 8,800,000 20 January 2024 to 19 January 2028
rEBES St -2 1 2y o o S
—-BZ+H “E\E-A+AR
Total - 14,450,000  (650,000) - 13,800,000
g
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31 DECEMBER 2024

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Option Scheme (Contd)

Details of the share options granted in 2023 under the
Share Option Scheme 2019 outstanding during the year

are as follows:

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RiafIR@

Rl st @

BB EBR A BIR
= = IR A P R AT

ZEBRIESBNT

2024

“E-NE
Weighted
Number of average
share options  exercise price
hntE
ERREHE T3 EE
Outstanding at beginning of year FHERITHE 13,800,000 0.385
Lapsed during the year FREKY (200,000) 0.385
Outstanding at end of year FRERITE 13,600,000 0.385
Exercisable at end for year FEROFITE 13,600,000 0.385

2023

TEC=F
Weighted
Number of average
share options exercise price
e
EREHE 7B
Outstanding at beginning of year FH)EARITEE - N/A 8
Granted during the year FARFH 14,450,000 0.385
Lapsed during the year FRRM (650,000) 0.385
Outstanding at end of year FERMERITEE 13,800,000 0.385
Exercisable at end for year FRAIF(TH - N/A 8 B
BENBARASN — T _mEsR 281
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34.

282

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Option Scheme (Conta)

There was no share option exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The exercise price is
HK$0.385.

The estimated fair value of those options granted on
20 January 2023 is HK$2,041,000. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group recognised share
option expenses under Share Option Scheme 2019 of
RMB68,000 (2023: RMB3,470,000).

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34.

BRAR(STR (@)

HBRESt R @
BE_ZWER-E_-F+Z
B=+t—BHLEHFE BEEREET
o TEEA0.3858 T o

R_E_=F—HB_+HMKREZ
LEHEREZ Gt AFEA2,041,000
BT - BHE_S_NE+-_A=1+—
HEFE AEBERE_Z—NEF
BRESIEIBRERIAER
68,0007 (ZE_=F : AR
3,470,0007T) ©

The fair value of share options granted in 2023 under BEZZS—NFERESEINZ
the Share Option Scheme 2019 was calculated using the T ERECEREZ AFETLE
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The following table lists AE A E RS E - TR
the inputs to the model used: AR Y P R 2 A B
2023

Share price of the Company on grant date KABREEBHEZRE

(HK$ per share) (B A TT) 0.27
Exercise price (HK$ per share) THE (BRET 0.385
Expected volatility (%) TERRR 18(%) 86.93
Expected life (year) FEEREHA (4F) 5.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) R BR A 2R (%) 2.932
Expected dividend vield (%) TEHARR B2 (%) 0.00

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company's share price over the
previous b years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 13,600,000 share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme 2019. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
13,600,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of RMB127921 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 13,600,000 share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme 2019, which represented
approximately 0.04% of the Company's shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

AR R BB EARTNRBED
FZREFELRIEETE

RBBERR KARRBE-ZE—hE
BE RGeSt 235 13,600,0001% 1# 5k
TEZEBRE - RIBEALBERZE
RZRE > BEITHEERITEZ B
RBERAR QB L 13,600,000
B RTIG RS AR AN R 1512792171 (3R
MNBREETER) ©

RZEPBEBRRILERE  AAQF
RBEZZ-—NEERESSES
13,600,00017 H RITE 2 BEARHE » 14
KABRZABETRG (FEIEE
FRZ19) £90.04%
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34.

BHERKARAE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the “Adoption Date”)
aiming to recognise the contributions by eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them
for continuing operations and development of the Group,
and to attract suitable personnel for further development
of the Group.

On 29 June 2023, the shareholders of the Company
resolved to amend the terms of the Share Award Scheme
of the Company, among other matters, (i) introduce rules
under the Share Award Scheme for the award of new
shares of the Company, include Employee Participants,
Related Entity Participants and Service Providers as
Eligible Participants for an award, (ii) introduce the
Scheme Mandate Limit for the award of new shares and,
(iii) bring the Share Award Scheme in alignment with
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date unless early
terminated by the Board.

The Board can make award of shares of the Company to
participants selected by the Board for participation in the
scheme (the” Selected Participants”), but must not make
any further award of unvested shares which would result
in the number of shares awarded by the Board under the
Share Award Scheme representing 10% or more of the
issued shares from time to time without shareholders’
approval. The maximum number of shares which may be
subject to an award or awards to a selected participant in
any 12-month period shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of
the issued shares.

No award shall be made by the Board and no instructions
to acquire shares shall be given by the Board to the
trustee which holds shares for the benefit of the
Selected Participants (the “Trustee”) under the Share
Award Scheme where any director is in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Group or where dealings by directors are prohibited under
any code or requirement of the GEM Listing Rules and all
applicable laws from time to time.
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284

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Award Scheme (Conta)

Subject to the relevant Share Award Scheme Rules, (1)
the Company can issue and allot shares to the Trustee
from time to time under general mandates granted or
to be granted by the shareholders at general meetings
of the Company from time to time (unless such issue
and allotment of shares have otherwise been approved
by the shareholders) for future awards; or (2) in case
where the Board has selected certain Eligible Person to
be Selected Participant(s), the Company shall, as soon
as reasonably practicable after the grant date, for the
purposes of satisfying the grant of awards, issue and allot
shares to the Trustee under general mandates granted or
to be granted by the shareholders at general meetings of
the Company from time to time (unless such issue and
allotment of shares have otherwise been approved by
the shareholders) and/or transfer to the trust constituted
by the trust deed (the “Trust”) the necessary funds and
instruct the Trustee to either (i) subscribe shares to be
issued by the Company or (ii) acquire shares through on-
market transactions at the prevailing market price. The
Trustee must hold the shares until they are vested in
accordance with the rules relating to the Share Award
Scheme adopted by the Board (the “Share Award
Scheme Rules”). When the Selected Participant has
satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the Board at
the time of making the award and become entitled to
the shares forming the subject of the award, the Trustee
will transfer the relevant vested shares to the Selected
Participant.

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and
powers in respect of any shares held under the Trust
(including, but not limited to, the shares awarded to a
Selected Participant in accordance with the terms of the
Share Award Scheme Rules (the “Awarded Shares”), the
Awarded Shares and related income which are not vested
or forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme Rules (the “Returned Shares”), any bonus
shares and scrip shares).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

The following tables disclose movements of share
awards under the Company's Share Award Scheme

during the year:

At 31 December 2024

—ECNE+ZA=+—H

34. RiafIR@

AR SZEEtE (@)

TREBFRARRERMDEZR S
BN Z R EEES

RIE-NE+Z-A=+—H

Fair value
as of date
of grant of
the awards Unvested Unvested
granted awards as Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled awards as of
Purchase during  of 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant price the year 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 Vesting period
1
ERFEL i3 ZZImE
4 Q- a1 +Z8
A%z -B-AZ =+-A2
SN EHAMH RER AFE  FBBER FAEH FRRE FARY FAEE  ARBER FEN
(HK$/share)  (HK$/share)
(Br/B  (Br/B
Other employee
HifEs Fourth Awards 1 July 2020 - 137 6,055,000 = (5,805,000) (250,000) = - Notea
ENAEH  "TEF Wta
tA-H
Seventh Awards 15 January 2023 - 0.27 5,125,272 > (3,501,496) (400,000) - 1223776 Notec
FRa 2 E— et Mizke
—A+EA
Eighth Awards 1 April 2023 - 0208 29,298,800 - (8,702,000 (2,908,000) - 17688800  Note d
B\RER  CII=F Midd
mA—-A
Ninth Awards 1 July 2023 - 0.14 3,071,000 - (767.750) - - 2303250  Notee
FhTRE "BI=F Mizte
tA-H
Tenth Awards 31 December - 0.125 - 1575598705 (1,287637303) - - 287961402  Notef
2024
R g . 1 iEa
+ZA
=+-A
Total 43,650,072 1,675,598,705 (1,306,413549)  (3,658,000) - 309177228
st
FERFERAT —T_NFEFR 285
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34.

286

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

The following tables disclose movements of share
awards under the Company's Share Award Scheme

during the year:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. RiafIR@

AR SZEEtE (@)

TREBFRARRERMDEZR S
BN Z R EEES

At 31 December 2023 R_Z2_=F+"H=+—H
Fair value
as of date
of grant of
the awards Unvested Unvested
granted awards as Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled awards as of
Purchase during  of 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant price the year 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 Vesting period
1
ERFEL i3 k-
) - St +ZA
A%z -B-AZ =+-A2
LSO EHAMH RER AFE  FBBER FAEH FRRE FARY FAEE  ARBER FEN
(HK$/share)  (HK$/share)
(Br/B  (Br/B
Other employee
HiifEs Fourth Awards 1 July 2020 - 137 13,766,000 - (6,523,500) (1,187500) - 6,055,000  Notea
ENREH  "TEF Wta
tA-H
Sixth Awards 1 April 2022 and - 0.157 and 10,080,400 > (8,949,600) (1,130,800) S - Noteb
1 December 0.184
2022
Ea2 . St Hizkb
mA-BRk
“E-CE
+ZA—-8
Seventh Awards 15 January 2023 - 0.27 - 5327483 - (202,216) - 5125272 Notec
Btasm C-I=F Miitc
—A+zA
Eighth Awards 1 April 2023 - 0.208 - 33777800 - (4,479,000) - 2929800  Noted
E\TREH CBI=F Hizkd
nA—-A
Ninth Awards 1 July 2,023 - 0.14 - 3,071,000 - - - 3,071,000  Notee
Ey /4 RS2 Wizte
tA-H
Total 23846400 427176288 (154731000  (6,999,516) - 43550072

i3t
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Notes:

(a) Fourth Awards

On 1 July 2020, the Board passed a resolution to grant
45,120,000 Awarded Shares (“Fourth Awards”) by
using the lapsed shares of First Awards and Second
Awards held by the Trustee in the Trust Fund, of which
none was granted to the directors of the Company. The
fair value of the Fourth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals in
connection with the GEM Listing Rule requirements and
the acceptance of Selected Participants were received.
The fair value of Fourth Awards granted was HK$1.37 per

Awarded Share.

Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants are
divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche representing
25% of the awards would be vested when the Selected
Participant completing 1 year of continuous service to
the Group from the date of grant. The second, third and
fourth tranches each represents 25% of the awards,
and would be vested in the second, third and fourth
anniversaries from the date of grant, respectively.

(b) Sixth Awards

On 22 February 2022, the Board passed a resolution
for allotting and issuing 350,846,480 new Awarded
Shares (“Sixth Awards"”) to the Trustee. On 1 April
2022 and 1 December 2022, the Company granted a
total of 310,801,640 Awarded Shares to employees of
the Group. The fair value of the Sixth Awards granted
was calculated based on the market price of the
Company’'s share at the measurement date that all
relevant approvals in connection with the GEM Listing
Rule requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair values of Sixth
Awards granted were HK$0.157 and HK$0.184 per

Awarded Share.

The Sixth Awards granted to employees are divided
into 4 vesting periods: 300,721,240 share awards were
vested on 1 December 2022, 8,949,600 awarded shares
were vested on 31 March 2023, 30 June 2023 and 30
September 2023, and 1,130,800 awarded shares were

lapsed during the year.
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Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Notes: (Contd)

(c)

Seventh Awards

On 15 January 2023, the Board passed a resolution to
grant 5,327488 Awarded Shares (“Seventh Awards”)
to certain Selected Participants by using the issued but
not yet granted Awarded Shares held by the Trustee. The
fair value of the Seventh Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals in
connection with the GEM Listing Rule requirements and
the acceptance of Selected Participants were received.
The fair value of Seventh Awards granted was HK$0.27
per Awarded Share.

Seventh Awards granted to employees are divided into
2 lots: 1,935,496 Awarded Shares were fully vested on
14 January 2024 and 259,992 awarded shares were
lapsed. Another 3,132,000 Awarded Shares are divided
into 3 tranches. The first tranche representing 50% of
the awards shall vest when the employees completing
1 year of continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second and third tranches each represents
25% of the awards and shall vest in the second and third
anniversaries from the date of grant, respectively.

Eighth Awards

On 1 April 2023, the Board passed a resolution to
grant 33,777.800 Awarded Shares (“Eighth Awards”)
to certain Selected Participants related to Group by
using the issued but not yet granted Awarded Shares
held by the Trustee. The fair value of the Eighth Awards
granted was calculated based on the market price of
the Company’s share at the measurement date that all
relevant approvals in connection with the GEM Listing
Rule requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair value of Eighth
Awards granted was HK$0.208 per Awarded Share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Notes: (Contd)

(d

AHAKARAH

Eighth Awards (Contd)
Eighth Awards granted to Selected Participants are
divided into 3 lots:

(1) 2,747.800 Awarded Shares were fully vested on
31 March 2024;

(2) Another 12,131,000 Awarded Shares are divided
into 4 tranches. The first and second tranches
each represents 20% of the awards shall vest
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the
date of grant. The third and fourth tranches each
representing 30% of the awards shall vest in the
third and fourth anniversaries from the date of
grant, respectively;

(3) The remaining 18,899,000 Awarded Shares
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards shall vest when
the Selected Participant completing 1 year of
continuous service to the Group from the date of
grant. The second, third and fourth tranches each
representing 25% of the awards shall vest in the
second, third and fourth anniversaries from the
date of grant, respectively.

Ninth Awards

On 1 July 2023, the Board passed a resolution to
grant 3,071,000 Awarded Shares (“Ninth Awards"”) to
employees of the Group by using the issued but not
yet granted Awarded Shares held by the Trustee. The
fair value of the Ninth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals in
connection with the GEM Listing Rule requirements and
the acceptance of Selected Participants were received.
The fair value of Ninth Awards granted was HK$0.14 per
Awarded Share.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

290

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Notes: (Contd)

(e)

Ninth Awards (Contd)

Ninth Awards granted to employees are divided into
4 tranches. The first tranche representing 25% of the
awards would be vested when the Selected Participant
completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group
from the date of grant. The second, third and fourth
tranches each represents 25% of the awards, and would
be vested in the second, third and fourth anniversaries
from the date of grant, respectively.

Tenth Awards

On 23 December 2024, the Board passed a resolution to
grant 1,5675,5698,705 Awarded Shares (“Tenth Awards”)
to employees of the Group by using the issued but not
yet granted Awarded Shares held by the Trustee. The
fair value of the Tenth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company's share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals in
connection with the GEM Listing Rule requirements and
the acceptance of Selected Participants were received.
The fair value of Tenth Awards granted was HK$0.125 per
Awarded Share.

Tenth Awards granted to employees are divided into 2
lots:

(1) 1,287,637303 Awarded Shares were fully vested
on 31 December 2024,

(2) The remaining 287961,402 Awarded Shares will
be vested over 1 to 5 years from the date of
grant.
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31 DECEMBER 2024

34.

BHERKARAE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Award Scheme (Contd)
The following table discloses movements in the number
of Awarded Shares held by the Trustee during the year:

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34. RiafIR@

AP i@ =R (@)
TERRBFRNZFEAFRFERRND
%&EZ}Q@HE&L

Number of Awarded Shares

RERR D& E
2024 2023
—TZE T =F
At beginning of year X 66,843,440 181,201,260
Transferred from treasury shares BEEEERD 1,633,559,082 -
Vested and transferred B BB KR (18,996,246) (114,357:820)
Lapsed [ (3,558,000) (6,999,516)
Returned Shares BRERDN 3,558,000 6,999,516
At end of year R 1,681,406,276 66,843,440

Vested but not transferred REXRERB

as at end of year B e 1,287,637,303 220,000

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised share award expenses under Share Award
Scheme of RMB153,967,000 (2023: RMB7,149,000).

Share Award Plan A

Refer to the Company’'s announcements dated 26
February 2021, 1 April 2021 and 6 May 2021, the
Company has adopted a Share Award Plan A of its
subsidiary Youzan Technology for the purposes of
simplifying the structure of the then existing share award
plan adopted by Youzan Technology on 2 August 2019
and to make grants to reward directors, management
members and employees of the Youzan Technology
for their historical contributions to the success of the
business of the Youzan Technology. Under the terms of
the Share Award Plan A, the share awards to be granted
under the Share Award Plan A will be satisfied by the
existing 106,428,391 shares of Youzan Technology held by
Qima Teamwork Inc.
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 34. RMIF @
Share Award Plan A (Conta) AR SENETEIA ()
As stated in the Company's circulars dated on 30 HUAABDBPAZZEZ=F+—
November 2023 and poll results on 27 December 2023, BE=Z+HZEBRER_-_ZE_-=
the 106,428,391 Share Award Plan A were converted +Z B+ tHZRRERA
into 1,906,330,379 shares (the “Converted Shares”) of 106,428,391 RN BNt EIAR AR
the Company for the purpose of satisfying the awards 1,906,330,379R8 A A B & 17 (TR
granted and each award shall then entitle the Grantees 7)) U= 2 2B MEpiR
to subscribe for the corresponding number of Converted Bh i R T 2 B BY AR A RE R $ 4R
Shares in proportion to the grantees’ entitlement to each ABEERESRIZERMD ZEEE
existing share of Youzan Technology. ELBISRREIE RS B 2 R IR, ©
On 30 June 2024, the Board passed a resolution to A _E_NWEANB=TH EEFE
grant 272,771,297 Awarded Shares to certain Selected BERAREZEODATECSEARY
Participants, and the Awarded Shares were fully vest on 272,771,297 5B B 17 » S RBOAR 1A
30 June 2024. The fair value of the awards was measured ERZZEIOFEAB=1tH=E2H
at the date of grant, which was estimated by the closing BoREIZ AFERBEHBABRFE
price of shares on the grant date. The fair value of the EREHBBRZROWHEME 1R
Plan A Awarded Shares granted on 30 June 2024 was TETMFESRA=ZTBAEEEEIA
HK$0.077 per Awarded Share. HERHD 2 ATERASRER KD
0.07787Te
The following table discloses movements in the number TRIEEFRNZEAPTRREIRMD
of Awarded Shares held by the Trustee during the year: HEZEFHER
2024
—_E_MfF
At beginning of year REH) 1,906,330,379
Vested BB (272,771,297)
Repurchased* [ (1,633,559,082)
At end of year RER -
* The Company repurchased 1,633,5659,082 of its shares * KABRZEZMFE+—HF+ M
held by Qima Teamwork Inc. on 14 November 2024 at B UAERE772,0008 7T (WAR
a total consideration of HKD772,000 (approximately #£699,0007T) #&[ElQima Teamwork
RMB699,000). As at 31 December 2024, a total number Inci¥ A& 2.1,633,559,082 % % 1% Oﬁ\
of 1,633,5659,082 repurchased shares were classified as —E_NME+ZR=+—H ' &#
treasury shares held for the share award scheme. 1,633,559,082 2 & IR 15 D iE A A
B EtBIF A 2 EFRG -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

34.

35.

BHERKARAE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

Share Award Plan A (Conta)

The fair value of the Awarded Shares was measured
at the date of grant and recognised as an expense in
the financial statements of the Group over the vesting
or fulfilment period. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group recognised share award expenses of
RMB19,555,000 (2023: nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’'s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 10 to 11 of the financial statements.

Share premium

Share premium of the Group represents premium arising
from issue of shares at a price in excess of their par
value. Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Bermuda,
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve of the Group represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note
2.4 to the financial statements.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

34.

35.

AR (37K (@)

AR SEENETEIA (2

REKRMZAFEREE B
E U EBRETHANLAER
MBHRRER AR -HEZZ M
F+_A=1+—HIFE  AEER
R0 BRI A #619,555,0007T

TET=F ) o

#E
REBRAFERBEIFFEEZHBE
SREREEBHETNHFHFRFKFE0
ENBZEREHREEFK

Bein it (E
rEERDEERERSREEZ
BRETROMELEZGE -RER
RERBE ARBARMEERZE
R DIRTAERBKRER  EREER
DIKREB®E FABREBFE—MR
FHBEBEPERZER-

RERR A
rEEZBEREFEEREMBR
KM EE2 AL IR IEAE B R0 SRR
PR g stIR R BRIE SR
FTrRERREEZRTEBREHE
ZRFEe
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35.

294

RESERVES (Conta)

Shares held by Share Award Scheme and
Share Award Scheme reserve

The Group has adopted the Share Award Scheme as set
out in note 34 to the financial statements. When the
Company allots shares to the Trustee of the Share Award
Scheme, it would deduct the same value of allotted
shares from the equity and is presented as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” When the Trustee of the Share
Award Scheme transfers the Company's shares to the
awardees upon vesting, the value of Awarded Shares
is credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme’
with a corresponding adjustment made to “Share Award
Scheme reserve'

Other reserves

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess of the fair value
of the Group's share of net assets over the purchase
price and the premium arising from acquisition. The
amount is retained in the consolidated statement of
financial position until the disposal of the subsidiaries.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, a
subsidiary of the Group which is a domestic enterprise
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax, as
determined in accordance with the relevant PRC
accounting standards, to its statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company
Law of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may
be converted to share capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of
the registered capital.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

35.

@ @

A7 52 @5t BIFRFT AR (R R AR 82
IR

AEE SR IR M EE34FT 8
Z RN RS E - EXR AT MR
Bistal 2 REE ABCERMDE > HiK B
D RERMECE RN EE L2
57 TR D BB ST IR B 2 IR 1A ©
ERMDERSE ZZFEANRBE
AR B IR EE T RE AR 1%
B 2 BES A TERMDEE S S
REZRG)  TH TRMDER 3
#IEHARREREE -

Hithf# e

EXREBRAERREBEEREZ
AT EBHBEEMNEBEEZE
Bz EZR RN ESMBR KRR
B EEMBARHERLE-

SEE#
RIEPEREE AEEKNE QT
(BAELE) AREEERTES
STERIPREERIFRIR B EFIAI10%
BAZERERRHE BEEZRBED
HEMEARMNB0% % Lk o RIBEHEA
BlEFTEUE TR > B0 A E B ERR#
wRBERRA EERCREFETE
BRSO EMEARI25% ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ERRMIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024 “ETE+_"_A=+—H

35. RESERVES (conta) 35. {#EFE@
Other reserves (Contd) Hithf#E @
Exchange reserve [ERE

The exchange reserve comprises all relevant exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises the

cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period.

Movement of other reserves is as follow:

Capital  Statutory
reserve reserve

Axfifs TR
RMB'000  RMB00
AEETR  ARRTR

ERFEEEFEREBINEBUHR
REEZAHEBELEZR-

B FESAERMEZER@RZ
MEEER#E
BAvEstAEEMEER@ERZ
MHEERBERBENERESHRAE
BAvEst A AEEMEERGERZ
MHBEEZ RS AT EEHFE-

Hh#EmESHUT

Financial ~ Subsidiary's
assets at treasury

Exchange FvTOCI share  Total other
reserve reserve reserve reserve
BATEA
EEMZE

ke HELARZ
EfGE MBAERE EERORER HtRES
RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO00

ARBTE  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-B-H (621,565) 8,060 1,062 (103,556) 7 (716,006)
Total comprehensive incomeflloss) ~ ERZERA/ (B548) BE

for the year - - 15,807 (4.870) - 10,937
Acquisition of non-controling s RS

interests (2,326,139) - = - - (2326139)
Issue of Fee Shares BIERRN 673) - - - - (673)
Capital injection to a non-wholy- ~ FELENBATTE

owned subsidiary (1,242) - - - - (1,242)
Transfer of fair value reserve upon  FAHERATER ATEEM

the disposal of equity investments 2T &R RIERER

at FVTOC ERNTERE S - - 5,000 - 5,000
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+ZR=1-H

1 January 2024 k=E_RmE-B-H (2,949.819) 8,060 16,869 (103,426) 7 (302832
Total comprehensive incomeflloss) ~ ERZERA/ (548) 0%

for the year = = (9,374) 6,828 = (2,546)
Deregistration of subsidiaries BT - (1,925) - - - (1.925)
Transferred from retained profits B ERBEA - 14,543 - - - 14,543
At 31 December 2024 RIBTMET-A=1t-H (2949819 20,678 7495 (96,598 7 (3018251)
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36. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

296

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB12,730,000
(2023: RMB8,548,000) and RMB12,730,000 (2023:
RMB8,548,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for retail shops and properties.

On 29 December 2023, the Company acquired
a 48.1% equity interest of Youzan Technology at
a consideration satisfied by allotting and issuing
14,549,999,989 Consideration Shares of the
Company.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

36. #F

(a)

AREREBMRME

FEIFRERS
BE_Z_MWE+_H
:+ BEFEE - Ax&EEA

EEMRMERELTH
z@ﬁﬁ%éé&%ﬂ =K |
FREREDNAARE
12,730,0007% (_%E__ :
AR 8,548,0007T) &AEW
12,730,000 0 (B "= A
R #8,548,0007T) ©

RZBZ=ZF+ZHAZTAR
H ARFAWEBEENKZ
48.1% &1 » LB LU AC 35 e 3
1714,549,999,989/¢ A& A B X
BRMNESR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

36. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

36. fZERREREHMERMTE @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Conta)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) REIEBELZEEES
financing activities
2024 “EmE
Interest-
bearing
bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
TERITR
HhfEk HeEa’
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTn ARETR®
At 1 January 2024 RZZEZWMEFE—HF—H 470,444 80,729
Changes from financing cash flows B EIRS 7 &2 & &) (76,110) (24,804)
Equity contributions from a related —ZREFHNITES
party controlled by a shareholder tearsl ol i
and executive director REE (71,460) -
New leases MBS - 12,730
Termination Uk = (3,186)
Interest expense MERXZ 15,851 7,621
Exchange realignment PE R - 15
At 31 December 2024 ATETME
+ZB=+—H 338,725 73,105
ERRBEARAT — T NEEH 297



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

36. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

36. GEREMERKRME @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Conta)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from

(b) REBEEBEEZEREE

financing activities (Conta) &
2023 —_E=F
Interest-
bearing
bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FTERITR
HERR s ==K
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTnt AR®ETT
At 1 January 2023 RN _E_=F—HF—H 480,986 93,919
Changes from financing cash flows BIERSHEEH) (29,5612) (30,504)
New leases MBS - 8,417
Interest expense FEREX 18,732 8,880
Exchange realignment b R 2 238 17
At 31 December 2023 AT =4
+ZB=+—H 470,444 80,729

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

(c) THEREFHESR

SAARSERERKZEER

statement of cash flows is as follows: AR T

2024 2023

ZEImE =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®TT
Within operating activities KEEEA 5,244 1,435
Within financing activities MEEHA 24,804 30,504
Total 4@t 30,048 31,939

298
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RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

37 COMMITMENTS

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

37

The Group had the following contractual commitments at

the end of the reporting period:

R
AEBRBEIHFREUTSHEE

2024 2023
—E-mE =
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Equity investment in a company

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

R—RRaRzRIERSE

The Group's principal related parties are as follows:

Name

%78

- 4,537

38. RAEAARS

REEZ TEZRMB AT ¢

Relationship
with

the Company
HARATZ %
RMB’000
ARBTFT

Hangzhou Aiguang Network Information
Service Co., Ltd. (“Aiguang Network")

Hangzhou Qima

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

MM ERELEESRFBBRAE] An entity controlled by

(T2EPEE)

LN EEDS

an executive director
—BHITESE
ZEHzER

An entity controlled by
an executive director
—BHITES

TRz B
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contad)

(a)

300

The Group had the following transactions with

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

38. RIS @®

(@) FrRxEBRARBAEUT

related parties during the year: X5 .
2024 2023
—EZME ===
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =% AR®BFTrT AR®ETx
Provision of services: IR .
Aiguang Network B A4S (i) 1,752 2,496
An associate —EHERE] (ii) 1,887 -
Total st 3,639 2,496
Borrowings from: REUTZER:
Hangzhou Qima HUINEEDS (iii) 470,000 —
Commission to an associate A — B A B S (iv)
ik 1,718 1,727
Loans from non-controlling  2RE—REMI B A S IE
shareholders of a subsidiary ZERKEERZ B - 848
Repayment of loans from BEKRE—RNE
non-controlling shareholders AT FEIEREIRER
of a subsidiary: =/ - 2,530
Administrative expenses to ~ — BB A B FEEERL
a non-controlling interest HEZITHREY
of a subsidiary: 206 753
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conta)

(a)

BHERKARAE

The Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year: (Contd)

Notes:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The Group provides services to Aiguang Network,
including but not limited to workplace leasing,
computer and server leasing, customer service
advisory, administrative management consulting
and other services. The services provided to
Aiguang Network were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered to the
major customers of the Group. The transaction
constitutes a continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and
complied with the requirements in Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group provides official accounts operation
service to an associate. The services provided
were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The borrowings from Hangzhou Qima are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
18 April 2029.

The commission paid to an associate was made
according to the published prices and conditions
offered by the Group to the major channel service
providers.

The related party transactions were conducted
in accordance with terms mutually agreed with
related parties and in the ordinary course of
business.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

38. RIS @®

(@) FAXAEERHERBEHBASBUT
R5 . (#8)
Mt -

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

i

AEMDEEBEREMGR
B> BEERRINIESM
HE -BEERFBHEEE
ZRIRF A T EER
R EANARTS o 1 E R B
REZRBIHREREE
BEXrEXRRHEZARE
B AR EH © IRIRGEM £
MARAIEE20% » ZRXF B
FERER S B EGEM
EHRAIE20EZRE ©

rEBRD-BEEQRR
MEFRPEER =M
ZBRBHBREOEAERE
ERRPRHZAREBREK
AR ©

KBNS 2 B
B -REREBER-ZT A
FHA+NBEE-

B—EBER RN A
ENREFEEATER
BRHBHESRERZ AR
BARBARMAEL

32 5 Th AR 15 B e e

Vil
HEBEZEMKRKBE®EE

BiBiEPET
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31 DECEMBER 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Conta)

302

(b)

(c)

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

38. FEEtARS @

Other transactions with related parties: (b) EAREMAZHMAS -
The Group's bank loans are secured by the N_E_=F+ZHA=+—
pledge of certain of assets of a related company, B> AEBEZIRITERUA—MH
Hangzhou Qima, amounting to RMB500,000,000 A mMNERzETE
as at 31 December 2023. ZE ANE500,000,0007T &
o
Outstanding balances with related parties: (c) EARAE A 2 REBERR
2024 2023
—E-mE —_ET=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARET
Due from related companies el NG
Aiguang Network (note (i) B4R (FEFEEG)) 237 338
Hangzhou Qima (note (i)) WL EERS (BFEE()) 58 -
An associate (note (i) —MEHE R E FEEEi) 1,000 -
Total 5t 1,295 338
Notes: B 5T
(i) The balances above were unsecured, non- (i) PR AEEE - 2B
interest-bearing, repayable on demand and trade BERERBEREZEE-
in nature.
2024 2023
- 1 - SO
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®BFrT AR®Tx
Due to a related company FEt—EIRA B A B R IE
Aiguang Network (note (i) EHABLE (IEE>) 25 127
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31 DECEMBER 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Conta)

(c)

(d)

BHERKARAE

—EomE+TA=+—A

38. FEEtARS @

(Contd) ) @
Notes: B 5T
(i) The balances above were unsecured, non- (i) TR AERBE - RE
interest-bearing, repayable on demand and trade BREREEREZME-
in nature.
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Due to non-controlling shareholders  FE{ B B /A B JEIE RS FG B0
of subsidiaries (note (i)) 8 (MFsEa) 734 1,200
Notes: B 5T
(i) The balances above were unsecured, non- (i) TR AERBE - RE
interest-bearing, repayable on demand and trade BREREEREZME-
in nature.
2024 2023
—E-mE —Z=—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank FEIRITREMER
and other borrowings
Hangzhou Qima FUINEERS 338,725 -
Compensation of key management personnel of (d ZTEEFEEEASZFHH
the Group:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB®BFr AR®ET
Short term employee benefits CHR R ERH] 12,192 14,704
Equity-settled share-based payments R4S E D X S8 28 1,817
Post-employment benefits 1B & RIKEF 236 260
Total compensation paid to key ENEEEIEASFHN
management personnel 4BZE 12,456 16,781

Further details of directors’ and the chief
executive's emoluments are included in note 8 to
the financial statements.

“EBE_NEFER

EREER&RSITHASMN
EZE—THFBHNTBR

RMI5E8 o
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PATS R MIEE

31 DECEMBER 2024

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

304

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

39. HERBIDZEMIA

BEMITAERNNKRSHRZRE

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period (ERUINNN
are as follows:
2024 —_E_mE
Financial assets HMEBEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through  through other
profit comprehensive
or loss income
BATERA
BATERA EHM2E
TEEERZ 6 v
Mandatorily Financial
designated Equity assets at
as such investments amortised cost Total
RN AE
ARIET RERE ZHBEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESATERERZ
HHEE 282,975 - - 282,975
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI EERABATESA
AHMZARGERZ
RERE - 73,225 - 73,225
Trade receivables MR - - 31,956 31,956
Factoring loan receivables e - - 110,562 110,562
Financial assets included in prepayments, STABRARIE
other receivables and other assets HthENFIER
HthEEZHBEE - - 212,118 212,118
Amounts due from related companies e YNSIERE - - 1,295 1,295
Restricted bank balances SIRHISRIT4A AR - - 3,895 3,895
Balances with central bank FRPRIRTRE - - 3,127,657 3,127,657
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY - - 888,821 888,821
Total st 282,975 73,225 4,376,304 4,732,504
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31 DECEMBER 2024

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (conta)

2024 (Contad)

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

39. EHERBIDZERMIA @

—E_E

Financial liabilities HMEEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RAEZ
MEaE
RMB’000
AERBTT
Trade payables FETERFR 9,819
Financial liabilities included in other payables and 5t A ELfthfE(I R IE K
accruals BRERAZMBAERE 219,504
Settlement obligations HEEMT 3,276,258
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEIRTTREMER 338,725
Lease liabilities HESR 73,105
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of FE(TB B A Bl IEIERR IR R FRIE
subsidiaries 734
Amount due to a related company FES — B R H A Bl RIE 25
Total #Est 3,918,170
BENBARASN — T _mEsR 305
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. FEgEREINZERTIA ®
CATEGORY (conta)
2023 =
Financial assets HEEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through  through other
profit  comprehensive
or loss income
BATERA
BAFERA THMZE
TERRZ Waikz
HBEE NBEE
Mandatorily Financial
designated Equity assets at
as such investments  amortised cost Total
REHR A E
BEETE RERE ZHBEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TFT AR®EFT AREFT ARBTFT
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESATERERZ
HHEE 282,374 - - 282,374
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI EEARATESA
AHMZARGERZ
RERE - 66,298 - 66,298
Trade receivables FEIERET - = 21,549 21,549
Factoring loan receivables EUWREEDR - - 49,422 49,422
Financial assets included in prepayments, STABRARIE
other receivables and other assets EtRENEIER
EMEEZHBEE - - 194,391 194,391
Amounts due from related companies el YNSIERE - - 338 338
Restricted bank balances SIREIRIT4E 5 - = 5,930 5,930
Balances with central bank FHPRRTHE - = 2,371,241 2,371,241
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY - = 924,998 924,998
Total ot 282,374 66,298 3,567869 3,916,541
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A5 ERRMIEE
31 DECEMBER 2024 “ETE+_"_A=+—H
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. FEHEIDZEMTA @
CATEGORY (conta)
2023(Contd) —EB-=4F ()
Financial liabilities HEEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
bi7g: Sz DN
FEZ
MHEars
RMB'000
ARETIT
Trade payables FETERFR 2,571
Financial liabilities included in other payables and 5t A ELfthfE(I R IE K
accruals TBIRBER W HEEaR 193,586
Settlement obligations HEEMT 2,495,726
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEIRTTREMER 470,444
Lease liabilities HEEE 80,729
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of FE(TB B A Bl IEIERR IR R FRIE
subsidiaries 1,200
Amount due to a related company FES — B R H A Bl RIE 127
Total #EEt 3,244,383
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40.

308

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, balances with central bank,
restricted bank balances, trade receivables, factoring loan
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
settlement obligations, amounts due from related
parties, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and an amount due to a related company
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the financial
controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The financial controller reports directly to the
Board. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the financial controller. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the Board once a year for annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:
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TR R RIBITRIA ZIRFIIRITH
B~ FEWORR - ERRIBE R 5 A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

40.

BHERKARAE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)

The fair values of non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group's own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at
31 December 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of financial assets at FVTPL and equity
investments designated at FVTOCI have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which
are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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40.

310

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Contad)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024
and 2023:

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

B4k )

UTFRRIBEMER-ET=F
+ZB=+—HE:MIAFEZE
ARAIBERAABIBEREESKE
DITEEE

Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EATTHE
B R BAYE E  RAFEHBARENHEE
Equity investments designated at ~ Market multiples with an Price-to-Book 0.40x  10% increase/decrease in P/B
FVTOCI adjustment of lack of (“P/B") (2023: would result in increase/
- unlisted equity securities marketability discount 0.43x) decrease in fair value by
of Company A of ("DLOM") RMB?7296,000/RMB7296,000
RMB72,960,000 (2023: (2023: RMB6,341,000/
RMB63,420,000) RMB6,342,000)
EERRATESATEMS KEMERENTE ((BHE MiRE 04018 TERZEIEM,HA0%RERAT
HRaGR RERE- 1T MBMETE)) ARENTE (THRE) C2z=F: BIEm,/ w0 AR #7296,000
AZIEETHRAES AR &8 0.43f8) 7/ AR #7296,0007 (ZF
72,960,000 TL(ZTZ=F: A Z=F AE¥6,341,0007,/
F#63,420,0007T) AE6,342,0007T)
DLOM 34.45%  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2023: would result in decrease/
3781%) increase in fair value by
RMB?7,668,000/RMB7668,000
(2023: RMB7711,000/
RMB7710,000)
mHS 34.45% &M ﬁ,mi_lé?ﬂ%iﬂﬂ//ﬂa"‘
mEtimE  (CRI=F! 20% B EHATEHD,/EM

3781%) AR 17668,0007T,/ AR
7668,0007T (ZE-=F:
ARE7711,00070,/ AR
7710,0007T)
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RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE

e

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEBARENHEE
Volatility 55.31%  20% increase/decrease
("voL) (2023: inVOL would result in
64.67% decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB12,860,000/
RMB13,961,000 (2023:
RMB7271,000/RMB7734,000)
K1 (DE1E)) 85.31% RMBIBM,HL20%EER AT
(oSS R,/ N R 12,860,000
64.67%) 7t/ AR 13,961,000 (ZF

BERRRARAT —TNEFR

—ZE: AR¥7271,0007T,/
AR #7734,0007T)
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40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE

312

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EARATHRE
BRI BWARE HE  ATERGARENHRKE
Equity investments designated at ~ Market multiples with an Enterprise 158x  10% increase/decrease in
FVTOCI adjustment of DLOM value to sales (2023: EV/S would result in increase/
- unlisted equity securities of multiples 2.27x) decrease in fair value by
Company B of RMB265,000 ("EV/S") RMB20,000/RMB20,000 (2023:
(2023: RMB2,878,000) RMB432,000/RMB411,000)
EEABRLATESATHMS KREMSTREITERERN hXEERHY 1588 EEERBERELEEN/
HR@ERZRERE—AT MHEH BBt (M C2I=fF: H0% R ERATEEN/
Bz LtmkAEFARE *BEEMHE 2.271%) A AR 20,0007,/ AR
265,000 (CE2Z=F ! AR B 20,0007t (Z2Z=%F: \R¥
#2,878,0007T) 432,0007c,/ A #411,0007T)
DLOM 25.76%  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2023: would result in decrease/
28.57%) increase in fair value by
RMB19,000/RMB19,000 (2023:
RMB381,000/RMB400,000)
mH5 25.76% &M m—,ms_lﬁ?ﬁu%éinu/ HD20%
TUBMETE (CB-=%F: RERATERLD EMAR
28.57%) #19,0007t/ AR #19,0007¢
(CZ2Z=F AR 381,000
7t/ AR #£400,0007T)
VOL 72.56%  20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2023: would result in decrease/
89.60%) increase in fair value by
RMB2,000/RMB1,000 (2023:
RMB676,000/RMB682,000)
K18 72.56% ,F;zmmi‘nu/ H20% K EHATFE
(CB=F: L,/ AR 2,007,/
89.60%) AE% 0007t (ZEZ=F:
AR676,00070,/ AR
682,0007T)
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RAFSER AR ML

31 DECEMBER 2024

40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @)
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEBARENHEE

Financial assets at FVTPL Market multiples with an EV/S 2.78xto  10% increase/decrease in EV/S

— unlisted preferred shares of adjustment of DLOM 6.94x would result in increase/

Group Companies C (2023: decrease in fair value by

of RMB273,628,000 (2023: 2.78x to RMB427,000 to RMB8,731,000/

RMB269,708,000) 6.22x) RMB446,000 to RMB9,414,000
(2023: RMB415,000 to
RMB8,521,000/ RMB394,000 to
RMB7948,000)

BATES ATBRECHMBEE LEMSABHIEREEN CEEEHE 278BE  LEEEEHEBLEIEN/ A
E-EBARCZELTER TIHEH HERILE 6.941% D0%HRERATEEM/ R
I AR #273,628,0007T CEZ=fF: D ARH427000cE AR
(CE-=F: \RIE 27815 F 8,731,0007c,/ A\ R #6446,0007C
269,708,0007T) 6.22%) Z NR9,414,0007t (ZEZ=

£ ARB415000tEARE
8,5621,0007t,/ A K #394,0007T
Z NR#7948,0007T)
DLOM 16.35% to  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
34.94% would result in decrease/
(2023: increase in fair value by
15.09% to RMB29,000 to RMB10,875,000/
28.44%) RMB30,000 to RMB9,974,000
(2023: RMB225,000 to
RMB?7,065,000/RMB232,000 to
RMB7514,000)
BHi5 16.35%%F  EWHERBMITEENM, HL20%
MBI ITE 34.94% RERAFERLD /BMAR
CEZ=f: 129,000 AR 110,875,000
15.09% % 7t/ NR¥30,000tEARE
28.44%) 9,974,000t (CEZ=F: AR

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

#925,0007E A R 17,065,000
7T/ AR 232,000t E ARE
7514,0007T)
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BA TS IR AR M 5E
31 DECEMBER 2024 “EINF+"A=1+—H
40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40. EMTRZATERATFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @)
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEARENHEE
VOL 42.89% to  20% increase/decrease in VOL
71.38% would result in decrease/
(2023: increase in fair value by
45.41% to RMB71,000 to RMB10,056,000/
66.17%) RMB76,000 to RMB10,591,000
(2023: RMB101,000 to
RMB10,413,000/RMB303,000 to
RMB9,845,000)
K18 4289%%F  RMBIEM/HL20%EERAT

71.38% &R/ 1EmARE71,0007T
(CBZ=F: Z AR 10,056,0007T,/ AR
4541 %E 76,0000 E A #10,591,0007T
66.17%) (ZEZ=%F AR101,000
TEARM10,413,0007T,/ AR
#303,00070 £ A K 19,845,000
70)
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BT ERERMIEE
31 DECEMBER 2024 —EIMF+RA=1+—H
40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIRVALUE 40. ERTRAZATERXFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
BRI BWARE HE  ATERGARENHRKE
Financial assets at FVTPL Market multiples with an EV/EBITDA 18.31x  10% increase/decrease in
- listed preferred shares of adjustment of DLOM (2023: EV/EBITDA would result in
Company E of RMB6,913,000 5.85x) increase/decrease in fair value
(2023: RMB7417000) by RMB424,000/RMB521,000
(2023: RMB305,000/
RMB297000)
RATESAEERRZIFE LENSREMTERERN CXEEER 183118 EEEERIS -RE-FER
E—ABEZ tHESRK mHEH MERENT (C2I=%F: BRI R A LB, H10%
AR 6,913,000 EREHEAR 5.85(%) RERNTEEN,/BOAR
=% ] #424,0007t,/ A\ K #521,0007T
AR74170007T) (Z2Z=%: AK305,000
7t/ AR #2970007T)
DLOM 28.84%  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2023: would result in decrease/
23.01%) increase in fair value by
RMB232,000/RMB210,000
(2023: RMB166,000/
RMB168,000)
BHi5 28.84%  EMIEBMEITEENM,RL20%

TiEETE (CE2z=%F: BERATERD /BMAR
23.01%) #232,0007t,/ AR #210,0007¢
(ZEZ=%: AE¥166,000
75/ AR #168,0007T)
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BA TS IR AR M 5E
31 DECEMBER 2024 2o+ “A=+—H
40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIRVALUE 40. EMTRZATERATFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @)
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEARENHEE
VOL 68.79%  20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2023: would result in decrease/
60.03%) increase in fair value by
RMB607,000/RMB608,000
(2023: RMB28,000/RMB28,000)
HiE 68.79%  IRIEEM,/RD20% K EHATE

CE-=&: AL,/ AR #6070007T,/
60.03%) AR 608,000t (ZEZ=%F:
AR 28,0007,/ A& 28,000
)
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40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @)
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEBARENHEE

Financial assets at FVTPL Market multiples with an EV/S 5.33x  10% increase/decrease in EV/S
- unlisted equity securities adjustment of DLOM (2023: would result in increase/
of RMB2,434,000 (2023: 6.02x) decrease in fair value by
RMB5,249,000) RMB301,000/RMB301,000

(2023: RMB591,000/
RMB591,000)

BATES AEBRRZMBE LEDSRBLMERERN CXEEE 533fF EEERHEHLEEN A
E-FLhRAEFARE fizberizt HEREE (CE=E: 0% EHAFEEM,/ HD
2,434,0007 (ZBZ=F . 6.0213) AR301,00070,/ AR
AR #5,249,0007T) 301,007 (CBZ=5F | AR

591,0007t,/ A& #591,0007T)
DLOM 23.70%  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2023: would result in decrease/
17.24%) increase in fair value by
RMB638,000/RMB638,000
(2023: RMB219,000/
RMB219,000)
EW5 2370%  EWEEMEITEEM, RL20%
B ITE (CE=E: RERNFERD/EMAR
1724%) #638,0007T,/ A F #638,0007T

FERFERAT —T_NFEFR

(ZBZ=F: AE219,000
75,/ AR #219,0007T)
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BA TS IR AR M 5E
31 DECEMBER 2024 2o+ “A=+—H
40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIRVALUE 40. EMTRZATERATFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k @)
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Significant
unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation technique inputs Rate fair value to the input
EXFAHEZE
B R BAHE EE  AFEHEARENHEE
VOL 62.07%  20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2023: would result in decrease/
46.59%) increase in fair value by
RMB120,000/RMB121,000
(2023: RMB114,000/
RMB114,000)
BIE 62.07% RIEEM,/HD20%EERAT

CE2z=%: &R /AR #120,0007T
46.59%) / NR¥121,0007t (CBZ=
F 1 AR114,0007T,/ AR

114,0007T)
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40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

40. TRMTEREZATFERATFE

B4k )

DFERR

TERRPAXEEESHRIAZATE

SEER

A FEFEBZEE

BWZE2E-_mE+=-B=+—H

UATEAER

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RiEBHRz SBEATHE FAFTHR
HRE BAE BAE
(4R5A1) (#R72) (4R 73) st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR ARETR AR®TR ARETR®
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAEBRGRERZ
B F5E - - 282,975 282,975
Equity investments designated at EEARATESA
FVTOCI FHM2EWGERZ
R E - - 73,225 73,225
Total st - - 356,200 356,200
As at 31 December 2023 WZE2-_=F+=-H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
URAFERNEZ
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RiERMZz EAUTHRR EATUEHR
wRE A SR A BIR \
(#7A) (#R72) (#R73) {5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFATEEREZ
HBEE - - 282,374 282,374
Equity investments designated at BERAZATEA
FVTOCI FHM2EWGRRZ
RiERE - - 66,298 66,298
Total fst - - 348,672 348,672
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BA TR R MIEE
31 DECEMBER 2024 “EONE+"B=+—H
40. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40. ERTEREZAFERAFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B4k )
INSTRUMENTS (Conta)
Fair value hierarchy (Conta) REEBR B
Assets measured at fair value: (Contd) BNFEFFEZEE . (B)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level FERRPAFEES BB T ¢

3 during the year are as follows:

Equity

Financial investments

assets at  designated at
FVTPL FVTOCI Total

BEA

BATE

BATE FTATE

PN HfttZ2@E

Bz Wik 2z
MBERE IRiERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT  ARBTRT  AR®BTR

At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—F—H 285,642 70,993 356,635
Total losses recognised inthe  RIBm KRR ZE51848%8

statement of profit or loss (2,770) - (2,770)
Total losses recognised in other PEMEEWRHERERZ

comprehensive income E51BAREE - (4,870) (4,870)
Purchases BB 63,420 - 63,420
Disposals & (64,340) - (64,340)
Exchange alignment PR aRE 422 175 597
At 31 December 2023 and R_BE_=F+_H4

1 January 2024 e et = - B V0 ==

—HB—H 282,374 66,298 348,672

Total gains recognised in the RiBm RIS 2 W48 EE

statement of profit or loss 1,670 - 1,670
Total gains recognised in other REMZEEN R Z

comprehensive income W42 %A - 6,828 6,828
Purchases BE 314,775 - 314,775
Disposals HE (315,857) - (315,857)
Exchange alignment P& 2 S 28 113 929 212
At 31 December 2024 RZE_NE

+-B=+—H 282,975 73,225 356,200
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40.

41.

BHERKRARAR

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Contd)

Fair value hierarchy (Contad)

Liabilities measured at fair value:
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities (2023: nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, cash
and cash equivalents, balances with central bank and
restricted bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures.

“EBE_NEFER

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

40.

41.

EMTAEZAFERATE
B4k @

DFERR @
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EZMBEaRE.

FR MM BEERYHTEEMS
BB B AR B2 B AT ESE
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TZFE I
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AEEZTETRMTAGESER
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FRHRRBITRIBRZREIRITE
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41.

322

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Conta)

Credit risk (Conta)

Maximum exposure and yearend staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and yearend staging classification

as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

41. MHEEMEEEEREE @

EERR @

Y& N 5

TRIITREBEFAEBEERRZE
EEERESEERR (ZZ2RERE
FERERSL  FRIFEthERES
TR ERI AL HTEUS) L
ER+ZBAB=+—HZEXRBED

B

22 ERAMBEEZIREMRE

BWZE2-_mE+=-B=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 R T4
EEH#E GFEBEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FREER HoPEEY HIME 1tk st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARt ARBTR ARETR
Trade receivables* TEURER - - - 36,617 36,617
Factoring loan receivables EWRREED
- Normal** S 110,562 - - - 110,562
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATBJ7UE
other receivables and other assets HEtENTIER
IMEEZHBEE
- Normal** S 215,593 - - - 215,593
Amounts due from related companies e A B FE
— Normal** I 1,295 - - - 1,295
Restricted bank balances ZIRFIRIT4ER
- Not yet past due —HREH 3,895 - - - 3,895
Balances with central bank FRARRTHIE
- Not yet past due —HREH 3,127,657 - - - 3127657
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMFEZEY
- Not yet past due —HREH 888,821 - - S 888,821
Total st 4,347823 - - 36,617 4,384,440
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41.

BHERKARAE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Contd)

Credit risk (Conta)

As at 31 December 2023

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

41. MHEEMEEEEREE @

EERR @

RIEZ=F+"HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12[BA %M
EEBR GERRHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B1PEE SBIBEER HIMEEL Ei97s st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERETT AR®Tn ARETn ARETR ARETx
Trade receivables* EUER - - - 30,489 30,489
Factoring loan receivables EYREER
- Normal** e 49,422 - - - 49,422
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATEfTH1IE
other receivables and other assets HEtENRIER
AMBEZHBEE
- Normal** —EFE** 206,854 - - = 206,854
Amounts due from related companies TEMREARE A B R
- Normal** e 338 - - - 338
Restricted bank balances ZIRFIRITAER
- Not yet past due —HREH 5,930 - - - 5,930
Balances with central bank FERPIRITHE
- Not yet past due CENE: 2,371,241 = = - 2371241
Cash and cash equivalents RERREZEY
- Not yet past due —HREH 924,998 - - S 924,998
Total st 3,558,783 - - 30489 3,589,272
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * FLA £ E e A SR E A R FE U AR

simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the

financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
factoring loan receivables and amounts due from related
companies is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality

MME REBEEREZE/]IE
BRI 21 ER

*x STATERIE ~ Mt EWGRIBE R H
MWEEZMBEE  BPREEMN
REKEBARDREZEEER
Bl i B EEHERZEN
BEEBVEEIREERRAR
Z12 ARAARTER - BAIZSE
MBEEZEEERAR R -

of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”

“EBE_NEFER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Conta)

Credit risk (Conta)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group's trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables and other financial assets)
and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank loans, lease liabilities and other interest-bearing
loans.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

41.

MHERREEERRER @

EERE @
ERAEEFASEBWIEREEZ
EERBZE— T TEEHBENTH
S ENEYAL

HARAERERERIREERYT
ZE=ZARG  WEREMERS
FERBRER XZHF HEKRT
ENMEBREDEERR -BHINAE
ERWRRZEREBRE D EB K
7% WAEEREEAEARERE
ERk-

MEE = E
AEECHBERERSHESHRETA
EEHESHERAR -ZT At kE
MIERMBEE WRBERRKRE
Y HEE) 2 ZIHH URTERIER
EEZHEERE-

rAEBZEREEBERRETE
PoHEaEREMFEER
BB EEEMREA T
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Contd)

Liquidity risk (Conta)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

41. MHEEMEEEEREE @
TRBEERAR @

RE|BEIR > AEBRSORMIRN
M2 BaRRRBEROT

Group 2024
TEM ZEIME
3to
On  Lessthan less than 1t05 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
KEDN
BHEX  DK3fER 1288 1555 SEL E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARBTn AEBTn AE®Tn ARETn
Lease liabilities HEaE - 10,475 15,695 58,781 - 84,951
Interest-bearing bank and HERITREMBER
other borrowings - - - 400,000 - 400,000
Trade payables FEMERET 9,819 - - - S 9,819
Financial liabilities included SEARMENRIER
in other payables BREFZVEAER
and accruals 219,504 - - - - 219,504
Settlement obligations HEEM 3,276,258 - - - - 3,276,258
Amounts due to non-controlling ~ FERIHIBAT
shareholders of subsidiaries JEERIR R 734 - - - - 734
Amount due to a related FER—REEARA
company 25 - - - - 25
Total st 3,506,340 10,475 15,695 458,781 - 3,991,291
BENBARASN — T _mEsR 325
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TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. HABEEGESIEEEREEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont4
Liquidity risk (Conta) REBEEREME @
Group 2023
KEE S
310
On Less than less than Ttob Qver
demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
RESNN
BEXR  DR3EAR 12188 1EbE BENE 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR ARETR AR®TR AREFT ARETR
Lease liabilities HEEE - 10,249 13,747 75,983 - 99,979
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BIRITREMBER
borrowings 444 4,583 13,748 479,139 - 497914
Trade payables FEFTIRRR 2,571 = = S S 2,571
Financial liabilities included SEARMBELRIER
in other payables and BREBZUKER
accruals 193,586 - - - - 193,586
Settlement obligations HEEM 2,495,726 - - - - 2495726
Amounts due to non-controlling ~ FE(TI{B/AT
shareholders of subsidiaries R BRUE 1,200 = = = = 1,200
Amount due to a related FEf—EEMARTE
company 127 - - - - 127
Total st 2,693,654 14,832 27495 555,122 - 3,291,103
Capital management BARER

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

AEBEABETEERRMHE
FEBRZFEEERET WERRE
MEBEARLER UXFHEFBREBER
FHREREE

AEBRBLERE 2815 & EEE
BEZARBE SEEARZRBEILM
DGAEE - AR NAREARZE &
SEEURBARRIKTZRE [
RIRBEARF BTG - AEE W
B|EEREAIIBIENZERER &
EE_NE+ZA=+—HKRZ
T _=F+_A=+—HLFE
EILBEABIEZ B BERIARRE
HAEFAIES) o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Contd)

Capital management (Conta)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio, which is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, other payables
and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of the Group's equity
excluding non-controlling interests. The Group's policy is
to maintain a low debt-to-adjusted capital ratio and this
policy is unchanged. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios as

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

41.

MHERREEERRER @

BEXEE®

AEERBEGHEHABEARLRY
BERESIEE R ZLLRREH B R
DS HBERSH - BF FARES
BIRITRAEAMER  HMELIRIER
RIREAMRERIRESEY KR
BEAOEAERERD (FEEIFE
IRt ZFRAB D - AEBZER
AR REGHEHEEERLLER &
BERFRRH A E - NREPARZEHH

BHERKRARAR

at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: RABEEARLLZERGT -
2024 2023
ZTTOE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTr AR®ETT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B E1T R EH fh &= 338,725 470,444
Other payables and accruals HthEMRERERER 395,675 380,664
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A RERIREEFEY (888,821) (924,998)

(Excess cash and cash equivalents)/net debt (BZEIREKMIRE

ZEY) EFRFER (154,421) (73,890)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATEE AELELR 1,077,159 1,021,330
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BRI AEEARLE N/AREH  NATER
SECMEER 327
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 13 February 2025, the Board passed a resolution
to change the vesting period of 1,287637303 Awarded
Shares of Tenth Awards to 12 months in accordance
with the terms of the Share Award Scheme effective
from the date of grant. If any of the grantees of Tenth
Awards cease to be an employee of the Group before
the relevant vesting date, regardless of whether they
have achieved the performance targets as set out in
their respective awards letters, the corresponding
Awarded Shares granted to such Grantee shall lapse
or be forfeited. The event is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain items and balances in the financial statements
have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

TECNEFE+_BA=1+—H

42.

REHAREE

N ZE_HAFA+=-H EEEA
B—IERERZR MUIRBR(D B 5T 8]
2 &R E+ k12BN 2 1,287637,303
RRAZENEG (D~ SHB R E NA 1218 B
BEHBRREER W +RIER
FRAARBEANREGHEBBHITE
AAERREE IFHERSTEER
ZERBREMEZRBEEE BT
ZAERANZAEERE RO SEEK
HWRR -FEZEEREHAER
ZHBRHRRENFAEARTLE-

EEs&r
MERRFZETEERERESE
MAEUFEREEZ 2550
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. BRBZHBRRR

OF THE COMPANY

“ETMFE+"A=+—H

Information about the statement of financial position of RBEMRELABZHBERRKE
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as B -
follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREGEE
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 113 329
Investments in subsidiaries KB A ZRE 1,099,715 925,903
Financial assets at FVTOC] BN ERTATE
Hh2EWEHERZ
HHEEE 265 2,878
Total non-current assets FERFEELEE 1,100,093 929,110
CURRENT ASSETS MBIEE
Prepayments, other receivables and FE{TRIE ~ E U IE K
other assets HW&EE 624 464
Indemnification asset BEBE S 179,797
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENCIE ] 7198 1,152
Cash and cash equivalents RERIRETEEY 102,085 36,614
Total current assets MEEEEE 109,907 218,027
CURRENT LIABILITIES VIEZ=NE
Other payables and accruals HihEIHIBRTEIRE B 8,996 16,736
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 148 254
Withholding tax payable FEASTRIOR - 179,797
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NS 2,999 2,899
Total current liabilities mMBIE AR 12,143 199,686
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 97,764 18,341
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES WEERMEEE 1,197,857 947451
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 143
Net assets BEEFE 1,197,857 947308
EQUITY %
Share capital f& s 286,938 286,938
Treasury shares EERD (10,054) =
Reserves (note) & (5D 920,973 660,370
Total equity A8 EE 1,197,857 947308
ARNEARAT —S-NEER 329
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= N =
44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. FTREZEAFBRRRR @
OF THE COMPANY (Conta)
Note: PEE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRB ZEEREWT -
Share held Share Financial
Share for Share Award assets at
Share  Contributed option Award Scheme FvTOCI Exchange  Accumulated Total
premium surplus reserve Scheme reserve reserve reserve losses equity
RATE
SAE
EiRfR 2@
Sl i iEm 651 ¥4
RiPEE BARE RRERE SEZRH HEfEE MEEEMRE ER BitE i3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 —B—Rz#&H 6,420,355 61,582 48,808 (24,679) 4,434 (25,771) 59,934 (5,708,704) 835,959
Total comprehensive loss for the year B S S S = = (3,450) 22,940 (1,980577) (1,961,087
Issue of Consideration Shares BIRERR 1,774,067 - - - - - - = 1,774,067
Issue of Fee Shares ETERRG 812 - - - - - - - 812
Equity-settled share-based payments RBEERHEHTE - - 3470 - 7149 = = = 10,619
Release upon lapse of share options R R AR - - (5,509) - - - - 5,509 -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares BERANEEEEGE
transferred to awardees REIRI - - - 9,463 9.463) S S S S
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=#+°F=+-H
1 January 2024 RZE-ME-B-H 8,195,234 61,582 46,769 (15,216) 2120 (29,221) 82874 (7683,772) 660,370
Total comprehensive income FRE2EAURER
for the year - - - = = (2,660 2402 87271 87013
Equity-settled share-based payments REEERAZNE - - 69 - 173521 - - - 173,590
Release upon lapse of share options RERERMFER - - 45,070) - - - - 45,070 -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares RERA\BEXEGE
transferred to awardees BRI 25,200 = = 4332 (29,532) - - - -
At31 Decermber 2024 RoB-mEt-AZt-R BI04 6158 1768 (084 46109 (1881 826 (55143) 920973

45.

330

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2025.

45. HUEMTFHRE

EEgRN _E_LTF=A_+Hi#tt
RS RET BB IR R o
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

REMBHRE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EINE —E-zf - -fF “FT-F “5°F%E
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Restated)
(note a) (note b) (note b)
AREFTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR®
(E7)
(GEZY GE) ()
RESULT E
Revenue Wi 1,442,291 1448376 1,496,977 1,569,991 1,820,723
Cost of sales HEME (464,086)  (446,231) (535,055) (617728) (738,639)
Gross profit £ 978205 1,002,145 961,922 952,263 1,082,084
Investment and other income BREREMBA 42,190 52,546 49,517 63,786 76,937
Other gains and losses, net Hitnlis &R E518 35 (32,092) 21,694 42,843 (2,187457) (16,206)
Selling expenses HERY (556,423) (657038) (830,816) (959,106) (781,882)
Administrative expenses THAX (137.864)  (154,949) (293,043) (335,312) (241,438)
Reversal of impairment losses/ MR EERBERBRRE
(impairment losses) on (RERR) $E
financial assets, net 5,843 (4,222) (6,743) 533 17775
Equity-settled share-based payments REEERN = MFIE (173,590) (10,619) (88,068) (53,130) (62,197)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE (79,749) (81,126) (81,648) (124,964) (193,143)
Research and development costs eI PN (179,201) (189,754) (312,268) (609,294) (445,165)
Loss from operations REEE (132,681) (21,323)  (558,304)  (3,252,681)  (563,235)
Finance costs MR (23,472) (27612) (25,631) (22,642) (27.886)
Share of losses of associates, net LS AR 28 B - = (1,135) (217) (1,161)
Fair value change in financial assets at fair AT AT ATEERE
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL) (MERATESATERR) 2
FREEZ ATEZE 488 (3,690) (73,337) 23,758 =
LOSS BEFORE TAX [E3ET) o] (155,665) (52,625)  (658,407) (3,251,782)  (592,282)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FEiRiER/ B (10,184) 2,150 13,009 (41,238) 46,629
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FREE (165,849) (50,475) (645,398) (3,293,020} (545,653)
EEREARAS S NEFR 331
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S
Year ended 31 December
BE+-_BR=+—HLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZTomE ZEC=F ZEIE ZEI-F ZERI%HE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
(note a) (note b) (note b)
ARETR ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARETR
(=5
(Ffiz%a) (HizEb) (i zEb)
Attributable to: MTFALEEES
Owners of the Company EUNSIEZZPN (176,621) 7429 (302,727)  (2,509,498)  (294,671)
Non-controlling interests Elz23i 10,772 (57904)  (342,671)  (783522)  (250,982)
(165,849) (50,475) (645,398)  (3,293,020) (545,653
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE BERIEERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 5,911,211 5,395,014 6,562,302 6,872,975 12,212,480
TOTAL LIABILITIES F=LE (4,835,720)  (4,386,124)  (5517219)  (5,536,152)  (7582,381)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS El32 g (1,668) (12,440) (368,183) (9,643) 771,304
Notes: BT
(a) Due to application of amendments of HKAS 12 “Deferred (a) HRERESEG T ERSE125R BT A T
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single B-RBEEZEERBBHABZELER
Transaction’ the comparative financial information for the year H  AEREE_Z_"_F+°"/=+—
ended 31 December 2022 of the Group has been restated. BLEFEZLERMBERBEET]
(b) The financial information for the year ended 31 December 2021 (b) HRESIARKEINMBENERS

and 2020 of the Group has not been restated as the Directors
consider that the unrestated financial information is more
appropriate to reflect yearon-year comparison of the change in
the Group's business operation.
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